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FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the year ended 31st December,

2021 2020 changes
HK$’000 HK$'000 %
Turnover 11,344,500 8,643,710 32.8%
Gross profit 2,188,937 1,947,017 12.4%
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 1,188,997 1,056,617 12.5%
Non-HKFRS profit attributable to owners of the Company 963,347 815,728 18.1%
Non-HKFRS EBITDA 2,079,049 1,897,378 9.6%
Basic eamnings per share (HK cents) 44.20 39.95 10.6%
Non-HKFRS basic earnings per share (HK cents) 35.81 30.84 16.1%
Proposed final dividend (HK cents) 8.00 7.00 14.3%
Proposed special dividend (HK cents) 5.00 - 100%
Unit of natural gas sold (‘000 m?) 2,818,011 2,239,002 25.9%
New piped gas connections made (residential
households under “coal-to-gas” projects) 91,074 224,927 (59.5)%
New piped gas connections made (residential
households under non “coal-to-gas” projects) 290,802 236,880 22.8%
Sales volume of integrated energy (million kWh) 21.74 11.41 90.5%
(HK$°000)
81.9%
9,290,532
2020
(HK$'000)
72.5%

6,190,069 7.4%
635,951

4.1%

11,344,500 pry

8,543,710 17400

1,488,639

11.7%

1,327,942
® ® Sales of gas ® ¢ Sales of CNG/LNG in vehicle filling stations
® © Revenue from gas pipeline construction ® ® Value-added services
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64%

67.5%
3,405,973

71.4%

0,
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412,348

2.0%
154,854

1.5%

41%
337,377

4.5%
342,365 6.5%

329,429

8,143,771 7,627,088 5,048,100

19.4%
1,681,238

24.5%
1,235,142

29.5%
2,251,268

Turnover (HK$'000) Gross Profit (HK$'000) Profit attributable to owners
11,344,500 221873 2,188,973 of the Company (HKS’000)
1,909, 920947017 1,188,997
8,543,710 1,056,617
8,143,771
7,627,088
1,289,102
5,048,100 557,950 620,684
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-
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2,107,648 (HK cents)
4 1,897, 338079’049 44.14
1,804,238 39.88
1,257,947
2208 2430
| l 16.73
c '
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CHAIRMAN'’S
STATEMENT

To our valued shareholders,

2021 marked the beginning of the 14th Five-Year Plan and also
the turning point for the Group to fully implement smart energy
transformation. Under the prolonged and repetitive COVID-19
outbreak in the PRC, frequent reoccurence of extreme weather
disasters and increasing volatility in commodity prices, the
Group firmly implemented the “one body, three wings” strategy
to seize opportunities among challenges and developed with
innovation. Aiming at the dual carbon goals, the Group orderly
developed its natural gas business and actively sought to
establish a presence in the smart energy industry, so as to
continuously strive to become the most valuable integrated
energy service provider. Benefitting from the transformation and
upgrade of the national energy structure, the sales of gas of the

Group increased significantly. Asset scale, operating income
and operating profit achieved steady growth during the year.

In the year of 2021, under the extremely strict national gas
safety circumstances, the Group acted swiftly and firmly
and adhered to the safety rules to demonstrate the Group’s
responsibility. Amidst the erratic fluctuation in international oil
prices, the Group flexibly made plans for upstream resources
and actively innovated downstream sales strategies. Not only
did the Group guarantee gas supply for residents, it also further
improved its price adjustments mechanism and ensured a
steady increase of profit from its gas business.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

As industry growth gradually stabilized, the Group focused on
the expansion and development of its city gas business. In
2021, regions as well as provinces included in the concession
sector where we have operations in further expanded. In terms
of energy trading, the Company focused on introducing high-
quality gas sources, strengthening the demand and supply
structure internally, and achieving cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement to contribute considerably to maintaining the
incremental supply to city gas subsidiaries and the Group’s
profit growth.

In 2021, building on our advanced exploration and steady
progress in the smart energy industry, we established a
smart energy group with greater leverage on capital, talent,
resources and management. Our smart energy business had
a good start. The existing projects operated stably, and we
vigorously explored new markets to accumulate drivers for the
transformation and development of the Group. When dealing
with the domestic and international challenges of normalization
of market fluctuation, the Group has a proper understanding
of the current situation, fully grasps the opportunities and
manages the risks in the process of energy transformation,
and strives to discover opportunities from the challenges.
In 2021, a series of new energy policies and rural energy
transformation policies were launched successively in various
regions, creating opportunities for the smart energy group to
develop diversified businesses such as distributed energy,

Y @0

photovoltaic rooftop and charging stations. In line with the
countywide rooftop distributed photovoltaic development pilot
scheme launched by the National Energy Administration, the
Company’s subsidiaries signed framework agreements on the
promotion of countywide distributed photovoltaic with several
local governments to expand its smart energy business by
leveraging on its own strengths in the gas project concession
sector. In terms of smart energy, the Group has promising
potential and will definitely make great achievements.

2021 is the final year of the Group’s three-year plan for
improving management consolidation. The Company achieved
remarkable improvement in its internal management. We paid
much effort to enhance our internal management through a
systemic, standardized, professionalized, informationalized and
refined management system. As a result, our management
is able to cater to the needs of corporate development, and
is able to respond to external changes of the development
environment with ease. In light of favorable policies and the
complex and ever-changing industry dynamics, the Group has
come to the cross road where reform must be made. At the
end of the year, the Group officially announced a change of its
company name, indicating its determination and confidence in
self-reform and transformation. Development in both the gas
and smart energy sectors was the consensus of all employees
of the Group.

ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

PROSPECTS

With the large-scale rollout of the COVID-19 vaccination
program, it is expected that the global economy will undergo a
choppy recovery in 2022. As the COVID-19 pandemic gradually
comes under control, with the accelerating implementation
of the “dual circulation” new development approach, the
economy of the PRC is expected to continue its steady and
progressive development trend to realize high-quality economic
development. The national energy structure will constantly
undergo transformation and upgrade. World energy will move
towards a more diversified, clean and low-carbon approach.
The PRC “30-60” dual carbon goals proves that “green and
low-carbon” is the future development direction of the energy
industry. With the transition to a low-carbon economy era and
the clean energy transformation promoted by the industry in
past few years, the northern region showed an initial effective
prevention and control of air pollution, and the national demand
for natural gas will grow steadily according to the national
strategic planning.

In the future, “green development” and “clean, low-carbon, safe
and effective” will be the national energy strategy in the long
run, of which the environmental protection policy and “dual
carbon goals” have become one of the key driving forces for
natural gas development and provided enormous room for
its development. According to the Medium- and Long-term
Oil and Gas Pipelines Network Plan issued by the National
Development and Reform Commission and the National Energy
Administration, the domestic natural gas pipeline network will
reach 163,000 km by 2025. In particular, the Guiding Opinions
on 2021 Energy Tasks pointed out that the energy storage
and transportation capacity will be further expanded to form
a national network, the construction of the main network and
the interconnection between networks will be promoted, the
establishment of gas storage facility groups in the scale of
“hundreds of billions” cubic metres in the northeast, northern,
southwest, northwest regions etc. will be actively boosted,
and the significant construction projects such as construction
pipelines for gas production, supply and sales system,
underground gas storage facility and LNG receiving terminal will
be standardized. The orderly implementation of these policies
is beneficial to the steady development of the Group.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

2022 symbolizes the twentieth year of the Group’s entry into
the gas industry. During this second decade, the natural gas
industry will undergo rapid development. The Group will seize
opportunities to keep up with the mainstream of the industry
and continue to develop. To achieve significant performance
development, the Group will consider large-scale mergers
and acquisitions, expand distributed energy, and realize the
transformation from a regional gas group to a national energy
group. With the dedicated efforts of 5,000 employees of the
Group, we advance towards the vision of becoming the most
valuable integrated energy service provider by promoting the
diversified “one body, three wings” synergetic development
model. In the critical year of the 14th Five-Year Plan and the
implementation year of the dual carbon goals, the Group will
seize policy opportunities such as “comprehensively promote
rural revitalization”, “strengthen the construction of energy
production, supply, storage and sales system”, and “accelerate
the promotion of energy technology innovation” to strive for
high-quality development of the Group in the next decade. The
Group will continue to develop the city pipeline gas business,
steadily expand and increase its market share in the existing
market, and continue to promote one-stop city gas services
actively to improve quality of life of residents. The Group will also
actively expand its business to other regions with potential to
look for new opportunities and new markets, and further develop
value-added services and new retail segments. The Group will
accelerate growth to achieve comprehensive development and
increase revenue and efficiency through business expansion.
With the gradual transformation to “technology-driven success”,
the Group utilizes its existing huge customer base, coordinates
its comprehensive information system of “1+3+N”, to achieve
the upgrade of digitization and intelligence of gas corporate
operation and management as well as the transformation of
information and resources into economies.

ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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As for the development of clean energy, the Group will start
developing of other forms of clean energy with the support
of resources accumulated in more than twenty years in the
energy industry, and to establish its presence in the smart
energy sector while at the same time ensure steady growth of
its gas business, so as to achieve the gas and smart energy
strategy. In 2022, the Group will create a core platform for
smart energy, focus on the development of businesses such
as distributed energy, diversified energy supply, construction
and operation of microgrid, supply chain of smart and clean
energy, zero-carbon and smart industrial park, clean and smart
transportation, clean energy microgrid and energy storage
and energy saving services, advisory design and construction
business. The Company will gradually establish a user-oriented,
diversified and low-carbon new energy system that is smart
and safe, clean and efficient to meet the needs of users, and
provide the users with more efficient and stable, safe and
convenient, clean and low-cost integrated energy services. In
the future, the Group will increase investment in new energy
projects, and strive to build a well-known domestic brand in
the field of integrated energy operation services.

In terms of energy trading business, the Group will continue
to strengthen its work on maintaining gas sources supply and
strengthening its ability on forecasting gas volume. The Group
will follow the trend of the national energy system reform
and maintain city gas supply as its core business. With the
support of its existing resources, the Group will continuously
carry out vertical expansion, actively plan its penetration in the
retail terminals for domestic natural gas trading, especially to
explore the distribution agency model in pipeline gas trading.
With the comprehensive risk control measures implemented,
the Group will explore the LNG trading when appropriate, so as
to create a resource platform with integrated competitiveness.
Under the Group’s “one body, three wings” overall strategic
planning guidance, the energy trading segment will continue to
innovate its business model in customer energy solutions, smart
logistics and supply chain finance to achieve transformation
and upgrade in products, operations and strategies, hence
becoming the new driver of the Group’s second take-off.



In terms of safe operation, the Group will unremittingly
implement COVID-19 normalization, prevention and control
measures, and will make plans for the rapid resumption of
production and create emergency response plans to pandemic
outbreaks, natural disaster or other emergencies. As always,
the Group regards safety, quality, efficiency and effectiveness
as its core values, of which safety has the utmost importance.
Whether it is business management or daily operation, safety is
imperative to support the long-term development of the Group.
The Group will strengthen internal quality control, improve
the management systems of all departments, enhance risk
prevention and control, intensify comprehensive supervision
for all businesses as well as the prevention and control of
different types of operational risks, thus fostering the overall
and healthy development of the Group.

The Group will also further strengthen its work on sustainable
development, improve ESG governance gradually and integrate
the ESG ideology into the daily operation and management of
the Group, so as to improve our natural environment, promote
social progression, create corporate value and make due
contributions.

In the upcoming year, the Group will keep pace with the times,
take a proactive approach and adhere to the operating principle
of “market-driven, customer-oriented, and economic efficiency-
centered” to gradually establish a diversified and low-carbon
new energy system that is smart, safe, clean and efficient.
The Group will continue to provide high-quality and efficient
integrated energy services to its customers, and is dedicated
to become the most valuable integrated energy service provider
by making unremitting efforts to lead the Group to a new height.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

APPRECIATION

In 2021, while the global pandemic continued to evolve,
the external environment became more complex, and the
domestic economy continued to recover although certain
regions were still unstable and unbalanced. Meanwhile, the
new COVID-19 variants were found in various areas in the PRC.
The determination and efforts of our staffs were indispensable
for the pandemic control and recovery of the safe and stable
supply of city gas. | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to them. The valuable contributions made by every member of
the Group to its development and their fulfillment of corporate
social responsibility was deeply appreciated. Finally, | would like
to express my appreciation to all shareholders and customers
of the Group for their long-term support and trust to the Group.
The pandemic will end and dawn will arrive eventually. The
Group will also continue to make progress and contribute
significantly to society and the public.

Wang Wenliang
Chairman
Hong Kong

28th March, 2022
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To our valued shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors and fellow staff, | am
pleased to present our annual results for the year ended
31st December, 2021 (the “Year”).

In 2021, the global demand and supply patterns of natural
gas were severely impacted by the lingering risk of the
global outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and the frequent
extreme weather events. While the gas price volatility has
significantly intensified, it has presented both opportunities
and challenges for the development of the domestic natural
gas market. 2021 marked the opening year of the 14th Five-

Year Plan and also the first year of “dual carbon goals”

ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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- peak in carbon emissions and carbon neutrality. Against
such backdrop, the PRC government has issued a series of
new policies to promote environmental protection such as
“Proposal of Modifying the Mechanism of Double Control
on Energy Consumption Intensity and Volume” ( { EZ4ER
SHEBRE A EITHE HZ) ) and “Action Plan for Peak
Carbon Emissions by 2030” ( {2030 Rifix:ZEE1TEN T E) ),
all the while promoting environmental policies such as the
“coal-to-gas” conversion and the “Three-Year Action Plan for
Winning the Blue Sky War” (] i 8 X (R 1&78 = F 17851 &) and
other environmental pollution control plans. The natural gas

industry has remained prosperous and also brought business



opportunities to the Group. As of 31st December, 2021, the
Group had 73 gas projects with concession rights across 10
provinces, and served approximately 21,242 industrial and
commercial customers as well as 4.36 million residential
households. The total natural gas volume sold by the Group
also increased by 25.9% year-on-year to 2,818,012,000 m?®

in 2021, achieving a set of record-high results.

RESULTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Group recorded
a turnover of HK$11,344,500,000, representing a growth of
32.8% year-on-year (2020: HK$8,543,710,000). The growth
in turnover was mainly driven by the increase in gas volume
sold. The overall gross profit of the Group increased from
HK$1,947,017,000 in 2020 to HK$2,188,937,000. Profit
attributable to owners of the Group increased by 12.5% year-
on-year to HK$1,188,997,000 (2020: HK$1,056,617,000).

BUSINESS REVIEW

According to the latest data released by the National Bureau
of Statistics of China, the economic growth of the PRC in
2021 was 8.1%. The apparent natural gas consumption of

the PRC in 2021 amounted to 372.6 billion m?, representing

an increase of 12.7% year-on-year according to the National

CEO MESSAGE

Development and Reform Commission of China. Driven by
the stabilised prevention and control against the COVID-19
pandemic in general and the sustained economic recovery
in the PRC, coupled with the “dual carbon goals”, extreme
weather events and other factors, the domestic natural gas
market demand grew rapidly and natural gas consumption
maintained a high growth rate. Under these favourable
operating conditions, the Group has achieved multiple

milestones during the Year.

For the Year, the Group’s three major business segments,
namely sales of gas, gas pipeline construction and connection,
and value-added services, contributed 81.9%, 11.7% and

4.1% of the Group’s turnover in 2021, respectively.

Sales of gas remained the largest contributor to the Group
in 2021, reaching HK$9,290,532,000 in sales with a growth
of 50.1% year-on-year. The growth in business was mainly
contributed by the Group’s successful implementation of
client diversification strategy among residential households
and industrial and commercial customers. Industrial and
commercial users, especially those strong market players
with high gas usage, will continue to be the Group’s core

focus in this segment.

Following the Group’s efforts in the past years, the penetration
of gas connection in its covered area has reached a relatively
high level. Accordingly, the Group has been more selective
and cautious in acquiring new customers for gas connection
to maintain a satisfactory level of profitability, cash flow and
receivables. For the Year, the total number of users of new
piped gas connections amounted to 384,298. As the Group
continued to expand its coverage, the Group’s total existing
intermediate and main pipelines increased from 25,456 km

to 26,399 km, representing a 3.7% increase in length.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CEO MESSAGE

The value-added services provided by its own offline retail
brand “Zhongyu Phoenix” (1 #4/Bl/El) and online retail platform
“Zhongyu iFamille” (F#4i%) have been an effective channel
for the Group to enrich the business ecology and effectively
increase customer stickiness. During the Year, the Group
has placed additional resources to strengthen the market
share of its retail branding by expanding product portfolio
and enhancing brand recognition. Turnover for the Year from
value-added services amounted to HK$464,507,000. The
Group will continue to promote and enhance development
of its value-added services. Its product and service offerings
include sales of gas stoves, gas cooking appliances, wall
hung boilers and insurance services. The Group sees
enormous potentials to explore the market by leveraging

the existing residential customer portfolio.

The Group has been actively expanding over the years. In
2021, the Group’s city gas pipeline business covered 10
provinces, namely Henan, Shandong, Hebei, Jiangsu, Anhui,
Heilongjiang, Jilin, Fujian, Zhejiang and Inner Mongolia. By
capturing opportunities arising from the energy reform in
the PRC, the Group also endeavors to expand its sales of
natural gas and accelerates its development of smart energy
and distributed energy businesses based on customers’
diversified energy needs, particularly industrial users with
high energy usage. The Group believes that smart energy
and distributed energy businesses would not only diversify
the Group’s revenue sources, but also become an important
business model of its integrated energy services. During the
Year, the Group selected new projects in a more cautious
manner and focused on projects with better profitability and
recoverability, such as projects partly sponsored by local

governments.

ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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PROSPECTS

Stepping into 2022, as the COVID-19 pandemic is gradually
brought under control and the construction of the new
development pattern of “dual circulation” gathers pace,
the economy of the PRC is expected to maintain a steady
yet progressive development in an effort to achieve high-
quality economic development. With the recovery of various
industries, gas consumption will constantly increase in
pursuit of the “dual carbon goals”, and the outlook of gas

industry is expected to be even more promising.

Moreover, the implementation of the “dual carbon goals” will
usher in greater development opportunities for the domestic
natural gas industry. The China Oil & Gas Piping Network
Corporation has officially commenced operation after a
substantial asset transfer. The formation of the “X+1+X”
structure in the natural gas industry is expected to promote a
multi-entity and multi-channel supply of upstream oil and gas
resources and a unified pipeline network in the midstream,
and to open up a flexible and efficient downstream market.
Coupled with the ongoing construction of the China-Russia
natural gas pipeline, it is expected that the natural gas market
in the PRC will continue to grow in the upcoming years with

abundant supply and at more affordable costs.

In the crucial year of the 14th Five-Year Plan and the year of
implementing the “dual carbon goals”, the energy structure
of the PRC will be further upgraded, while green energy
has become a development trend, and natural gas reform
will be gradually deepened. To embrace the opportunities
arising from the energy upgrade of the PRC, and leverage
its core advantages in city gas operation, the Group will
capture these opportunities by implementing the following

key strategies in the coming year:



CEO MESSAGE

(g s i

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

seize opportunities arising from polices such as
“comprehensively promoting rural revitalisation”,
“strengthening the construction of energy production,
supply, storage and sales systems” and “accelerating
the promotion of energy technology innovation” to
accelerate the transformation and development of

the Group;

intensify development in fields of smart energy and
renewable energy, and promote parallel development
of existing natural gas business and smart energy

business;

continue to expand the scale of urban pipeline
business and deepen its penetration in covered areas

to achieve greater scale of economic benefits;

enrich the product and service portfolio of the Group’s
own brand, “Zhongyu Phoenix” (14 [Bl/2), for value-
added business and explore capital increase business
and new retail segments for the purpose of generating

revenue and increasing efficiency;

continue its businesses such as distributed energy,
diversified energy supply, construction and operation
of microgrid, supply chain of smart and clean energy,
zero-carbon and smart industrial park, clean and
smart transportation, clean energy microgrid and

energy storage and energy saving service, advisory

(vi)

design and construction business, and optimize the
energy efficiency for the purpose of reducing costs

and increasing efficiency; and

enhance the Group’s trading business to secure gas
sources and expand business reach, and accelerate
the transformation and upgrade of product, operation

and strategy.

2022 is the second year of the 14th Five-Year Plan. Being

in such momentous period, despite the uncertainties of

the macro-economic environment in the future, riding on

the ongoing reform of the national energy system and the

continuous growth of the gas industry as well as the historical

opportunities brought by the “dual carbon goals”, the Group

expects to capture these significant opportunities to expand

business ecology, boost operating revenue and strive to

become one of the most valuable and competitive integrated

smart energy service providers in the PRC.

Lui Siu Keung

Chief Executive Officer

28th March, 2022

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

13



>

OPERATIONAL STATISTICS

Length of
Accumulated ~ Accumulated  Accumulated Existing Number of
Connectable Connected Connected Connected  Intermediate CNG/LNG
Connectable Residential Residential Industrial ~ Commercial and Main  Vehicle Filling
Province Operational location Population Households Households Customers Customers  Pipelines (km) Stations

Henan Jiaozuo City 1,623,958 463,988 374,767 148 1,408 1,759 8
Qinyang Cly 458,293 130,941 98,111 75 308 785 1
Wuzhi County 699,906 199973 94,261 80 276 1,025 1
Xiuwu County 251,007 7,717 49,794 89 282 632 4
Luohe Clty 2,092,854 597,958 484,067 204 1,750 1,379 4
Light Food Industrial Park in Luohe

Economic Development District = = = 10 - - -
Luohe Shacling District - - - 18 - - -
Luohe Songjiang Industrial Zone = = = 15 - - -
Luohe Houxie Village Industrial Zone - - - - - - -
Luohe West Industrial Zone = = = = = = =
Venture Centre in Luohe Economic

Development District - - - 15 - 40 -
Xiping County 32,800 9,372 - - - - -
Jiyuan City 979,285 279,796 206,472 243 1,69 1,389 4
Sanmenxia City 650,357 185,816 170,790 8 872 1,542 4
Shanzhou District 53,000 15,143 - - - - -
Sanmenxia Industrial Park = = = 7 - - -
Lingbao City 230,118 66,748 36,282 34 216 406 -
Yanshi City 346,441 98,983 80,433 204 279 784 2
Yongcheng Clty 867,250 247,788 204,522 56 736 743 4
Yongcheng Industrial Zone 35,000 10,000 - 1 - - -
Xinmi City 591,664 169,018 140,828 104 600 866 5
Huiguo Town, Gongyi City 23,885 6,825 5,606 60 36 136 -
Yuanyang County 234,310 06,946 8,742 3 2 81 -
Hu County 59,102 16,886 7,064 1 1 - -
Wen County 548,143 156,612 81,672 180 363 605 -
Mengzhou 493,306 140,944 89,342 247 422 475 -
Puyang Industrial Zone 1,887 539 526 65 11 162 -
Puyang Administrative Region 386,331 110,094 66,318 27 150 2,324 =

Hebel Sanshuitou Town, Yangjiatao Town,

Honggiao Town and Guojiatun Town

of Yutian County 219,283 62,652 27,304 22 12 54 -
Administrative jurisdiction of Gucheng

County 369,872 106,678 76,181 A 15 1,077 -
Within the operation area of Xinhe

County 130,000 37,143 5,606 20 60 133 -
Yutian County 284,800 81,371 88,186 25 287 216 -
Yutian Town and Caitinggjao Town,

Yutian County 105,200 30,057 - - - 46 -
Changli County 239,070 68,306 66,208 69 290 337 =
Weixian Gounty 149,100 42,683 48,280 7 91 215 -
Welxian Economic Development Zone 3,000 940 - - - - -
Xiahuayuan District 118,362 33,815 39,843 - 128 136 -
Chengan County 539,864 164,246 54,323 12 68 261 -
Wugiao County 263,516 75,290 38,601 43 109 534 -
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OPERATIONAL STATISTICS

£

Length of
Accumulated ~ Accumulated  Accumulated Existing Number of

Connectable Connected Connected Connected  Intermediate CNG/LNG
Connectable Residential Residential Industrial ~ Commercial and Main  Vehicle Filling
Province Operational location Population Households Households Customers Customers  Pipelines (km) Stations

Ningjin County 520,000 148,571 108,172 104 397 584
Linzhang County 262,780 75,080 79,232 32 121 507 1
Zaogjang Gounty 380,000 108,672 34,628 B 175 213 -
Longyao County 23,907 6,831 6,304 - 86 39 -
Xingtang County 86,561 24,729 21,680 1 75 134 -
City district of Gucheng 314,350 89,814 40,863 44 379 488 -
Nangong City 648,570 171,634 131,247 2 148 576 -
Jize County 122,400 34,97 18,172 24 84 160 -
Xinhe County 250,618 71,605 42,163 3 134 344 -
Xingtal 675,000 192,867 12,69 15 42 26 -
Jiangsu Jinggiao Town, Nanjing City 50,711 14,489 1,024 10 4 = -
Donghai County 58,135 16,610 2,181 30 11 73 -
Sihong County 36,304 10,087 4,320 38 2 522 =
Guannan County 302,155 86,330 74,447 - 389 319 -
Sugian Znongyu Hong Cheng 466,088 133,168 13,168 13 3 - -
Tongshan 260,000 74,286 81,378 - 202 60 -
Within the jurisdiction of Gity district of
Sihong County 486,000 138,857 146,900 50 529 635 =
Shandong Linyi City (Note] 1,762,796 508,656 415,513 433 1,976 1,207 14
Liny! Economic Development District 386,186 110,339 90,906 259 373 720 4
Linshu County 10,862 3,103 2,285 % 38 238 2
Tiangu Industrial Park in Dezhou City = = = 33 22 92 1
Jiin Baishan City 369,639 105,611 113,740 12 889 330 2
Changbaishan International Tourist
Resort Zone in Fusong Gounty 166,419 47,648 7,806 9 124 182 -

Lushuihe Town and Quanyang Town
within the administrative divisions of
Fusong County 60,000 17,142 - - - - -

Within the administrative jurisaliction of
Wan Liang Zhen of Fusong County

(including the Industrial Park) 16,900 4830 - - - - =
Fujian Shaowu City 269,284 76,938 48,816 12 269 128 2
Helongiang | Chengau Town, Tieli City 240,748 68,785 22,801 14 151 131 -
Current administrative jurisdiction of
Shuangfeng Forestry Bureau, Tieli City 62,000 17,7114 - - - - -
Zhejiang Within the administrative jurisdiction
of Daishan Island and Xiushang
Township 66,369 18,677 22,458 30 60 83 1
Yueging City 39,029 11,161 8733 7 39 86 -
Inner Mongolia| - Balinyou Qi 72,566 20,733 = = = 1 -
Anhui Bang Bu Hong Yu 35,000 10,000 - - - - -
Wuhe County 241,500 69,000 95,381 21 334 210 -
Sixian County 186,037 53,183 67,262 9 197 159 -
22,006,763 6,274,039 4,357,324 3,519 17,7123 26,399 64

Note: The operational location covers the administrative jurisdiction of Linyi City, which is from Binhe Road on the west bank of Yihe
River in the east to Beijing—Shanghai Expressway in the west, bordering Binhe Road on the south bank of Fanghe River in the
north and reaching Yihe Road, Luozhuang District in the south (excluding western part beyond Mengshan Avenue and southern
part beyond Huawu Road).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Group
was principally engaged in (i) the investment, operation
and management of city gas pipeline infrastructure, and
the distribution of piped gas to residential, industrial and
commercial users; (i) development of smart energy; (iii)
sales of stoves and provision of other related value-added
services; and (iv) the operation of CNG/LNG vehicle filling
stations in the PRC.

New Downstream Piped Gas Distribution
Projects

As at 31st December, 2021, the Group had 73 gas projects
with exclusive rights in the PRC. During the year, the Group
obtained concession rights to operate 2 additional natural

gas projects in Jilin Province and Inner Mongolia.

New CNG/LNG Vehicle Filling Stations
Expansion

During the financial year ended 31st December, 2021, no
new CNG vehicle filling station was put into operation.

SMART ENERGY BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

With the reform of the domestic energy market and the
national strategy emphasizing “green development” and
“clean and low-carbon, safety and efficiency”, environmental
protection policies and “dual carbon goals (carbon peak and
neutrality)” have become one of the biggest driving forces
for the Group to develop clean energy projects. The Group
has established the “one body, three wings” business layout
strategy in early 2020, with “city gas” as the “body” and
“value-added business and new retail”, “smart energy” and
“energy trading” as its “wings”, and strives to become the
most valuable integrated energy service provider in the PRC.
In 2021, a series of new energy policies and rural energy
transformation policies were launched successively in various
regions, creating opportunities for the smart energy group to
develop diversified businesses such as distributed energy,
photovoltaic rooftop and charging stations. In line with the
countywide rooftop distributed photovoltaic development
pilot work issued by the National Energy Administration, the
Company’s subsidiaries signed framework agreements on
the promotion of countywide rooftop distributed photovoltaic

= -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
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project with several local governments to expand its smart energy business map relying on its own advantages in the gas
project concession area. During the year, the Group steadily promoted the development of integrated energy business and
the cumulative number of projects in operation reached 43. The Group also actively sought to increase its market share
in the clean transportation energy market. The sale of electricity throughout the year increased by 90.5% to 21.74 million

kWh as compared with the same period of last year.

Major Operational Data

The downstream natural gas distribution business of the Group primarily comprises sales of gas, gas pipeline construction

and sales of natural gas from CNG/LNG vehicle filling stations.

The major operational data of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2021 together with the comparative figures

for the corresponding period last year are as follows:

Increase/
2021 2020 (Decrease)
Number of operational locations (Note a) 73 72 1
— Henan Province 28 28 -
— Hebei Province 21 21 -
— Jiangsu Province 7 7 -
— Shandong Province 4 4 -
— Jilin Province 4 3 1
— Fujian Province 1 1 -
— Heilongjiang Province 2 2 -
— Zhejiang Province (Note e) 2 3 1)
— Anhui Province 3 3 -
— Inner Mongolia 1 - 1
Connectable population (000) (Note b) 22,007 20,368 8.0%
Connectable residential households (000) 6,274 5,806 8.1%
New piped gas connections by the Group
made during the year
— Residential households 381,876 461,807 (17.3)%
(i) “Coal-to-gas” projects 91,074 224,927 (569.5)%
(i) Non “Coal-to-gas” projects 290,802 236,880 22.8%
— Industrial customers 312 275 13.5%
— Commercial customers 2,110 1,875 12.5%
Accumulated number of connected
piped gas customers
— Residential households 4,357,324 3,956,342 10.1%
— Industrial customers 3,519 3,207 9.7%
— Commercial customers 17,723 15,570 13.8%
Penetration rate of residential pipeline
connection (Note c) 69.5% 68.1% 1.4%
Unit of piped natural gas sold (000 m®) 2,518,128 2,024,914 24.4%
— Residential households 649,115 602,455 7.7%
— Industrial customers 1,442,913 1,188,152 21.4%
— Commercial customers 145,802 128,209 13.7%
— Wholesale customers 280,298 106,098 164.2%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
BUSINESS REVIEW

Increase/
2021 2020 (Decrease)
Unit of LNG sold (000 m?)
— Wholesale customers 231,653 140,169 65.3%
Number of CNG/LNG vehicle filling stations
— Accumulated 64 64 -
— Under construction 7 7 -
Unit of natural gas sold to vehicles ({000 m?) 68,230 73,919 (7.7)%
Total length of existing intermediate and
main pipelines (km) 26,399 25,456 3.7%
Average selling price of natural gas (pre-tax)
(RMB per m?)
— Residential households 2.49 2.44 2.0%
— Industrial customers 2.95 2.58 14.3%
— Commercial customers 3.34 3.08 8.4%
— Wholesale customers 2.19 212 3.3%
— Wholesale customers (LNG) 3.07 2.22 38.3%
— CNG/LNG vehicle filling stations 3.18 2.76 15.2%
Average purchase cost of natural gas (RMB per m?)
(Note d) 2.33 2.06 13.1%
Average connection fee for residential households (RMB)
— "Coal-to-gas” projects 2,945 2,690 9.5%
— Non “Coal-to-gas” projects 2,495 2,655 (2.3)%
Accumulated number of integrated energy projects in operation 43 17 1562.9%
Sales volume of integrated energy (million kWh) 21.74 11.41 90.5%

Note a:

Note b:

Note c:

Note d:

Note e:

The number of operational locations represents the gas projects with exclusive rights which are operated by the Group in

different cities and regions in the PRC.

The information is quoted from the website of the PRC government.

The penetration rate of residential pipeline connection refers to the accumulated number of the Group’s connected residential
households to the estimated aggregate number of connectable residential households in its operation regions expressed in
percentages.

The amounts do not include the average distribution costs of natural gas, which is RMBO0.17 per m?(2020: RMBO0.21 per m®).

Decrease in 1 concession right in Zhejiang Province due to the combination of existing concession rights into one during the

year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Overall

The Group’s turnover for the year ended 31st December,
2021 increased by 32.8% to HK$11,344,500,000 (2020:
HK$8,543,710,000). The gross profit increased to
HK$2,188,937,000 (2020: HK$1,947,017,000) as a result of
increased contribution from sales of gas. The Group’s profit
attributable to owners of the Company increased by 12.5%
to HK$1,188,997,000 (2020: HK$1,056,617,000). The basic
and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners
of the Company were HK44.20 cents and HK44.14 cents
respectively for the year ended 31st December, 2021, as
compared with that of HK39.95 cents and HK39.88 cents

respectively for the corresponding period last year.
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Non-HKFRS profit attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to HK$963,347,000 (2020: HK$815,728,000). Non-
HKFRS basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to
the owners of the Company for the period under review were
HK35.81 cents (2020: HK30.84 cents) and HK35.76 cents
(2020: HK30.79 cents) respectively.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

21



———

22

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover
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An analysis of the Group’s turnover by products and services for the year, together with the comparative figures for the

corresponding period last year, are as follows:

Year ended 31st December,

% % Increase/
2021 of total 2020 of total (Decrease)
HK$’000 HK$'000
Sales of Gas 9,290,532 81.9% 6,190,069 72.5% 50.1%
Revenue from Gas Pipeline

Construction 1,327,942 11.7% 1,488,639 17.4% (10.8)%

Value-added Services 464,507 4.1% 635,951 7.4% (27.0)%
Sales of CNG/LNG in Vehicle

Filling Stations 261,519 2.3% 229,051 2.7% 14.2%

Total 11,344,500 100% 8,543,710 100% 32.8%

The turnover for the year ended 31st December, 2021
amounted to HK$11,344,500,000 (2020: HK$8,543,710,000).
The increase in revenue from sales of gas was partially offset
by the decline in revenue from gas pipeline construction and

valued-added services.

Sales of gas

Sales of gas for the year ended 31st December, 2021
amounted to HK$9,290,532,000 (2020: HK$6,190,069,000),
representing an increase of 50.1% over the corresponding

period last year.

ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Sales of gas for the year ended 31st December, 2021
contributed 81.9% of the total turnover of the Group, as
compared with 72.5% during the corresponding period last
year. Sales of gas continued to be the major source of
turnover for the Group. The following table set forth the

breakdown of revenue from sales of gas by customers.



Sales of gas by customers:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Year ended 31st December,

Increase/
2021 % of total 2020 % of total (Decrease)
HK$°000 HK$'000

Industrial customers 5,155,944 55.5% 3,483,170 56.3% 48.0%
Residential households 1,950,373 21.0% 1,660,387 26.8% 17.5%
Commercial customers 587,074 6.3% 444,477 7.2% 32.1%
\Wholesale customers 1,597,141 17.2% 602,035 9.7% 165.3%
Total 9,290,532 100% 6,190,069 100% 50.1%

Industrial customers

The sales of gas to the Group’s industrial customers for
the year ended 31st December, 2021 increased by 48.0%
to HK$5,155,944,000 from HK$3,483,170,000 for the
corresponding period last year. During the year ended 31st
December, 2021, the Group connected 312 new industrial
customers. In 2021, global economy gradually recovered
and certain social distancing measures were relaxed after
the worldwide rollout of COVID-19 vaccine. Benefiting
from effective pandemic prevention and control, domestic
consumption in the PRC rebounded and the demand for
natural gas boosted. During the year under review, the piped
natural gas usage provided by the Group to its industrial
customers increased by 21.4% to 1,442,913,000 m? (2020:
1,188,152,000 m?).

The sales of gas to our industrial customers for the year
ended 31st December, 2021 contributed 55.5% of the total
sales of gas of the Group (2020: 56.3%) and continues to

be the major source of sales of gas of the Group.

Residential households

The sales of gas to our residential households for the
year ended 31st December, 2021 increased by 17.5%
to HK$1,950,373,000 from HK$1,660,387,000 for the
corresponding period last year. The growth in sales of gas
to residential households was supported by the increase
in construction work for gas pipeline connection and the
growth in population in the Group’s existing project cities
in the PRC. Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic,
people developed new lifestyle and spent more time at home
both working and learning. Furthermore, China experienced
an extremely cold winter in 2021, which increased the gas
consumption of residential households for indoor heating as
well. During the year under review, the Group provided new
natural gas connections for 381,876 residential households
and the piped natural gas usage provided by the Group to
residential households increased by 7.7 % to 649,115,000 m?®
(2020: 602,455,000 m?3). After years of promotion of clean
energy heating plan, more residential households are willing

to use natural gas for indoor heating in the winter.

The sales of gas to our residential households for the year
contributed 21% of the total sales of gas of the Group
(2020: 26.8%).
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Commercial customers

The sales of gas to our commercial customers for the
year ended 31st December, 2021 increased by 32.1% to
HK$587,074,000 from HK$444,477,000 for the corresponding
period last year. The sales of gas to commercial customers
for the year contributed 6.3% of the total sales of gas of the
Group (2020: 7.2%). During the year ended 31st December,
2021, the Group connected 2,110 new commercial customers.
As at 31st December, 2021, the number of commercial
customers of the Group reached 17,723, representing an

increase of 13.8% as compared with 15,570 commercial
customers as at 31st December, 2020.

The demand for gas from commercial customers were
adversely impacted during the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020.
But such demand rebounded in 2021 in the wake of the re-
opening of restaurants, schools and recreational facilities.
The gas consumption of commercial customers increased

by 13.7% to 145,802,000 m? (2020: 128,209,000 m?) for the

year under review.

Wholesale Customer

The sales of gas to our wholesale customers for the
year ended 31st December, 2021 increased by 165.3%
to HK$1,597,141,000 from HK$602,035,000 for the
corresponding period last year. The sales of gas to wholesale
customers for the year contributed 17.2% of the total sales
of gas of the Group (2020: 9.7 %).

ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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During the period under review, piped natural gas usage
provided by the Group to its wholesale customers increased
by 164.2% to 280,298,000 m*® (2020: 106,098,000 m?),
benefiting from the Group’s good reputation and stable
gas supply records.

During the period under review, the LNG provided by the
Group to its wholesale customers increased by 65.3% to
231,653,000 m® (2020: 140,169,000 m3).

Gas Pipeline Construction
Revenue from gas pipeline construction for the year ended
31st December, 2021 amounted to HK$1,327,942,000,

representing a decrease of 10.8% over the corresponding
period last year. The following table set forth the breakdown
of revenue from gas pipeline construction by customers.



Revenue from gas pipeline construction by customers
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Year ended 31st December,

Increase/
2021 % of total 2020 % of total (Decrease)
HK$’000 HK$'000

Residential households
- "Coal-to-gas” projects 323,099 24.3% 680,442 45.7% (52.5)%
- Non “Coal-to-gas” projects 874,040 65.8% 680,603 45.7% 28.4%
Non-residential customers 130,803 9.9% 127,594 8.6% 2.5%
Total 1,327,942 100% 1,488,639 100% (10.8)%

In 2017, the PRC government launched the “coal-to-gas”
policy as one of its major priorities to fight against air pollution.
The Group has followed the “coal-to-gas” conversion policy
and carried out a number of conversion projects in different
regions of the PRC. The Group carefully selected new
projects and focused on projects with better profitability
and recoverability, such as projects partly sponsored by local
governments. In 2021, the decline in government-sponsored
projects available caused a drop in connections made by
the Group. The revenue from gas pipeline construction for
residential households for “coal-to-gas” projects for the

year ended 31st December, 2021 decreased by 52.5% to

HK$323,099,000 from HK$680,442,000 for the corresponding
period last year. During the year ended 31st December, 2021,
the Group provided new natural gas connections for 91,074
residential households (2020: 224,927) under “coal-to-gas”
projects and the average connection fee was RMB2,945
(2020: RMB2,690).

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, revenue from gas
pipeline construction for residential households for non “coal-

to-gas” projects increased by 28.4% to HK$874,040,000
from HK$680,603,000 for the corresponding period last
year. The growth was mainly attributable to the increase in
construction work for gas pipeline connection completed by
the Group for residential households for non “coal-to-gas”
projects to 290,802 from 236,880 for the corresponding
period last year. The average connection fee slightly dropped
to RMB2,495 in 2021 from RMB2,555 in 2020.

Despite the reduction in average connection fee for residential
households in 2021, the gross profit margin for gas pipeline
construction remained relatively stable at 72.3%.

The connection fee charged to industrial/commercial
customers by the Group was significantly higher than that
charged to residential households and was determined on a
case-by-case basis. During the year ended 31st December,
2021, revenue from gas pipeline construction for non-
residential customers increased by 2.5% to HK$130,803,000
from HK$127,594,000 for the corresponding period last year.

As at 31st December, 2021, the Group’s penetration rates
of residential pipeline connection amounted to 69.5% (2020:
68.1%) (calculated by the accumulated number of the
Group’s connected residential households over the estimated
aggregate number of connectable residential households in
regions it operates in and expressed in percentages). In
view of the favourable energy policies in the PRC, the Group
is aiming to continue to increase its market coverage by
acquisitions when suitable opportunities arise.
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‘ ads

Value-added services represents smart energy business and sales of stoves and provision of other related services. Revenue
from value-added services for the year ended 31st December, 2021 amounted to HK$464,507,000 (2020: HK$635,951,000),
representing a decrease of 27.0% over the corresponding period last year. It contributed 4.1% of the total turnover of the
Group, as compared with the percentage of 7.4% during the corresponding period last year. The following table set forth

the breakdown of revenue from value-added services by type.

Year ended 31st December,

Increase/
2021 % of total 2020 % of total (Decrease)
HK$’000 HK$'000
Smart Energy 38,442 8.3% 36,534 5.7% 5.2%
Sales of stoves and provision of other
related services 426,065 91.7% 599,417 94.3% (28.9)%
Total 464,507 100% 635,951 100% (27.0)%

Smart energy

Revenue from smart energy for the year ended 31st
December, 2021 increased by 5.2% to HK$38,442,000 from
HK$36,534,000 for the corresponding period last year. Taking
on the advantages of huge market and customer base of its
gas projects, the Group is currently establishing an extensive
network of new businesses in China, including natural gas-
fired distributed energy, photovoltaic power generation and
charging stations. It seeks to comprehensively utilise energy
with years of cumulative experience in market development
and technical innovation, in an effort to provide customers
with highly efficient integrated energy that addresses their
needs for gas, heating, electricity and cooling. The smart
energy business contributed 8.3% (2020: 5.7 %) of the total
revenue from value-added services of the Group for the year
ended 31st December, 2021. The Group will continuously
explore the operation model of energy business, and promote
the expansion of energy projects to meet the diversified
energy demand of customers.
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Sales of stoves and provision of other related services

Since 2017, the Group placed greater efforts in value-added
services such as sales of stoves and related equipment,
which involves the sales of safe and reliable kitchenware,
including gas water heaters, gas cooking appliances and
wall-hang boilers under its own brand name, “Zhongyu
Phoenix” ("F#JEUR), to residential customers. Revenue
from sales of stoves and provision of other related services
for the year ended 31st December, 2021 decreased by
28.9% to HK$426,065,000 from HK$599,417,000 for the
corresponding period last year. The decrease was mainly due
to a decrease in the sales of wall-hang boilers and radiators
by 52.2% to HK$159,683,000 from HK$334,025,000 for
the corresponding period last year, as a result of reduced
number of “coal-to-gas” projects. During the year ended
31st December, 2021, other than sales of wall-hang boilers
and radiators, revenue from sales of stoves and provision
of other related services amounted to HK$266,382,000
(2020: HK$265,392,000), representing a growth of 0.4%
as compared to the corresponding period last year. With



the increasing number of connected residential customers
and brand recognition built in recent years, as well as the
establishment of the online shopping platform “Zhongyu
iFamille” (| #8i%X), the independent supply platform, customer
service platform and customer online community, the value-
added services is expected to contribute stable revenue to
the Group.

The sales of stove and provision of other related services
for the year ended 31st December, 2021, contributed 91.7%
(2020: 94.3%) of the total revenue from value-added services
of the Group.

Sales of CNG/LNG in Vehicle Filling Stations

Revenue from operating CNG/LNG vehicle filling stations
for the year ended 31st December, 2021 amounted to
HK$261,519,000, representing an increase of 14.2%
compared to the corresponding period last year. The unit of
natural gas sold to vehicles declined by 7.7% to 68,230,000
m? (2020: 73,919,000 m?) for the year ended 31st December,
2021.

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the turnover
derived from operating CNG/LNG vehicle filling stations
accounted for 2.3% (2020: 2.7%) of the total turnover of
the Group. As at 31st December, 2021, the Group had 64
CNG/LNG vehicle filling stations and 7 CNG/LNG vehicle
filling stations under construction in the PRC.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
FINANCIAL REVIEW

Gross profit margin

The overall gross profit margin for the year ended 31st
December, 2021 was 19.3% (2020: 22.8%). The decline in
overall gross profit margin for the year ended 31st December,
2021 was mainly due to decrease in the proportion of revenue

from pipeline construction to total turnover.

The gross profit margin for the sales of piped natural gas
increased to 11.4% (2020: 10.4%) as the increment of average
selling price of natural gas for industrial and commercial
customers outweighed the increment of average purchase
cost of natural gas. The Group’s energy trading business has
been strengthened to secure stable gas supply from different
sources and contracts have been signed with suppliers to
secure more piped gas supply with lower average cost. The
gross profit margin for gas pipeline construction remained
stable at 72.3% for the year under review (2020: 75.6%).
The gross profit margin for value-added services increased
to 64.3% (2020: 37.6%) due to a reduction in the sales of
low-gross-profit-margin wall-hang boilers and an increase in
the value added services fee and selling price of other gas
applicants. The gross profit margin for the sales of CNG/LNG
in vehicle filling stations increased to 3.4% (2020: -0.6%)
as a result of increase in average selling price of CNG/LNG

sold in vehicle refilling station.
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Other gains and losses

The Group recognised other net gains of HK$220,525,000

in 2021 (2020: other net gains of HK$546,449,000). The
amount was mainly derived from net foreign exchange gain
of HK$224,472,000 (2020: gain of HK$557,522,000), mainly
arising from the Group’s bank borrowings denominated in

United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars as a result of

the appreciation of RMB in 2021.

Every year, the Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss model according to HKFRS
9 on trade receivables and contract assets based on
provision matrix except for the debtors with credit-impaired
balances which are assessed individually. During the year
ended 31st December, 2021, the Group made a reversal
of HK$1,835,000 on contract assets (2020: an impairment
of HK$13,200,000 and HK$25,534,000 on contract assets
and trade receivables respectively) in consideration of the

likelihood of recovery of those aged receivables. In addition,

the Group recognised HK$657,000 (2020: HK$12,625,000)

impairment loss allowance on other receivables, based on

the individual assessment of the recoverability of the relevant

receivables. The amount was considered as credit-impaired

and full provision has been made.

Other income

Other income increased to HK$148,161,000 in 2021
from HK$107,743,000 in 2020. The balance in 2021
represented bank interest income of HK$10,138,000 (2020:
HK$7,819,000), interest income on amount due from an
associate of HK$3,229,000 (2020: HK$3,957,000), interest
income from loans to employees of HK$23,319,000 (2020:
HK$24,213,000), government subsidies of HK$67,963,000
(2020: HK$45,150,000), income from investments in life
insurance contracts of HK$1,897,000 (2020: HK$2,802,000)
and sundry income of HK$4 1,615,000 (2020: HK$23,802,000).
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Selling and distribution costs and
administrative expenses

Selling and distribution costs increased by 25% to
HK$246,598,000 in 2021 from HK$197,315,000 in
2020. Administrative expenses increased by 26.6% to
HK$590,154,000 in 2021 from HK$466,071,000 in 2020.
The increase was mainly attributable to (i) increased staff
costs and related expenses as a result of increased number
of headcount and increased social security contribution; (ii)
increased commission expenses for value-added services;
(i) consultancy fee paid for system updates and integration
of new IT systems; and (iv) additional depreciation expenses

arisen from the revaluation of pipelines in 2020.

Finance costs

Finance costs decreased by 25.9% to HK$189,627,000
in 2021 from HK$255,849,000 in 2020. The decrease was

mainly attributable to reduction of effective interest rate.

Income tax expenses

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company is 25%

for both years.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is levied on
the dividend declared to non-PRC tax residents in respect
of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1st January,
2008 onwards. During the year ended 31st December, 2020,
withholding tax amounting to HK$7,279,000 was levied by
the PRC tax authority on the dividends paid to overseas

group entities in the previous and current years.



Accordingly, the income tax expenses in 2021 amounted to
HK$318,859,000 (2020: HK$302,194,000).

Non-HKFRS EBITDA

For the purposes of this report, non-HKFRS EBITDA is
defined as earnings from continuing operations before finance
costs, taxation, depreciation, amortisation, foreign exchange
gain/loss, impairment losses/reversal of impairment losses
and share option expenses. Non-HKFRS EBITDA is a non-
HKFRS measure used by the management for monitoring
the performance of the core business of the Group. The
Company considers that the non-HKFRS EBITDA can provide
shareholders and potential investors of the Company with
useful supplementary information on the performance of the
Group’s core operations. Foreign exchange gain/loss and
share option expenses are considered not directly resulting
from the actual business activities of the Group. They,
together with the impairment losses/reversal of impairment
losses, are non-cash items which we do not believe are
reflective of the core operating performance of the Group.
The non-HKFRS EBITDA may not be comparable to similar

measures presented by other companies.

The Group’s non-HKFRS EBITDA was approximately
HK$2,079,049,000 for the year ended 31st December, 2021,
representing an increase of 9.6% as compared with that
of approximately HK$1,897,378,000 for the corresponding

period last year.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
FINANCIAL REVIEW

Profit attributable to owners of the Company

As a result of the above, profit attributable to owners of the
Company was HK$1,188,997,000 in 2021, representing an
increase of 12.5% as compared with that of HK$1,056,617,000
in 2020.

Excluding the net foreign exchange gain of HK$224,472,000
(2020: gain of HK$557,522,000) and reversal of impairment
loss of HK$1,178,000 (2020: impairment
HK$316,633,000), non-HKFRS profit attributable to owners
of the Company would amount to HK$963,347,000 (2020:
HK$815,728,000). Similar to the non-HKFRS EBITDA, the
non-HKFRS profit attributable to owners of the Company
is a non-HKFRS measure used by the management for
monitoring the actual operating performance of the Group
and may not be comparable to similar measures presented
by other companies.

Net profit margin

For the year ended 31st December, 2021, the net profit
margin, representing a ratio of profit attributable to owners
of the Company to turnover, was 10.5% (2020: 12.4%).

Earnings per share

The basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company were HK44.20 cents and HK44.14
cents respectively in 2021, as compared with that of HK39.95
cents and HK39.88 cents respectively in 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
FINANCIAL REVIEW

The non-HKFRS basic and diluted earnings per share

attributable to the owners of the Company (calculated by
reference to the non-HKFRS profit attributable to owners
of the Company which excludes the net foreign exchange
gain/loss, impairment losses/reversal of impairment losses
and share option expenses, if any, as the numerator) for

the year ended 31st December, 2021 were HK35.81 cents

(2020: HK30.84 cents) and HK35.76 cents (2020: HK30.79
cents) respectively. Similar to the non-HKFRS EBITDA, the
non-HKFRS basic and diluted earnings per share attributable

to the owners of the Company are non-HKFRS measures

used by the management for monitoring the actual operating
performance of the Group and may not be comparable to

similar measures presented by other companies.

Net assets value per share

The net assets value per share attributable to the owners
of the Company was HK$3.22 as at 31st December, 2021,

representing an increase of 41.9% as compared with that

of HK$2.27 as at 31st December, 2020.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES

AND WORKING CAPITAL

Treasury Management and Cash Funding

The Group’s funding and treasury policy is designed to

maintain a diversified and balanced debt profile and financing

structure. The Group continues to monitor its cash flow

position and debt profile, and to enhance the cost-efficiency

of funding initiatives by its centralised treasury function. In
order to maintain financial flexibility and adequate liquidity
for the Group’s operations, potential investments and growth

plans, the Group has built a strong base of funding resources

and will keep exploring cost-efficient ways of financing.

Liquidity

As at 31st December, 2021, the total assets of the

Group increased by HK$3,038,441,000 or 12.9% to
HK$26,672,864,000 (2020: HK$23,634,423,000).
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As at 31st December, 2021, the Group has net current
liabilities of HK$1,318,166,000 (2020: HK$4,915,911,000).
Decrease in net current liabilities was mainly due to decrease
in borrowings due within one year.

As at 31st December, 2021, the Group’s current ratio,
represented by a ratio of total current assets to total current
liabilities, was approximately 0.8 (2020: 0.6).

As at 31st December, 2021, the total borrowings and
lease liabilities decreased by HK$274,987,000 or 2.4% to
HK$11,342,536,000 (2020: HK$11,617,523,000).

As at 31st December, 2021, the Group had total net debts
of HK$9,472,748,000 (2020: HK$9,868,471,000), measured as
total borrowings and lease liabilities minus the bank balances
and cash and pledged bank deposits. As at 31st December,
2021, the Group had net gearing ratio of approximately 1.00
(2020: 1.47), measured as total net debts to total equity of
HK$9,516,998,000 (2020: HK$6,731,350,000). The decrease
of net gearing ratio mainly due to the decrease of total
borrowings and increase of total equity.

Financial resources and liquidity

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Group
entered into several loan agreements with several banks in
Hong Kong and overseas, pursuant to which loan facilities
of up to US$593,000,000 in total were made available to
the Group.

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Group
generally financed its operations with internally generated
resources and bank and other borrowings. As at 31st
December, 2021, all of the bank and other borrowings were
secured or unsecured and on normal commercial basis.

The Group’s borrowings, principally denominated in RMB,
which were outstanding as at 31 December 2021 amounted to
approximately HK$3,438,581,000 (2020: HK$2,895,626,000). Bank
borrowings amounting to approximately HK$9,463,048,000 (2020:
HK$10,413,948,000) and approximately HK$1,857,932,000 (2020:
HK$1,176,198,000) were carried at floating interest rate and fixed
interest rate respectively.



Cash and cash equivalents held by the Group as at 31
December 2021 was approximately HK$1,573,192,000
(2020: HK$1,672,452,000), principally denominated in RMB.

In view of the Group’s current financial and liquidity positions
and in the absence of unforeseen circumstances, the
Directors are of the opinion that the Group has sufficient
working capital for its requirements.

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE
FLUCTUATIONS

During the year, the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in either Renminbi (“RMB”),
Hong Kong dollars or United States dollars and the Group
conducted its business transactions principally in RMB.
As a result of the appreciation of RMB since the second
half of 2020, exchange gain arising from the Group’s bank
borrowings denominated in United States dollars and Hong
Kong dollars was recognised during the year. The Group
may, as it thinks fit, seek suitable financial instruments to
hedge against potential depreciation of RMB. As at 31st
December, 2021, the Group did not employ any financial
instruments for hedging purposes.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31st December, 2021, the Group had a total of 4,876
employees (2020: 4,683) in Hong Kong and the PRC, and
the total employee benefit expenses (other than directors)
for the year was approximately HK$592,971,000 (2020:
HK$468,032,000). The growth was mainly due to the increase
in the number of headcount of the Group and increase in
society security contribution made by the Group in 2021 as
PRC government waived part of employers’ contribution in
2020 during the COVID-19 pandemic. Around 99.8% of the
Group’s employees are based in the PRC.

The Group’s remuneration and bonus policies are determined
based on the performance of individual employees.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
FINANCIAL REVIEW

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee of the Company, having regard
to the Group’s operating results, the Directors’ duties and
responsibilities within the Group and comparable market
statistics.

Share option scheme

On 24th October, 2003, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (“Old Share Option Scheme”) pursuant to which
the Directors were authorised to grant share option to its
employees (including executive directors and employees of
any of its subsidiaries) or any person who has contributed
or will contribute to the Group. The Old Share Option
Scheme was terminated and replaced by a new share option
scheme (“New Share Option Scheme”) on 3rd May, 2013
by an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of
the Company at the annual general meeting held on 3rd
May, 2013.

As at 31st December, 2021, there was no share option
outstanding under the Old Share Option Scheme.

The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing on 3rd May, 2013 and
will expire on 2nd May, 2023. Under the New Share Option
Scheme, the Directors may offer to any employees or any
eligible person, who has made or will make contributions
to the Group, share options to subscribe for shares in the
Company in accordance with the terms of the New Share
Option Scheme. The exercise price is determined by the
Directors, and shall not be less than the higher of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant which must
be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of

grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The scheme mandate limit of the New Share Option Scheme
is 252,400,768. As at 31st December, 2021, 126,730,800
share options were granted, 3,023,200 share options have
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the New Share Option
Scheme and the number of share options outstanding was
16,092,800. The maximum number of share options which
may be granted under the New Share Option Scheme is
128,693,168. The outstanding share options, if converted in
full into shares of the Company, and the number of options
available for future grant, if granted and converted in full,
represent approximately 0.57% and 4.54% of the number
of issued shares of the Company as at 31st December,

2021, respectively.

The movements of the Company’s share options granted
under the Old Share Option Scheme and the New Share
Option Scheme during the year ended 31st December, 2021
are disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”

in the Directors’ Report.
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CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31st December, 2021, pledged bank deposits of
RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$48,924,000) (2020:
RMB4,000,000 (equivalent to HK$4,753,000)) were used to
secure the short-term general banking facilities granted to

the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND
DISPOSALS

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, save for
events described in notes 21 and 38 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group did not conduct any
significant investments, or material acquisitions or disposal

of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31st December, 2021, the Board did not have any
specific plans for material investment or capital assets.

CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

As at 31st December, 2021, the capital expenditure in
respect of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets contracted for but not provided in
the consolidated financial statements is HK$149,021,000
(2020: HK$281,354,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31st December, 2021, the Group did not have any
contingent liabilities (2020: nil).



BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Wenliang, aged 51, is the Chairman of the
Company. He was appointed as an executive Director on
10 July 2003 and is responsible for the overall strategic
development of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”). Mr. Wang also serves as a
director of certain other subsidiaries within the Group.
Mr. Wang has held investments in various industries in
the PRC including aluminium, property, and information
technology. Mr. Wang was a deputy general manager of
a company in Zhengzhou, People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) (whose principal business is the manufacture
and sale of aluminium products) between 1996 and
1999 and was a deputy general manager of a company
in Henan Province, the PRC (whose principal business
is property management and rental) between 1997 and
2000. Mr. Wang was also a president of a company in
Henan Province, the PRC between 2000 and 2005, the
principal business of which is the provision of software
development, networking engineering services, sale of
computer and peripheral products, and provision of
internet services. Mr. Wang was an executive director of
China Gas Holdings Limited between 17 January 2003
and 10 June 2003. Mr. Wang completed his postgraduate
course in Finance in the Graduate School of Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences in the PRC in June 2001.
Mr. Wang is the sole shareholder, a chairman and
director of Hezhong Investment Holding Company Limited
(“Hezhong”), which is a substantial shareholder (as defined
in the Listing Rules) of the Company.

Mr. Yiu Chi Shing, aged 58, is the executive Director and
Vice Chairman of the Company. He was appointed as an
executive Director and Vice Chairman of the Company
on 29th October, 2021. He holds a master’s degree in
Business Administration from Huagiao University, PRC
and a honorary Doctor of International Business from
William Penn University, lowa, USA. He is also qualified as
a senior economist. Mr. Yiu is the Chairman of the board
of directors of TransGlobal Group (International) Limited,
a company principally engaged in real estate development

and operation, financial investments, tourist resorts and
the construction of bridges, roads and urban public utility
infrastructure in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Mr. Yiu
is a member of the National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference, the president
of the Hong Kong Association for the Promotion of
Peaceful Reunification of China, a member of the Election
Committee of the HKSAR and a Justice of the Peace of
the HKSAR. He is also awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star by
the Government of the HKSAR.

Mr. Lui Siu Keung, aged 50, is the Chief Executive
Officer and Company Secretary of the Company. He was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on
22 October 2007. Mr. Lui joined the Company in 2003
and is responsible for the general business operations
and management. Mr. Lui also serves as a director of
certain other subsidiaries within the Group. Mr. Lui has
approximately twenty years of experience in corporate
finance, accounting and auditing fields. He graduated from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor of
arts degree in accountancy in November 1996. Mr. Lui
is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lui is an independent
non-executive director of Dashan Education Holdings
Limited (stock code: 9986).

Mr. Jia Kun, aged 51, is an executive Director of the
Company. He was appointed as an executive Director
on 25 February 2019. Mr. Jia graduated from Zhongnan
University of Economics and Law (7 & 81 & BUE K 2)
(formerly known as Zhongnan University of Law (F R
7A2P7)) and Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business
(R)IEEB3). Mr. Jia holds a bachelor of laws degree
and an EMBA degree. Mr. Jia has 8 years of judicial
experience and 19 years of legal, risk management and
administrative management experience. Mr. Jia previously
served as head of office and chief executive officer of
Henan Hezhong Group Company (] & M REE A F]). Mr.
Jia joined the Group in 2003 and currently serves as its
executive president (#11T42%). Mr. Jia also serves as a
director of certain other subsidiaries within the Group.
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Mr. Lu Zhaoheng, aged 57, is an executive Director
of the Company and is mainly responsible for the
management of the Group’s business in PRC. He was
appointed as an executive Director on 24 June 2004. Mr.
Lu also serves as a director of certain other subsidiaries
within the Group. Mr. Lu is the National Registered Public
Facilities Engineer and Senior Engineer. Mr. Lu graduated
from EEEETZEPR (The Architecture and Engineering
Institute of Chongqing) specializing in Town Gas Thermal
Engineering in 1984, and obtained a master degree in
senior management of business administration from China
Europe International Business School in 2017. Mr. Lu has
accumulated more than thirty years of experience in the
development and commercialisation of natural gas in the
PRC. Mr. Lu held various positions in ;] & & #4838 2] 3%
sHfiZt 488 (Henan Urban Planning Institute Corporation)
and has comprehensive qualification and experience in
planning research, engineering and business management
in the natural gas industry.

Mr. Li Yan, aged 58, is an executive Director of the
Company. He was appointed as an executive Director
on 25 February 2019. Mr. Li also serves as a director of
certain other subsidiaries within the Group. Mr. Li holds
a bachelor’s degree from Henan University of Economics
and Law (f F B & BUA KX Z) (formerly known as Henan
University of Economics (7] B £&X £B%)) and an EMBA
degree from The Guanghua School of Management of
Peking University (3t R A2 EEIRZM). Mr. Li taught
accounting, finance and economics at Henan Province
Supply and Marketing School (i F§ A& it $4 £ #) from
July 1988 to February 1992 and served as assistant to
the general manager of China Commercial Resources
Zhengzhou Company (B &EE A F]) from March
1992 to 2002. Mr. Li joined the Group in 2003 and is
currently the general vice president (£ &4 %) of the
Company. In December 2005, Mr. Li obtained the title of
senior economist.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Chunyan, aged 58, is an independent non-
executive Director, Chairman of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 5 October 2010. He has been a
practicing lawyer at Henan Shi Ji Tong Law Office (J7/F
4 MR EFFT) since April 1999. He has also been a
teacher at Xiangcheng Normal School in Henan Province,
a lawyer at Pingdingshan Economic Law Office (FIBIL#E
E2ENETEFT), a lawyer at Asia Pacific (Group) CPAs, a
certified public accountant, as well as a registered assets
valuer. In July 2007, he attended the independent director
training of Shenzhen Stock Exchange and obtained the
qualification certificate of independent directors. He has
been an independent director of Do-Fluoride Chemicals
Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, stock code: 002407) since 16 January 2020. He
is a non-executive director of Rosan Resources Holdings
Limited (stock code: 578).



BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Dr. Luo Yongtai, aged 75, is an independent non-executive
Director, a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company.
He was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 31 July 20083. He is a professor and a doctoral
tutor in management of Tianjin University of Finance and
Economics, the committee member of Tianjin Historical
Building Protection Expert Consultation Committee, a
Director of Coordinated Innovation Development Research
Institute of the Beijing, Tianjin and Hebei region, the
committee member of Coordinated Development Research
Center Expert Consultation Committee of the Northeastern
region and the Beijing, Tianjin and Hebei region, and an
expert of Thinking Tank in Tianjin Science and Technology
Commission, as well as a beneficiary of the Expert Special
Subsidy granted by the State Council of the PRC. Dr.
Luo had been an independent director of Tianjin Tianbao
Infrastructure Co., Ltd. (@ company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, stock code: 000965) for the period from
December 2014 to June 2017. He was an independent
director of Tianjin Guifaxiang 18th Street Mahua Food Co.,
Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
stock code: 002820) during the period between December
2012 and September 2018. He was also an external
director of Tianjin Ringpu Bio-Technology Co., Ltd. (a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock
code: 300119) during the period between January 2015
and December 2018.

Ms. Liu Yu Jie, aged 57, is an independent non-
executive Director, a member of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. She was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 30 June 2017. Ms. Liu
graduated from University of International Business and
Economics in Beijing and obtained a master’s degree in
business management. She has been working in Hong
Kong, Singapore and the PRC for over 20 years and is
familiar with the business environment and regulatory
systems of such jurisdictions. She has comprehensive
experience in capital markets, business promotion and
corporate management through participating in initial
public offerings, underwriting over 30 companies in their
respective initial public offerings on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, and having led and completed
mergers and acquisitions of a number of companies
in Hong Kong and Singapore. Ms. Liu also assisted in
capital raising and management of large-scale industrial
funds which make investments in China, and acted as
executive directors of listed companies in Hong Kong and
Singapore which engaged in utilities and infrastructure
investments. Ms. Liu is an executive director of China
Water Affairs Group Limited (stock code: 855), New
Universe Environmental Group Limited (stock code: 436)
and Kangda International Environmental Company Limited
(stock code: 6136). She was also an executive director of
SIIC Environment Holdings Ltd. (a company listed on the
Singapore Exchange) from 19 November 2009 to 8 August
2014.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board of directors (the “Directors”) and the
management of Zhongyu Energy Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Zhongyu Gas Holdings Limited) (the
“Company”) are committed to high standards of corporate
governance. Corporate governance system is set up to
achieve a balance of the interests of different participants
in the corporation, to direct and manage corporate affairs
and to monitor corporate performance. The Company is
dedicated to continue improving its corporate governance
practices to ensure accountable, transparent and efficient
management.

The Company has fully complied with all code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) (the “CG Code”) for the year ended 31st
December, 2021. The following summarises the corporate
governance practices of the Company and the reasons for
deviations, if any, from the CG Code.

Executive Directors:

Non-executive Director:

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Save for the Directors’ business relationships
as a result of their respective directorships
and positions in the Group, there are no
financial, business, family or other material
or relevant relationships among members of
the Board.

The Company received a written annual
confirmation of independence from each of
the independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to the Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considered each
independent non-executive Director to be
independent.
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Board of Directors

The board of Directors (the “Board”), holds
responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company. By directing and supervising corporate
affairs, the Board plays an important role in
protecting and enhancing long-term shareholder

value.

A.1

Board composition

As at 31st December, 2021, the Board
included nine Directors, of which six were
executive Directors and the remaining
three were independent non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board
and its changes during the year ended 31st
December, 2021 and up to the date of this
report are as follows:

Mr. Wang Wenliang (“Mr. Wang”) (Chairman)
Mr. Yiu Chi Shing (Vice Chairman)
(appointed with effect from 29th October, 2021)
Mr. Lui Siu Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Jia Kun (Executive President)
Mr. Lu Zhaoheng

Mr. Li Yan

Mr. Xu Yongxuan (Vice Chairman)
(resigned with effect from 29th October, 2021)

Mr. Li Chunyan
Dr. Luo Yongtai
Ms. Liu Yu Jie

Given the business nature, the Board
members have distinct skills and experience
in a variety of business range, which
includes city gas network design and
operation, organisational management,
financial and securities trading market, etc..
The relevant biographies and the respective
roles of all Directors on the Board are set
out on pages 33 to 35 in this report.



A.2

The primary roles of the Board are to set the
corporate strategy by determining business
objectives, development plan and strategic
policies; to delegate day-to-day operations
to the management and to monitor their
operating and financial performance; to
avoid risks and oversee corporate affairs.

Board meetings and information
supply

The Board meets regularly and board
meetings were held quarterly and additional
meetings would be arranged, if and when
required. All Directors can attend meetings
in person or through other electronic means
of communication.

The Company Secretary assists the
Chairman in establishing the meeting
agenda and each Director may request
inclusion of matters in the agenda.

Notice of at least 14 days in advance is
given for a regular board meeting to give all
Directors an opportunity to attend.

The management of the Company has
provided the Board with adequate
information in a timely manner to enable it
to make informed decisions. In addition, the
management may be invited, if and when
requested, to attend board meetings to
make presentation and answer the queries
raised by the Board.

Executive Directors

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary with a
view to ensuring that board procedures,
and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed.

Minutes of board meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary and such minutes are
open for inspection at any reasonable time
on reasonable notice by any Director.

Minutes of board meetings are recorded
in sufficient detail and draft and final
versions of minutes of board meetings are
sent to all Directors for their comment and
records respectively, in both cases within a
reasonable time after the board meeting is
held.

If and when a substantial shareholder of
the Company or a Director has a conflict
of interest in a matter to be considered by
the Board which the Board has determined
to be material, the matter would not be
dealt with by way of circulation but a board
meeting would be held. Independent non-
executive Directors (and whose associates)
who have no material interest in the
transaction would be present at such board
meeting.

For the year ended 31st December, 2021,
the Board held 14 board meetings and the
Company held one general meeting. The
attendance records of all board meetings
and the general meeting are set out below:

General meeting Board meetings

Mr. Wang nlian 1 1 14
Mr. Yiu Chi Shin 1) - 4
\Y ) 1 1 14
Mr. 1 1 13
Mr. 1 1 13
Mr. 1 1 13
Non-executive Director

Mr. Xu Yongxuan (Vice Chairr 1 100% 9
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Chunyan 1 13
Dr. Luo Yc 1 13
Ms. Liu Yu Jie 1 13
Notes:

(1) Mr. Yiu Chi Shing was appointed as executive Directors and Vice Chairman with effect from 29th October, 2021.

Accordingly, the attendance record only shows the board meetings and the general meeting that were held after

his appointment.

2) Mr. Xu Yongxuan resigned as non-executive Director and Vice Chairman with effect from 29th October, 2021.
Accordingly, the attendance record only shows the board meetings and the general meeting that were held

before his resignation.
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A3

A.4

Chairman and chief executive

The Chairman is responsible for offering
leadership and effectiveness for the Board,
arranging all key and appropriate issues
to be discussed by the Board in a timely
manner, and ensuring the Board acts in
the best interests of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) by
establishing constructive relations between
executive and non-executive Directors and
providing effective communication with
shareholders; whereas the chief executive
is responsible for running the Group’s
business, supervising the implementation of
the Group’s strategy in achieving the overall
commercial objectives and managing the
day-to-day operation of the Group.

The CG Code Provision A.2.1 provides that
the roles of Chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The
division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and chief executive should be
clearly established and set out in writing.

During the year ended 31st December
2021, Mr. Wang served as the Chairman
and Mr. Lui served as the chief executive
officer. Save for their business relationship
as a result of their respective directorships
and positions in the Group, there are no
financial, business, family or other material
or relevant relationships between Mr. Wang
and Mr. Lui.

Appointments and re-election

According to the Company’s articles of
association (“Articles of Association”),
the Company may by ordinary resolution
elect any person to be a Director either
to fill a casual vacancy on the Board, or
as an addition to the existing Board and
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the Directors shall have the power from
time to time and at any time to appoint
any person to be a Director either to fill
a casual vacancy on the Board, or as an
addition to the existing Board. Any Director
so appointed by the Board shall hold office
only until the next following annual general
meeting of the company and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

The Company renewed the service contracts
with each Director, except for Ms. Liu Yu Jie,
on 11th July 2021. The Company renewed
the service contract with Ms. Liu Yu Jie on
3rd June, 2020 and entered into service
contracts with Mr. Li Yan and Mr. Jia Kun
on 25th February, 2019 and with Mr. Yiu
Chi Shing on 29th October, 2021. The term
of appointment for the Directors is three
years and they are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with
the Articles of Association. The details of
procedure for retirement of Directors are as
follows:

According to the Articles of Association and the
CG Code Provisions A4.1-A4.3, one-third of the
Directors shall retire from office by rotation at the
annual general meeting. The Directors to retire
by rotation shall include any Director who wishes
to retire and not to offer himself for re-election.
Any further Director so to retire shall be those
of the other Directors subject to retirement by
rotation who have been longest in office since
their last re-election or appointment and so that
as between persons who became or were last
re-elected Directors on the same day those to
retire shall be determined by lot. Any Director
appointed pursuant to the Company’s articles of
association as stated in the first paragraph under
the heading “A.4 Appointment and re-election”
shall not be taken into account in determining
which particular Directors or the number of
Directors who are to retire by rotation.
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Accordingly, Mr. Lui Siu Keung, Mr. Lu
Zhaoheng and Mr. Jia Kun will retire from
office as Directors by rotation at the upcoming
annual general meeting and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

Responsibilities of directors

Directors are provided with sufficient and
appropriate information by management
periodically to ensure they have a proper
understanding of the operations and
business of the Group, and to enable them
to be fully aware of their responsibilities.
When a new Director is appointed, he
will receive a formal induction and other
materials to familiarize with the Group
promptly. Besides every Director is required
to disclose his interests, potential conflict
of interests, and changes in a timely
manner according to the Group’s written
responsibilities guideline. The independent
non-executive Directors participate in board
meetings and serve on relevant committees
to make an independent judgment on
corporate affairs and to develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders.
Individual Directors may also seek external
independent professional advice, at the
Company’s expense, on any specific matter.
The Company also encourages all Directors
to participate in programs of continuous
professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills, in order
to discharge their responsibilities positively
and constructively.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Directors’ securities transaction

The Company has adopted and complied
with the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors. Having made specific enquiry
of all Directors, they have all confirmed
their compliance with the required standard
of dealings and the Model Code regarding
securities transactions by Directors adopted
by the Company during the year ended 31st
December, 2021.

Directors and Officers’ Liabilities
Insurance

The Company maintains appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action
against the Company’s directors and
officers when they discharge their duties.
The insurance coverage is reviewed on an
annual basis.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board also assumes the corporate
governance functions and is responsible for:
developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies on corporate governance; reviewing
and monitoring training and continuous
professional development of Directors
and senior management; reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; developing,
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
code of conduct; and reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.

ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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A9 Continuous Professional Development

Any newly appointed Director would receive
an induction package covering the Group’s
operations, businesses, governance policies
and the statutory regulatory obligations
and responsibilities of a director of a listed
company. All Directors are encouraged
to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has
arranged in-house trainings for Directors
and provision of training materials. A
summary of training received by Directors
during the year ended 31st December, 2021
according to the records provided by the
Directors is as follows:

Training on corporate
governance, Directors’
responsibilities and

Name of Directors other relevant topics
Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Wenliang
Mr. Yiu Chi Shing
Mr. Lui Siu Keung
Mr. Jia Kun
Mr. Lu Zhaoheng
Mr. Li Yan

ANENENENE NN

Non-executive Director
Mr. Xu Yongxuan v/

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Chunyan v/
Dr. Luo Yongtai v
Ms. Liu Yu Jie v/

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the CG Code Provision A.6.5 in relation to continuous
professional development.
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Remuneration Matters

The Board has established a Remuneration
Committee comprising three independent non-
executive Directors including Mr. Li Chunyan,
Dr. Luo Yongtai and Ms. Liu Yu Jie. Mr. Li
Chunyan is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The Remuneration Committee
meets at least once a year. It will consult the
Chairman about their remuneration proposals
for other executive directors and the primary
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
are: to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all directors’
and senior management remuneration and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;
to determine specific remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior
management including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation policy (i.e. the model
as described in Code Provision B.1.2(c)(i) was
adopted); to review and approve the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives; and to
ensure that no Director or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Two remuneration committee meetings were held
on 30th March, 2021 and 29th October, 2021
respectively to review the remuneration packages
of Directors with reference to their duties and
responsibilities within the Group, the Company’s
remuneration policy and the prevailing market
condition. The attendance record of the Remuneration
Committee meeting is set out below:

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Chunyan (Chairman) 2 100%
Dr. Luo Yongtai 2 100%
Ms. Liu Yu Jie 2 100%
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Accountability and Audit

C.1

C.2

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities
for preparing the accounts of the Group and
ensuring that the preparation of the accounts
of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Directors shall ensure the
publication of the Group’s accounts in a timely
manner.

The statement of the Auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on
the accounts of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report of this Annual
Report.

Risk Management and Internal
controls

The risk management and internal control
systems have a key role in the management
of risks that are significant to the fulfillment
of corporation business objectives.
Internal control is designed to facilitate the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations,
to help ensure the reliability of internal and
external reporting, to assist compliance with
laws and regulations.

Risk management and internal control
systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Board is responsible for the Group’s
risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
The effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems is reviewed
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annually by the Board through the Audit
Committee. Management is accountable
to the Board for ongoing monitoring of the
systems of risk management and internal
control. By covering financial, operational,
compliance controls and risk management,
the Board takes the following procedures
to achieve business objectives: A distinct
organizational structure exists with defined
lines of authority and control responsibilities.

° As the Board sets up corporate
strategy and delegates daily operation
power to senior management, both
senior managers in administration
headquarter and heads in divisions
or projects are involved in the
strategic plan and resource allocation
to achieve their annual operational
and financial targets.

° A comprehensive performance
assessment system is implemented
to provide financial and operational
performance evaluation for both
the management and employees
once ayear. When there are
variances against targets or quality
requirements, to find the reasons and
take appropriate actions to eliminate
gaps.

According to business nature and
management structure, the Company has
established different departments in two
levels. The administration headquarter
has major responsibilities to prepare
and accomplish the Group’s business
development plan, to conduct day-to-day
operation and report to senior management
directly, to appoint and direct administrative
officers in gas project divisions and to
assess their business performances, to
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implement internal control and avoid
operational and financial risks. Compared
with headquarter offices, the gas project
divisions hold very similar duties except
that all their daily jobs are done in a
lower level and they have to report to the
corresponding administration departments
respectively on different operational matters.

In order to realize effective financial controls,
through maintenance of proper accounting
records, both the upper and lower financial
departments ensure the Group is not
unnecessarily exposed to avoidable financial
risks and the financial information can
be used only within the business and for
reliable publication. They also contribute to
pre-setting annual financial budgets, saving
expenses and safeguarding of assets,
including the prevention and detection of
fraud.

Operational control is another important
part of the whole risk management and
internal control system. To achieve effective
result and avoid operational risks, human
resource department employs motivation
plan to attract employees with necessary
knowledge, skills and information, while
administrative and engineering departments
in two levels pay more attention to ensure
efficient operational management and construct
high quality gas projects. In addition, all
employees have responsibility for internal
control as part of their accountability for
achieving the Group’s objectives. With
delegated authority, they are allowed to
establish, operate and monitor the system of
internal control, and are required to have an
understanding of the Group, its objectives,
the energy industry and gas markets, and
the risks it faces.
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With respect to procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination
of inside information, the Company:

° is aware of its obligations under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance and
the Listing Rules and the overriding
principle that inside information
should be announced as soon as
practicable after such information
comes to our attention unless it
falls within the “Safe Harbours” as
defined under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance;

° conducts its affairs in strict compliance
with the “Guidelines on Disclosure
of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission
in June 2012;

o has implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries
about the Group’s affairs; and

° has implemented policy regarding
prohibition on the unauthorised use
of confidential or inside information.

The Group’s internal audit department checks
for compliance with statutory requirements,
internal policies and procedures. It assesses
the operating effectiveness and efficiency of
the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems in the course of its audit. The
audit scope and frequency are determined
by the level of assessed risks and have to
be reviewed and approved by the Audit
Committee.

The Board, through the Audit Committee,
reviews the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group once every year.
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During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the
Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted
an annual review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems
of the Group. The annual review covered
all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls. The
annual review also covered the resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, which the Board
considered to be adequate.

As part of the key processes that have been
established in reviewing the adequacy and
integrity of the systems of risk management
and internal control, the Audit Committee of
the Company reviewed risk management and
internal control issues (if any) identified by
internal auditor, external auditor, regulatory
authorities and management, and evaluates
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems.

The Board is of the view that the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group
are effective and adequate. The Board
is also satisfied that the Group has fully
complied with the code provisions on risk
management and internal controls as set
forth in the CG Code.

Audit committee

The Company has established the Audit
Committee in compliance with Rules
3.21 and 3.23 of the Listing Rules. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are:
to independently review and supervise
the financial reporting process and risk
management and internal control systems,
to ensure good communication among
Directors and the Company’s auditors, to
recommend the appointment of external
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auditors on an annual basis and approval
of the audit fees, to assist the Board in
oversight of the independence, qualifications,
performance and compensation of the
independent accountant, to review interim
and annual results announcements as well
as the financial statements prior to their
approval by the Board, to provide audit
report, advice, accounting policies and
comments to all Directors.

The Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors who
have extensive experience in financial
matters, including Mr. Li Chunyan, Dr. Luo
Yongtai and Ms. Liu Yu Jie. Mr. Li Chunyan
is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
In 2021, the Audit Committee held two
meetings to check the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control
systems; to review the report of internal
control prepared by the internal audit
department; to consider major investigation
findings on risk management and internal
control matters (if any); to review the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal
audit function; to review all draft interim
and annual financial reports, circulars
and announcements; and understand the
external auditors’ statutory audit plan
and the Letters of Representation, and to
consider and approve the audit fees. The
attendance records of the Audit Committee
meetings are set out below:

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Chunyan (Chairman) 2 100%
Dr. Luo Yongtai 2 100%
Ms. Liu Yu Jie 2 100%

Auditor’s remuneration

The remuneration in respect of audit service
provided by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
being the Company’s auditor during the year
2021, amounted to HK$4,560,000.
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Nomination Committee

The Board has established a Nomination
Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code. The principal duties
of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board,
making recommendation to the Board on selection
of candidates for directorships, the appointment
and reappointment of Directors, Board succession
planning and assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may
select candidates for directorship from various
channels, including but not limited to internal
promotion, re-designation, referral by other member
of the management and external recruitment
agents. On selection of candidates for directorship
of the Company, the Nomination Committee makes
reference to criteria such as the skills, experience,
professional qualifications, personal integrity
and time commitments of such individuals. Each
candidate shall be ranked by order of preference
based on the needs of the Company and his/
her reference check. The Nomination Committee
shall report its findings and make recommendation
to the Board on the appointment of appropriate
candidate for directorship for decision.

The Nomination Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors including Mr.
Li Chunyan, Dr. Luo Yongtai and Ms. Liu Yu Jie.
Mr. Li Chunyan is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings
during the year ended 31st December, 2021
to determine the policy for the nomination of
directors, review the nomination, re-appointment
and re-election of Directors, and to determine
the nomination procedures and consider the
process and criteria to be adopted by the
Nomination Committee for selecting and proposing
a person for election as a Director including
the benefits of board diversity in terms of skill,
experience, knowledge and gender. The Company
believes diversity is important to enhance board
effectiveness by encouraging a diversity of
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perspectives and to maintain high standards of
corporate governance. According to the Board
diversity policy adopted by the Company, the
range of diversity perspectives may include a
consideration of various factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and industry and regional experience,
and other factors based on the specific needs
of the Company. The Nomination Committee
considered an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board is maintained and
will discuss and where necessary, agree on the
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on
the Board and make recommendation to the Board.
The Nomination Committee considered the current
size and composition of the Board to be sufficient
to meet the Company’s business needs. The
attendance record of the Nomination Committee
meeting is set out below:

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Chunyan (Chairman) 2 100%
Dr. Luo Yongtai 2 100%
Ms. Liu Yu Jie 2 100%

Shareholders’ Rights

Dividend Policy

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”) which aimed to set out the
principles and guidelines that the Company intends
to apply in relation to the declaration, payment or
distribution of its net profits as dividends to the
shareholders of the Company.

In recommending or declaring dividends, the
Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves
for meeting its working capital requirements and
needs for future growth as well as its shareholder
value in the long-run.

The Board shall also take into account the
following factors of the Group when considering
the declaration and payment of dividends:

° financial results;
o cash flow situation;



. availability of distributable profits;

. business conditions and strategies;

° future operations and earnings;

° development plans;

. cash requirements;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;

° interests of shareholders;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends;
and

. any other factors that the Board may consider
relevant.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by
way of cash or scrip or by other means that the
Board considers appropriate.

Notwithstanding anything in the Dividend Policy,
the declaration and payment of dividends (if any)
by the Company is subject to the discretion of the
Board, any restrictions under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules, the laws
of Hong Kong and the Company’s Memorandum
and Articles of Association and any other
applicable laws and regulations.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene
an extraordinary general meeting

and putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meetings

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association
of the Company, any one or more Shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company by mail at
Unit 04-06, 28th Floor, China Merchants Tower,
Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition, and such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board

F.

G.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

If Shareholder(s) would like to express their views
to a matter mentioned in a proposed resolution
or other business to be dealt with at a general
meeting, they can submit a written statement of not
more than 1,000 words with respect to that matter
or business and request the Company to circulate
their written statement to Shareholders entitled to
receive notice of the meeting. Such Shareholder(s)
must represent at least (a) 2.5% of the total voting
rights of all the Shareholders having the relevant
right to vote at the meeting or (b) 50 shareholders
having the relevant right to vote at the meeting.

Procedures by which enquiries may be
put to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board by addressing them to the secretary
of the Company by mail at Unit 04-06, 28th Floor,
China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-
200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong. The
company secretary of the Company is responsible for
forwarding communications relating to matters within
the Board’s direct responsibilities to the Board and
communications relating to ordinary business matters,
such as suggestions and inquiries, to the Directors of
the Company.

Constitutional Documents

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31st December,
2021.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is Mr. Lui Siu Keung. He
took no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year ended 31st December,
2021.

ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

45



>

46

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors of the Company present their annual report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31st December, 2021.

Further discussion and analysis of the activities as
required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, including a fair review of the business,
an analysis using key performance indicators and an
indication of likely future development in the Group’s
business can be found in the “Chairman’s Statement”, “CEO
Message” and the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
sections of this annual report (which form part of this
report of the Directors).

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company
and provides corporate management services to its
subsidiaries. The activities of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 46 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st
December, 2021 are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 63 and 64.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK7 cents per ordinary share (payable in cash) for the
year ended 31st December, 2020 to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company
on 14th July, 2021 and the final dividend was paid on 3rd
August, 2021. The payment of dividends was approved
by the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 3rd June, 2021.

The Board recommended the payment of an interim
dividend of HK3 cents per ordinary share (payable in cash)
for the year ended 31st December, 2021 to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 20th October, 2021 and the interim dividend
was paid on 15th November, 2021.
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The Board has recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK8 cents per ordinary share (payable in cash)
and a special dividend of HK5 cents per ordinary share
(payable in cash) for the year ended 31st December, 2021
to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 10th June, 2022 and the
proposed final dividend and special dividend are expected
to be paid on or about 15th July, 2022. The payment
of dividends shall be subject to the approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

Investment Properties and Pipelines

The Group revalued all of its investment properties and
pipelines included in property, plant and equipment at the
year end date. The decrease in fair value of investment
properties, which has been debited to profit or loss,
amounted to HK$557,000. The investment properties are
primarily used as offices and shop in the PRC.

Details of the movements during the year in investment
properties and pipelines of the Group are set out in
notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

Share Capital

Details of movements during the year in the share capital
of the Company are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the
Cayman lIslands, the share premium of the Company is
available for distributions as dividends to shareholders
subject to the provisions of its Articles of Association
and provided that immediately following the distribution
of dividends, the Company is able to pay its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
In the opinion of the directors, as at 31st December,
2021, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
amounted to HK$2,092,417,000 which consisted of share
premium of HK$2,729,796,000 and accumulated loss of
HK$637,379,000.



PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31st December, 2021.

Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Wenliang (Chairman)
Mr. Yiu Chi Shing (Vice Chairman)
(appointed with effect from 29th October, 2021)
Mr. Lui Siu Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Jia Kun (Executive President)
Mr. Lu Zhaoheng
Mr. Li Yan

Non-executive Director

Mr. Xu Yongxuan (Vice Chairman)
(resigned with effect from 29th October, 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Chunyan
Dr. Luo Yongtai
Ms. Liu Yu Jie

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Lui Siu Keung, Mr. Lu Zhaoheng and Mr.
Jia Kun will retire by rotation at the upcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Directors Service Contracts

The Company renewed the service contracts with each
of the Directors of the Company, except for Ms. Liu Yu
Jie (whose service contract was renewed on 3rd June,
2020), on 11th July, 2021. The Company entered into
service contracts with Mr. Li Yan and Mr. Jia Kun on
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25th February, 2019 and with Mr. Yiu Chi Shing on 29th
October, 2021. The term of appointment for all Directors
under their respective service contracts, including the
independent non-executive Directors, is three years and
the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election in accordance with the Articles of Association
and the CG Code. There are no existing or proposed
directors’ service contracts which are not determinable
by the employer within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts of Significance

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in which a Director or an entity connected with the
Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(@) Interests of Directors

As at 31st December, 2021, the interests and short
positions of the Directors and chief executive of
the Company in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (a)
which were required to be notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the
Listing Rules were as follows:
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Long positions in the shares/underlying shares of the Company

Number of
shares and/or

Approximate
shareholding
interest as

underlying disclosed under
Name of Directors Notes shares Type of interests the SFO
Mr. Wang Wenliang 1 796,125,206 Beneficial/Interest in controlled 28.09%

corporation/Interest of spouse

Mr. Yiu Chi Shing 2 188,000,000 Interest in controlled corporation 6.63%
Mr. Lui Siu Keung 3 19,665,179 Beneficial 0.69%
Mr. Jia Kun 4 7,055,031 Beneficial 0.25%
Mr. Lu Zhaoheng 5 6,040,984 Beneficial 0.21%
Mr. Li Yan 6 9,013,063 Beneficial 0.32%
Mr. Li Chunyan 7 1,610,761 Beneficial 0.05%
Dr. Luo Yongtai 8 502,900 Beneficial 0.02%
Ms. Liu Yu Jie 9 502,900 Beneficial 0.02%
Notes: These shares were directly held by Mr. Jia Kun.

ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

Among these shares and/or underlying shares,
763,862,289 shares were held by Hezhong
Investment Holding Company Limited (“Hezhong”).
Mr. Wang Wenliang was beneficially interested
in 100% of the issued share capital of Hezhong.
The remaining 21,324,616 shares and 10,938,301
shares were directly held by Mr. Wang Wenliang

and his spouse respectively.

These shares were held by Fundway International
Investment Limited (“Fundway”). Mr. Yiu Chi Shing
was beneficially interested in 100% of the issued

share capital of Fundway.

These comprise 12,121,679 shares directly held
by Mr. Lui Siu Keung and 7,543,500 underlying
shares issuable upon exercise of the rights
attaching to the 7,543,500 share options at an
exercise price of HK$5.468 per share granted

under the New Share Option Scheme.
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These comprise 3,023,584 shares directly held by
Mr. Lu Zhaoheng and 3,017,400 underlying shares
issuable upon exercise of the rights attaching to
the 3,017,400 share options at an exercise price
of HK$5.468 per share granted under the New
Share Option Scheme.

These shares were directly held by Mr. Li Yan.

These comprise 1,007,861 shares directly held by
Mr. Li Chunyan and 502,900 underlying shares
issuable upon exercise of the rights attaching to
the 502,900 share options at an exercise price of
HK$5.468 per share granted under the New Share
Option Scheme.

These represent underlying shares issuable upon
exercise of the rights attaching to the 502,900
share options at an exercise price of HK$5.468
per share granted under the New Share Option

Scheme.



9. These represent underlying shares issuable upon
exercise of the rights attaching to the 502,900
share options at an exercise price of HK$5.468
per share granted under the New Share Option

Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December,
2021, none of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company had or was deemed to have
any interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (ii) are required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the

Long positions in the shares of the Company

(b)
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register referred to therein; or (iii) are required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Interests of substantial shareholders of
the Company

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31st
December, 2021, the following entities (not being
Directors or chief executive of the Company)
had, or were deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate
shareholding interest

as disclosed under the

Name of shareholder Notes Type of interests Number of Shares SFO

(Note 5)
China Gas Holdings Limited 1 Interest of controlled corporation 1,067,906,071 37.33%
Hezhong 2 Beneficial 763,862,289 26.96%
Ms. Feng Halyan 3 Beneficial/Interest of spouse 761,899,206 26.89%
Fundway 4 Beneficial 188,000,000 6.63%
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Notes:

1. According to the disclosure of interests filings
as shown in the website of the Stock Exchange
as at 31st December, 2021, China Gas Holdings
Limited held these shares through Rich Legend
International Limited (“Rich Legend”), its wholly-
owned subsidiary, and is therefore deemed to be
interested in the 1,057,905,071 shares held by
Rich Legend.

2. Hezhong was beneficially interested in 763,862,289
shares. Mr. Wang Wenliang was beneficially
interested in 100% of the issued share capital of
Hezhong.

3. Ms. Feng Haiyan directly held 10,938,301 shares
and was deemed to be interested in 750,960,905
shares under the SFO as she is the spouse of Mr.
Wang Wenliang.

4. Fundway was beneficially interested in 188,000,000
shares. Mr. Yiu Chi Shing was beneficially
interested in 100% of the issued share capital of
Fundway.

5. As at 31st December, 2021, the total number of
issued shares of the Company was 2,833,832,157.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December,
2021, the Directors were not aware of any other
person (other than the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company) who had, or was
deemed to have, interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Y @0

Share option scheme

On 24th October, 2003, the Company adopted a share
option scheme (“Old Share Option Scheme”) pursuant
to which the Directors were authorised to grant share
option to its employees (including executive directors and
employees of any of its subsidiaries) or any person who
has contributed or will contribute to the Group. The Old
Share Option Scheme was terminated and replaced by a
new share option scheme (“New Share Option Scheme”)
on 3rd May, 2013 by an ordinary resolution passed by
the shareholders of the Company at the annual general
meeting held on 3rd May, 2013.

As at 31st December, 2021, there was no share options
outstanding under Old Share Option Scheme.

The following table discloses movements of the
Company’s share options granted to the Directors under
the Old Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31st
December, 2021:
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Number of share options granted under the Old Share Option Scheme

Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding

Outstanding during during during at 31st

Exercise/ Exercise at 1st January, the year the year the year December,

Name of Director Date of grant vesting period price 2021 under review under review under review 2021
HKS

Xu Yongxuan (Note) 1th Apri, 2011 11th Aprl, 2011 1o 0.4872 1,005,800 - - (1,006,800) -

10th April, 2021

1,006,800 - - (1,006,800) -

Exercisable at the end of the period -

Weighted average exercise price HK$0.4872 - - HK$0.4827 -

Note:

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is
to reward participants who have contributed or will
contribute to the Group and to encourage participants
to work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole. Under the New Share Option
Scheme, the Directors may offer share options to any
directors and employees of the Group and any advisors,
consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers of any member of
the Group who the board of directors of the Company
considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will
contribute to the Group, to subscribe for shares in the
Company in accordance with the terms of the New Share
Option Scheme.

Mr. Xu Yongxuan retired a non-executive director and vice chairman of the Company with effect from 29th October, 2021.

The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing on 3rd May, 2013
and will expire on 2nd May, 2023. Options granted under
the New Share Option Scheme may be exercised during
the period to be determined and notified by the Board
to the grantee at the time of making an offer which shall
not expire later than 10 years from the date of grant. An
amount of HK$1.00 is payable within 28 days from the
day of grant upon acceptance of the grant of options.
The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less than
the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant which must
be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares.
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The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all share options to be granted under
the New Share Option Scheme shall not, in the absence
of shareholders’ approval, in aggregate exceed 10% in
nominal amount of the aggregate of shares in issue on
the adoption date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). Options
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the New Share
Option Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The Company may renew the Scheme Mandate Limit at
any time subject to prior shareholders’ approval but in any
event, the total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the
New Share Option Scheme under the limit as refreshed
must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of the Shareholders’ approval of the renewed limit.
Options previously granted under the New Share Option
Scheme (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed
in accordance with the terms or exercised options) will
not be counted for the purpose of calculating the limit as
renewed.

Further, no options will be granted which would result in
the maximum aggregate number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
but yet to be exercised under the New Share Option
Scheme, the existing options granted under the Old Share
Option Scheme, in aggregate, 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each grantee under
the New Share Option Scheme (including both exercised
and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not
(when aggregated with any shares subject to options granted
during such period under any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company other than those options granted pursuant
to specific approval by the shareholders in a general
meeting) exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
for the time being.
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On 5th January, 2018, 126,000,000 share options to
subscribe for an aggregate of 126,000,000 ordinary shares
of the Company at par value of HK$0.01 each were
granted to the eligible participants (including Directors) by
the Company pursuant to the New Share Option Scheme.
The exercise price of such share options granted under
the New Share Option Scheme was HK$5.5 per share.
The share options granted shall be valid for a period of
ten years from the date of grant. The closing price of the
Company’s shares on 4th January, 2018, being the date
immediately before the date on which the share options
under the New Share Option Scheme were granted, was
HK$4.98. As announced by the Company on 1st August,
2018, the exercise price and the number of options
outstanding as at that date were adjusted to HK$5.468
per share and 126,730,800 options in accordance with the
terms of the New Share Option Scheme, as a result of the
issue of scrip shares by the Company to its shareholders
on 1st August, 2018.

The Scheme Mandate Limit of the New Share Option
Scheme is 252,400,768. As at the date of this report,
126,730,800 share options were granted, 3,023,200 share
options have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
New Share Option Scheme, 107,614,800 Shares have
been issued under the New Share Option Scheme and the
number of share options outstanding was 16,092,800. The
maximum number of share options which may be granted
under the New Share Option Scheme is 128,693,168. The
outstanding share options, if converted in full into shares
of the Company, and the number of options available for
future grant, if granted and converted in full, represent
approximately 0.57% and 4.54% of the number of issued
shares of the Company as at the date of this report,
respectively.
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The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share options granted to the eligible participants (including
Directors) under the New Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31st December, 2021:

Number of share options granted under the New Share Option Scheme

Name of participants Granted Exercised Forfeited Outstanding

who are Directors Outstanding during during during at 31st

and category of other Exercise/ Exercise at 1st the year the year the year December,

participants Date of grant vesting period price  January, 2021 under review under review under review 2021
HKS

Lui Siu Keung 5th January, 2018 5th January, 2018 o 5468 7,543,500 - - - 7,543,500

dih January, 2028

Lu Zhacheng 5th January, 2018 5th January, 2018 to 5468 3,017,400 - - - 3,017,400
i January, 2028

Xu Yongxuan (Note) 5th January, 2018 5th January, 2018 to 5468 502,900 - - - 502,900
4t January, 2028

Li Chunyan 5th January, 2018 5th January, 2018 to 5.468 502,900 - - - 502,900
4th January, 2028

Luo Yongtal 5th January, 2018 5th January, 2018 to 5468 502,900 - - - 502,900
4ih January, 2028

Liu Yu Jie 5th January, 2018 5th January, 2018 1o 5468 502,900 - - - 502,900
4t January, 2028

12,572,500 - - - 12,572,500

Employees 5th January, 2018 5th January, 2018 fo 5468 3,017,400 - (1,000,000) (6,800) 2,011,600
dih January, 2028

Emp‘oyees Ath Janua"yy 2018 17th Decembef‘ 2019 to 5.468 1‘508‘700 - - - 1,608‘700
i January, 2028

17,098,600 - (1,000,000) (6,800) 16,092,800

Exercisable at the end of the period 16,092,800

Weighted average exercise price HK$5.468 - HK$5.468 HK$5.468 HKS5.468

Note: Mr. Xu Yongxuan retired as a non-executive director and vice chairman of the Company with effect with 29th October, 2021.
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Save as disclosed above, (i) at no time during the year
under review was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company; and (i) no other equity-
linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into
any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares were entered into by the Company during
the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

Connected Transaction

To the extent the related party transactions set out
in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements
constitute connected transactions of the Company (i.e.
the transactions referred to in note 27(b), note 31 and
note 41(b)), they are fully exempt under Rule 14A.76 or
Rule 14A.95 (as the case may be) of the Listing Rules. The
Board confirms that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31st December,
2021.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group.
The Group has established policies to reduce wastewater
and solid wastes and monitor the waste emissions to
comply with relevant environmental laws and regulations
in different region in the PRC.

The Group has formulated relevant policies to protect
employees’ rights and strictly complied with relevant laws
and regulations. We have clear requirements for working
hours and holidays, which complies with Labour Contract
Law and relevant national laws and regulations and
prohibits employment of child labour or forced labour.
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The Group has formulated various rules in relation to
occupational health and work safety in accordance with
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Work Safety
to specify work safety responsibilities of staff at all levels,
and ensure that these rules and measures are strictly
followed.

Environmental policies

The Group has established a mechanism to monitor,
formulate and implement measures to ensure proper
management and reduction of greenhouse gases, air
pollutants, waste and wastewater emissions from its
operations.

To reduce greenhouse gas emissions, a video
conferencing system was used by the Group to reduce the
number of physical meetings. There was a slight reduction
in greenhouse gas emissions (measured by intensity
per head) in the year ended 31st December 2021 when
compared to the preceding year.

To enhance water usage efficiency, the Group has
introduced water-saving technologies such as water-
saving faucets and water-saving toilet systems, thereby
reducing consumption in daily operations.

The Group has set waste reduction goals and is
committed to reducing hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes per head to minimize the environmental impact of
office operations.

The Group regularly reviews its energy targets and
indicators through the use of an energy management
system based on data from previous years to lower its
electricity consumption per head and to continuously
enhance the Group’s energy performance.



Key Relationship with Employees

The Group has put in place a comprehensive employment
system covering compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare. In order to meet the needs of business expansion,
the Group makes active efforts to recruit talent through
open and campus recruitment activities based on the
principles of fair competition, two-way selection and merit
selection. We have formulated Performance Management
System, pursuant to which we provide fair and reasonable
promotion opportunities to our employees. The ranks and
remuneration of employees are determined according
to their skills, contributions and scope of influence. The
Group also provides thorough and comprehensive training
for staff at all levels through diversified means including
lectures, practical training, sharing and learning, onsite
observation and outreach training.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers were less than 4.76% of total turnover
for the year. The Group’s largest customer accounted
for 1.2% of the total sales for the year. The Group
allows an average credit period of 30 days to its trade
customers. Customers are mainly local reputable real
estate developers and corporate entities in the PRC and no
significant counterparty default was noted in the past. The
concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer
base being large and unrelated.

For the year ended 31st December, 2021, our five largest
suppliers comprised 51.3% of our total purchase for the
year. The Group’s largest supplier accounted for 33.7% of
the total purchase for the year. Long-term relationship has
been established with major suppliers to ensure stable
supply of gas.

At no time during the year did a director, a close associate
of a director, or a shareholder of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) have an interest in any of the
Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.
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Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association, or the laws of Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Confirmation from Independent Non-
executive Directors

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Board is not aware of any circumstances which may
influence the independent non-executive Directors in
exercising their independent judgement.

Emolument Policy

The Group’s remuneration and bonus policies are determined
based on the performance of individual employees.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, the Directors’ duties and responsibilities
within the Group and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as
an incentive to directors and eligible employees, details
of the scheme are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Retirement Benefits Plans

The Group had joined the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme under the rules and regulations of the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority. The
Group’s employees in Hong Kong are required to join
the scheme. The Group and each employee employed in
Hong Kong are required to make a contribution of 5% on
the employees’ monthly relevant income with a maximum
monthly contribution of HK$1,500 per person.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

55



>

56

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

No forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in such contributions) may be used by the employer to
reduce the existing level of contributions.

The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC, in compliance
with the applicable regulations of the PRC, participated
in various central pension schemes operated by the
relevant municipal and provincial governments. These
subsidiaries are required to make defined contributions
to these schemes at rates ranging from 15% to 30% of
their covered payroll. The Group has no other material
obligation for the payment of its staff’s retirement and
other post-retirement benefits other than the contributions
described above.

Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to article 165 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, every director of the Company shall be
entitled to be indemnified and assured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his/her office or trusts in relation thereto
provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter
in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach
to any of the said directors. Such provision was in force
during the year ended 31st December, 2021 and remained
in force as of the date of this report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Facing
by the Group

Work safety is the most important operational risk facing
by the Group. The Group has formulated various rules
in relation to occupational health and work safety in
accordance with the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Work Safety to specify work safety responsibilities
of staff at all levels, and ensure that these rules and
measures are strictly followed. We organize annual training
for all staff in respect of management, environment to
safety systems, and departments organize their own
relevant training as well, with the aim of raising employees’
awareness of prevention. We have also equipped our
employees with appropriate safety gear to ensure their
work safety. For frontline positions, all employees are
strictly required to obtain certificates of labour skills from
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the government, ensuring that the related personnel are
equipped with the professional qualifications and safety
knowledge about dangerous working conditions.

We proactively prevent gas leakage. Apart from thorough
and rigorous control systems including the Rules on
Gas Pipeline Network Safety Inspection, we have also
equipped the pipeline network management department
with adequate manpower and equipment, ensuring that
any leakage can be noticed timely. We also greatly
publicize the Group’s hotline to encourage the public to
report any gas leakage.

Please refer to note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements for a summary of financial risks of the Group.
Competing Business

As far as the Directors are aware, during the year, none
of the Directors had any interest in a business which
competed with or might compete with the business of the
Group.

Sufficiency of Public Float

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the year ended 31st December, 2021.
Donations

During the year under review, the Group made charitable and
other donations amounted to approximately RMB5,852,000.
Auditor

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wang Wenliang
Chairman

Hong Kong
28th March, 2022
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TO THE MEMBERS OF ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS ZHONGYU GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhongyu Energy Holdings Limited (formerly known as Zhongyu
Gas Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 63
to 195, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st December, 2021, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31st December, 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill, other intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill, other
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of the Group as a key audit matter due to their significance
to the consolidated financial statements and significant judgment
and estimation involved in the impairment assessment.

As at 31st December, 2021, the carrying amounts of goodwill,
other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets of HK$468,579,000, HK$1,406,259,000,
HK$8,688,638,000 and HK$316,154,000 respectively were
assessed for impairment as disclosed in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
the relevant assets have been allocated to individual cash-
generating units ("CGUs") relating to (i) sales of gas, (i) pipeline
construction, (iii) different subsidiaries of Harmony Gas Holdings
Limited engaging in sales of gas and (iv) design and consulting
of energy projects. The recoverable amounts of the respective
CGUs have been determined with reference to the value in use
of the relevant CGUs, which require adoption of key assumptions
such as suitable discount rates and growth rates, in order to
calculate the present value of the estimated future cash flows.
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets included:

° understanding management’'s process over impairment
assessment of goodwill, other intangible assets, property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets;

° obtaining the cash flow forecasts prepared by the
management that were used to calculate the value in
use of the CGUs to which the Group's goodwill, other
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are allocated and understanding the
key management assumptions adopted in these cash
flow forecasts through enquiries with the management;

o challenging of the models used including the
macroeconomic assumptions used;
° comparing key assumptions (including discount rates and

growth rates) used in the model to external data;

assessing the reasonableness of forecasted future cash
flows by comparing to historical performance; and

° performing sensitivity analysis on key assumptions,
including discount rates and growth rates adopted.
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Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of pipelines included in property, plant and
equipment

Included in the property, plant and equipment are pipelines which
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
revalued amounts less accumulated depreciation. We identified
valuation of pipelines as a key audit matter due to the significance
of this balance to the consolidated financial statements and the
complex and subjective judgments and estimates involved in:

° the determination of valuation techniques, which is
depreciated replacement cost method considering the
new replacement cost of the pipelines and deduction for
obsolescence and

° the selection of different inputs in the model.

The directors of the Company adopt revaluation model to
measure pipelines included in property, plant and equipment.
The surplus resulted from the revaluation is dealt with in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, under the
heading of property revaluation reserve. As disclosed in note
16 to the consolidated financial statements, the fair value of the
pipelines amounted to HK$9,327,740,000 as at 31st December,
2021 with the revaluation increase of the pipelines for the year
of HK$667,836,000 recorded in other comprehensive income.

The fair value was determined by the directors with reference to
the valuations performed by an independent professional valuer
(the "Valuer”) engaged by the Group.

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of pipelines included
in property, plant and equipment included:

° assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the Valuer;
o evaluating management’'s process in respect of reviewing

the valuation performed by the Valuer;

° obtaining the valuation reports for pipelines, and
challenging the relevance and reasonableness of valuation
techniques used by the Valuer;

o holding discussion with management of the Group and
the Valuer to understand the valuation basis, methodology
used and underlying assumptions applied; and

o assessing the reasonableness of key inputs which were
used to determine the fair value under depreciated
replacement cost method, including historical labour cost
and historical raw chemical materials purchasing price
indices for industrial producers, by comparing with the
historical construction prices of the pipelines constructed
by the Group in the relevant valuation period.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic

alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities

within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Yu Kin Man.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28th March, 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

NOTES 2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
Turnover 5 11,344,500 8,643,710
Cost of sales (9,155,563) (6,596,693)
Gross profit 2,188,937 1,947,017
Other gains and losses 7 220,525 546,449
Other income 148,161 107,743
Selling and distribution costs (246,598) (197,315)
Administrative expenses (590,154) (466,071)
Reversal of impairment loss (impairment loss) on financial assets and contract
assets 1,178 (51,359)
Impairment loss on other intangible assets - (265,274)
Finance costs 9 (189,627) (255,849)
Share of results of associates 50,441 51,5658
Share of results of joint ventures (1,361) (1,468)
Profit before tax 1,581,502 1,415,431
Income tax expenses 10 (318,859) (802,194)
Profit for the year 11 1,262,643 1,113,237
Other comprehensive income (expense)
ltems that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation from functional currency to
presentation currency 185,031 295,479
Fair value gain on revaluation of pipelines included in property, plant and
equipment 16 667,836 143,903
Deferred tax arising from revaluation of pipelines included in property, plant
and equipment (166,959) (35,976)
Other comprehensive income for the year 685,908 403,406
Total comprehensive income for the year 1,948,551 1,516,643
Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 1,188,997 1,056,617
Non-controlling interests 73,646 56,620
1,262,643 1,118,237
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31st December, 2021 dﬁ\"

| W= -

NOTE 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company 1,826,885 1,433,620
Non-controlling interests 121,666 83,023
1,948,551 1,616,643

Earnings per share 14
Basic HK44.20 cents HK39.95 cents
Diluted HK44.14 cents HK39.88 cents
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31st December, 2021

NOTES 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Non-current assets
Investment properties 15 8,942 9,236
Property, plant and equipment 16 14,995,812 12,747,239
Right-of-use assets 17 616,721 592,421
Goodwill 18 468,579 437,188
Other intangible assets 19 1,406,259 1,379,061
Long-term deposits, prepayments and other receivables 20 1,247,331 1,310,467
Interests in associates 21 714,292 507,532
Interests in joint ventures 22 18,358 19,176
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 23 86,257 83,875
19,562,551 17,086,195
Current assets
Inventories 24 689,895 589,598
Properties under development for sale 25 225,809 166,150
Trade receivables 26 2,047,401 1,771,513
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 26 1,748,685 1,690,247
Amount due from an associate 27 - 59,411
Amount due from a related party 27 9,173 8,912
Contract assets 28 515,356 609,259
Tax recoverable 4,206 4,086
Pledged bank deposits 29 48,924 4,753
Bank balances and cash 29 1,820,864 1,744,299
7,110,313 6,648,228
Current liabilities
Trade payables 30 1,730,216 1,882,389
Other payables and accrued charges 30 779,694 764,520
Amount due to an associate 31 1,094 1,063
Contract liabilities 28 1,838,540 1,466,311
Borrowings 32 3,948,904 7,279,315
Lease liabilities 33 4,670 7,265
Tax payables 125,361 63,276
8,428,479 11,464,139
Net current liabilities (1,318,166) (4,915,911)
Total assets less current liabilities 18,244,385 12,170,284
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31st December, 2021

-l
NOTES 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Capital and reserves
Share capital 34 28,338 26,448
Reserves 8,630,659 5,989,591
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 8,658,997 6,016,039
Non-controlling interests 858,001 715,311
Total equity 9,516,998 6,731,350
Non-current liabilities
Deferred income and advance received 30 6,258 6,688
Borrowings 32 7,372,076 4,310,831
Lease liabilities 33 16,886 20,112
Deferred taxation 35 1,332,167 1,101,303
8,727,387 5,438,934
18,244,385 12,170,284

The consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 195 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors

on 28th March, 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

MR. WANG WENLIANG MR. LUI SIU KEUNG

DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the Company

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

Property Statutory Non-

Share  Share option  revaluation Other surplus ~ Translation ~ Accumulated controlling
Share capital ~ premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits ~ Sub-total interests Total
HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKF000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKF000 HKF 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKF 000 HK 000

(Notg | (Note i) [note 47)
At 1t January, 2020 6448 1,644,649 18981 112740 (603,692) 169,598 08 2347 4775369 660704 5436073
Proft for the year - - - - - - - 1006617 1006617 06620 1113287
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 167,171 - - 209,832 - 377,008 26,403 403406
Total comprefensive income for the year - - - 167,171 - - 0988 1006617 1433620 83023 1,016,643
Dividends paid In cash (note 13) - - - - - - - (185,139) (185,139) - (185,139)
Transfer to statufory Surplus resenve - - - - - 2342 - (23422 - - -
Dividends paid by subsidiaries to non-controling inferests - - - - - - - - - (24429) (24429
Acquistion of addtional interests in subsidries (note 37) - - - - (7811) - - - (7811) (53,026) (60,837)

Capial contioution from non-contrllng interests of

subsidries - - - - - - - - - 49,083 49,083
A1 315t Decemoer, 2020 448 1,644,649 18981 1294501 (611,503 193,020 1850 3173008 6016039 75311 673130
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

<
Attributable to owners of the Company
Property Statutory Non-
Share  Share option  revaluation Other surplus  Translation  Accumulated controlling
Share capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits ~ Sub-total interests Total
HKB000 HKF 000 HK§000 HKB000 HKB 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKB000 HKB000 HKS000 HKS 000
(Note (Note i note 47)
A1t January, 2021 448 1,644,649 18981 1294501 (617,503) 193,020 1850 3173008 6016039 710311 6731,30
Proft for the year - - - - - - - 1188997 1188997 13646 1262643
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 499,006 - - 138,632 - 637,888 48020 68,908
Total comprenensive income for the year - - - 499,066 - - 1386832 1188997 182688 1216006 1948551
Dividends paid in cash fnote 13) - - - - - - - oy @i - {200,174
Tranfer to statutory surplus resenve - - - - - 31462 - (31,482 - - -
Dividends peid by subsidiares to non-contraling inferests - - - - - - - - - (17,807) (17,807)
Capttal contrbuton from non-confroling iferests of
subsidries - - - - - - - - - 3831 3,831
Placement of shares (note 34 1880 1,088,520 - - - - - - 1,000400 - 1000400
Transaction costs afrbiiable o placement of shares - (9.621) - - - - - - (9,621) - 9,621)
Bxercise of shere options (note 36) 10 6,048 (790) - - - - - 5468 - 5,468
Forfeit of share options note 36) - - 4] - - - - 5 - - -
Lapse of share optons (note 36 - - (159) - - - - 159 - - -
At 31t December, 2021 838 27297% 1301 1,793647 (611,508) 24,502 20682 4060508 8656997 88001 951699
Notes:
(i) Other reserve mainly represents the difference between the fair values of the considerations paid and the carrying amounts of the
non-controlling interests arised from acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries.
(ii) The articles of association of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) state that they

may make an appropriation of 10% of their profit for each year (prepared under generally accepted accounting principles in the

PRC) to the statutory surplus reserve until the balance reaches 50% of the paid-in capital. The statutory surplus reserve shall only

be used for making up losses, capitalisation into paid-in capital and expansion of their production and operation.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Operating activities
Profit before tax 1,581,502 1,415,431
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 425,780 345,803
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 31,368 38,299
Amortisation of other intangible assets 76,422 82,885
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4,532 6,415
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets (1,385) -
Impairment losses (reversal of impairment losses)
— trade receivables (goods and services) - 25,634
— contract assets (1,835) 183,200
— other receivables 657 12,625
Impairment loss on other intangible assets - 265,274
Share of results of associates (50,441) (51,558)
Share of results of joint ventures 1,361 1,468
Interest income (38,583) (38,791)
Finance costs 189,627 255,849
Decrease in fair value of investment properties 557 481
Net foreign exchange gains (97,791) (431,885)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 2,121,771 1,941,030
Increase in inventories (81,313) (83,283)
Increase in trade receivables (219,282) (370,146)
Increase in deposits, prepayments and other receivables (17,058) (415,088)
Decrease (increase) in contract assets 112,244 (78,780)
Increase in properties under development for sale (563,963) (45,869)
Decrease in deferred income and advances received (620) (603)
(Decrease) increase in trade payables (205,566) 567,381
(Decrease) increase in other payables and accrued charges (51,173) 297,251
Increase in contract liabilities 417,946 290,205
Cash generated from operations 2,022,986 2,102,098
Interest received 15,264 14,578
Income taxes paid (242,715) (223,300)
Withholding tax paid - (7,279)
Net cash from operating activities 1,795,535 1,886,097
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

<
NOTE 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Investing activities
Dividend received from an associate 33,735 -
Repayment from an associate 60,241 -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (1,345,295) (1,667,252)
Payments of right-of-use assets (23,266) (538)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 54,413 22,637
Placement of pledged bank deposits (43,373) (4,498)
Net cash inflow on acquisition of a subsidiary 38 4,025 -
Payments of unsettled consideration of acquisitions of subsidiaries (27,898) (12,696)
Additional investment in an associate (171,932) -
Additional investment to a joint venture - (9,972)
Additional investments in financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income - (281)
Addition of other intangible assets (167) (169)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment and leasehold
lands (167,532) (205,842)
Net cash used in investing activities (1,627,049) (1,878,711)
Financing activities
Interest paid (311,753) (362,271)
Loan facilities fees paid (130,232) (40,625)
Acquisitions of additional interests in subsidiaries - (33,805)
New borrowings raised 7,691,595 6,332,888
Repayments of lease liabilities (14,792) (74,420)
Repayments of borrowings (8,125,357) (5,931,439)
Dividend paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling interests (4,342) (24,423)
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries 25,366 49,033
Proceeds from placement of shares 1,090,400 -
Transaction costs attributable to placement of shares (9,621) -
Exercise of share options 5,468 -
Dividends paid (259,992) (177,393)
Net cash used in financing activities (43,260) (2562,455)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 125,226 (245,069)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January 1,744,299 1,903,313
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (48,661) 86,055
Cash and cash equivalents at 31st December, represented by bank
balances and cash 1,820,864 1,744,299
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

GENERAL INFORMATION

Zhongyu Energy Holdings Limited (formerly known as Zhongyu Gas Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) is a public
limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 10th December,
2021, the shareholders have approved to change the name of the Company from “Zhongyu Gas Holdings Limited”
to “Zhongyu Energy Holdings Limited”.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section to the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and provides corporate management services to its subsidiaries.
The Company’s subsidiaries are principally engaged in the development, construction and operation of natural gas
projects and development of smart energy in the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$” or “HKD”), which is different from
the Company’s functional currency of Renminbi (“RMB”). The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) adopt HK$
as presentation currency for the convenience of the financial statements users as the Company’s shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) have applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2021 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concession

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2
and HKFRS 16
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the
International Accounting Standards Board issued in June 2021 which clarified the costs an entity should include as
“estimated costs necessary to make the sale” when determining the net realisable value of inventories.

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments relate to
changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial liabilities and
lease liabilities as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, specific hedge accounting requirements and
the related disclosure requirements applying HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”.

As at 1st January, 2021, the Group has several financial liabilities, the interests of which are indexed to
benchmark rates that will or may be subject to interest rate benchmark reform. The following table shows the
total amounts of outstanding contracts. The amounts of financial liabilities are shown at their carrying amounts.

HKD Hong Kong USD London
Interbank Offered Interbank Offered
Rate ("HIBOR") Rate ("LIBOR")
HK$'000 HK$'000
Financial liabilities
Bank loans 4,639,579 4,054,941

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated financial statements as none of the relevant
contracts has been transitioned to the relevant replacement rates during the year. The Group will apply
the practical expedient in relation to the changes in contractual cash flows resulting from the interest rate
benchmark reform for bank loans measured at amortised cost. Additional disclosures as required by HKFRS
7 are set out in note 44.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37
Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments?®

Reference to the Conceptual Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture*

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30th June, 2021’

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting Estimates?®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 - 20202

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2022
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2023
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the Directors anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Reference to the Conceptual Framework”

The amendments:

o update a reference in HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” so that it refers to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) instead of Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2010 issued in October 2010);
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Reference to the Conceptual Framework” (Continued)

. add a requirement that, for transactions and other events within the scope of HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets” or HK(IFRIC) — Int 21 “Levies”, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC) —
Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination;
and

o add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The Group will apply the amendments prospectively to business combinations for which the date of acquisition is
on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1st January, 2022.

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)”

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at
least twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance with covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met
at the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does not test compliance until a later date; and

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification as current or
non-current only if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
“Financial Instruments: Presentation”.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence of the “Amendments to HKAS 1” to align
the corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31st December, 2021, and the related terms and conditions

stipulated in the agreements between the Group and the relevant lenders, the application of the amendments will
not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting
Policies”

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with “material accounting
policy information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other information
included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be material because of the nature of the related
transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to
disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to
illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge
whether information about an accounting policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples are
added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant accounting policies. The impacts of application,
if any, will be disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA.
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

As at 31st December, 2021, the Group has net current liabilities of HK$1,318,166,000.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (Continued)

The Directors have therefore given careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group when preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The Directors believe that the Group will be able to meet in full its
financial obligations as and when they fall due for the foreseeable future, taking into accounts the cash flows
from the profitable operations and new bank borrowings obtained by the Group amounting to appropriately
HK$1,576,386,000 subsequent to 31st December, 2021 in which the borrowings are due after one year from
the dates of drawdown. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
property, plant and equipment, financial instruments and investment properties that are measured at revalued
amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-
based Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments, pipelines included in property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets and
investment properties which are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs
is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of the relevant reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in
a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet
the definitions of an asset and a liability in the “Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements” (replaced by the “Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting” issued in October 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their
fair value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee
Benefits” respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” at
the acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition date, except
for leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date. Right-of-use assets
are recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with market terms.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as
at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or a group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or a group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment at the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit (or a group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit (or any of the cash-generating unit within group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of profit
or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-
generating unit within a group of cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured
on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of the associates and joint venture are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of the associates and
joint venture used for equity accounting purpose are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of
the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate and a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or joint venture
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate
or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the investments in associates and a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate or joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and
the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or
joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting

from the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate and joint venture that are not related to the Group.

82  zHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2021



3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or
a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are accounted for and presented on
a net basis.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured based on input method,
which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation, that best
depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised amount of consideration for the effects of
the time value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer
or the Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer. In those
circumstances, the contract contains a significant financing component. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the associated goods or services is less
than one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for any
significant financing component.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes (other than assets under construction as described below) and are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost or fair value less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Pipelines are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair
value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation. Revaluations are performed
with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the estimated fair
values at the end of the reporting period.

84  zHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2021



3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Any revaluation increase arising from revaluation of property, plant and equipment is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses
a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase
is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously expensed. A decrease in net carrying
amount arising on revaluation of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss to the extent
that it exceeds the balance, if any, in the property revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of
that asset. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable revaluation surplus is
transferred to accumulated profits.

Assets including building in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attribute to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property, plant and equipment,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

For a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to owner-occupied property, the property deemed
cost for subsequent accounting shall be its fair value at the date of change in use.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term, the carrying
amount of the relevant right-of-use assets are transferred to property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or revalued amount of assets other than assets under
construction less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Leasehold land and building for own use

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties which includes both leasehold land
and building elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is
presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position except for those that
are classified and accounted for as investment properties under the fair value model. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, or fair value at the date of transfer including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease income. All of the Group’s property
interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are classified and
accounted for as investment properties and are measured using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease component,

and instead account for the lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:
. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; and
. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Except for investment properties that are measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term, upon exercising
purchase options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the related accumulated depreciation and
impairment loss are transferred to property plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property and inventories
as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property and inventories are presented within “investment properties” and “properties
under development for sale” respectively.

The Group transfers a leasehold land from right-of-use assets to properties under development for sale
when there is a change in use to hold the leasehold land for sale rather than in the production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative purposes. The cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the
related accumulated depreciation and impairment loss are transferred to property under development for sale.

88  zHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2021



3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, if any.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever the lease term has changed, in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and
° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price

for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease

liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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| NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to
the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term except for investment properties measured under fair value model.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and state-managed retirement benefit schemes are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as
an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and
sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented
under “other income”.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis (see accounting policy in respect of impairment on
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill below).

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives
are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use
or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in

which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and
is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises the
right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-
of-use assets over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities results in net deductible
temporary differences.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities and provision for
decommissioning and restoration in which the tax deductions are attributable to ultimate costs incurred, the
Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating
to the relevant assets and related liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on the
relevant assets over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities and the estimated cost
for decommissioning and restoration results in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity
by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contract with Customers” (“HKFRS 15”). Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and
o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal

and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application
of HKFRS 9 or initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination
to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.
A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at the

amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost
of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.

(ii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred
to accumulated profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Group’s right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery
of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other income” line item in profit
or loss.

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or

designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, refundable deposits, other receivables, amount due from an associate, amount
due from a related party, pledged bank deposits and bank balances) and contract assets which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets.
For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case, the Group recognises lifetime

ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been

a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets (Continued)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact

on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial

asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is

in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the

counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,

taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude
of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation
of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables/contract assets are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by

adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables, other receivables and contract
assets where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition
to measure at FVTOCI upon application of HKFRS 9, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated profits.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net
of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables, amount due to an associate and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at
the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share options
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in the share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to accumulated profits.

Inventories

Inventories, including construction materials, gas appliances, consumables and spare parts, are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Properties under development for sale

Properties under development which are intended to be sold upon completion of development are classified
as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element which is measured at cost model in accordance
with the accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties for/under development/properties for sale are
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a specific identification basis
including allocation of the related development expenditure incurred and where appropriate, borrowing costs
capitalised. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for the properties less estimated cost
to completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than
the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period. Exchange differences arising from the translation of the Company’s functional currency,
RMB, to the presentation currency of the consolidated financial statements, HK$, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate) and will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit, corporates assets are allocated to individual cash-generating units when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate assets may be impaired. If
such indication exists, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit or a group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to
the other assets of the unit or a group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under that standard.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of goodwill above) (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase under that standard.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the Directors are required to
make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Impairment assessment of goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

Determining whether goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of relevant assets or the cash-generating unit to which the
assets belongs. The recoverable amount is determined based on the value in use calculation which requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from relevant assets or the cash-generating units and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected or
due to changes in estimates, a material impairment loss may arise. Details of the recoverable amount calculation for
the cash-generating units in respect of (i) sales of gas, (ii) pipeline construction, (jii) different subsidiaries of Harmony
Gas Holdings Limited (“Harmony Gas”) engaging in sales of gas and (iv) design and consulting of energy projects are
set out in note 18. As at 31st December, 2021, the carrying amounts of goodwill, other intangible assets, property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of HK$468,579,000 (2020: HK$437,188,000), HK$1,406,259,000 (2020:
HK$1,379,061,000), HK$8,688,538,000 (2020: HK$7,695,606,000) and HK$316,154,000 (2020: HK$311,751,000)
respectively were assessed for impairment. During the year 31st December, 2020, impairment losses of other
intangible assets amounted to HK$265,274,000 was recognised as disclosed in note 19.
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4, KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Valuation of pipelines included in property, plant and equipment

As described in note 16, pipelines included in property, plant and equipment were revalued as at 31st December,
2021 based on depreciated replacement cost method (“DRC”) determined by an independent professional valuer.
Such valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and may materially differ
from the actual results. In making the estimation for depreciated replacement cost for pipelines, the independent
professional valuer considers information from the aggregate amount of the new replacement cost of the pipelines
and deductions for obsolescence at the end of the reporting period. As at 31st December, 2021, the carrying
amount of pipelines included in property, plant and equipment were HK$9,327,740,000 (2020: HK$8,089,944,000).

5. TURNOVER

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Types of goods or services
Sales of gas 9,290,532 6,190,069
Gas pipeline construction 1,327,942 1,488,639
Value-added services 464,507 635,951
Sales of compressed natural gas or liquefied natural gas (“CNG/LNG”)
in vehicle filling stations 261,519 229,051
Total 11,344,500 8,543,710
Timing of revenue recognition
A point in time 10,016,558 7,065,071
Over time 1,327,942 1,488,639
Total 11,344,500 8,543,710

All the revenue from contracts with customers are derived from the PRC.

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:
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TURNOVER (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Sales of goods

For the sales of gas, the Group would require advance payment before the usage of the natural gas
for certain customers, any shortage against the periodically actual charge for the actual usage of
natural gas will be billed by the Group accordingly. The Group allows an average credit period of 30
days to its customers for the invoices issued. These customers are required to top up the advance
payment for future usage of natural gas to be supplied by the Group.

The Group requires advance payment before the usage of the natural gas through prepaid card for
certain household users. The charge of the actual usage of natural gas will be deducted directly to the
balance of the prepaid card. These customers can only consume the natural gas up to the balance
of the prepaid card.

For the sales of CNG/LNG, stoves and liquefied petroleum gas, a receivable is recognised by the Group
when the goods are delivered to the customers as this represents the point in time at which the right
to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is required before payment is
due. The Group allows an average credit period of 30 days to its customers for the invoices issued.

Construction

The Group provides gas pipeline construction services under construction contracts with its customers.
Such contracts are entered into before construction of the gas pipeline begins. The Group’s performance
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs. Revenue from
construction of gas pipeline is recognised over time on an input method, i.e. based on the proportion
of contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs.
The Directors consider that this input method is an appropriate measure of the progress towards
complete satisfaction of these performance obligations under HKFRS 15.

The Group requires certain customers to provide upfront deposits before the commencement of the
construction which will give rise to contract liabilities until the revenue recognised on the relevant
contracts exceed the amount of the deposits. The Group is entitled to invoice customers for gas
pipeline construction services upon completion of construction works. The Group recognises contract
asset for any work performed in excess of payment from customer for the same contract. Any amount
previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables upon completion of
construction works. The Group allows an average credit period of 30 days to its customers.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation for contracts
with customers

All the contracts for sales of gas and other goods, and gas pipeline construction are for original expected

duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied

contracts is not disclosed.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s executive directors are the chief operating decision makers (“CODM?”) as they collectively make strategic
decisions on resources allocation and performance assessment.

Information that is reported to the CODM for the purpose of resources allocation and assessment of performance
focuses on the type of products delivered or services rendered which is also consistent with the basis of organisation
of the Group.

Each type of product or service represents an unique business unit within the Group whose performance is assessed
independently. No operating segments identified by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments are therefore as follows:

(a) sales of gas;

(b) gas pipeline construction;

(c) value-added services (including smart energy, sales of stoves and provision of other related services); and

(d) operation of CNG/LNG vehicle filling stations
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating and reportable segments.

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

Operation
of CNG/LNG
Gas pipeline Value-added vehicle filling
Sales of gas construction services stations Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Segment revenue 9,290,532 1,327,942 464,507 261,519 11,344,500
Segment profit 655,104 811,500 183,400 6,883 1,656,887

Unallocated other income 32,548
Unallocated other gains and losses 214,338
Unallocated central corporate expenses (131,987)
Impairment loss on other receivables (657)
Finance costs (189,627)
Profit before tax 1,581,502
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31st December, 2020
Operation
of CNG/LNG
Gas pipeline Value-added vehicle filling
Sales of gas construction services stations  Consolidated
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Segment revenue 6,190,069 1,488,639 635,951 229,051 8,543,710
Segment profit (loss) 267,494 927,926 149,573 (69,920) 1,275,073
Unallocated other income 29,084
Unallocated other gains and losses 524,670
Unallocated central corporate expenses (144,922)
Impairment losses on other receivables (12,625)
Finance costs (255,849)
Profit before tax 1,415,431

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note
3. Reportable segments represent the financial result of each segment without allocation of central administration
costs, directors’ emoluments, interest income, change in fair value of investment properties, foreign exchange gains
or losses, certain sundry income, impairment losses on other receivables and finance costs. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment.

A subsidiary of the Group also engages in the property development in the PRC and the revenue generate from
this business will be included as the consolidated revenue of the Group. There was no property sold for the year
ended 31st December, 2021. The operating result and other financial information of this subsidiary’s business are
not separately reviewed by the CODM for the purpose of resources allocation and performance assessments.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

Amounts of segment assets and liabilities of the Group are not reviewed by the CODM or otherwise regularly provided
to the CODM, accordingly, segment assets and liabilities are not presented.

Other segment information

2021

Operations
of CNG/LNG

Gas pipeline Value-added vehicle filling Segment
Sales of gas  construction services stations total  Unallocated Consolidated
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit
or oss:
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4,336 11 78 - 4,425 107 4,532
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets (1,385) - - - (1,385) - (1,385)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 18,799 - 156 6,599 25,554 5814 31,368
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 400,942 884 3,302 11,462 416,590 9,190 425,780
Amortisation of other intangible assets 74,122 - 2,300 - 76,422 - 76,422
Impairment losses (reversal of impaiment losses) on
- contract assets - (1,835) - - (1,835) - (1,835)
- other receivables - - - - - 657 657

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

111



112

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

<
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Other segment information (Continued)
2020
Operations
of CNG/LNG
Gas pipeline  Value-added  vehicle filing Segment
Sales of gas construction services stations total  Unallocated  Consolidated

HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit

or oss:
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3,761 31 245 1,012 5,049 1,366 6,415
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 27,381 - 1,247 5,574 34,202 4,097 38,299
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 324,486 848 2,034 10,530 337,898 7,905 345,803
Amortisation of other intangible assets 78,9683 - 2,147 1,775 82,885 - 82,885
Imparment losses on

- trade receivables 9,09 16,438 - - 25,634 - 25,634

- contract assets - 13,200 - - 13,200 - 13,200

- other receivables - - - - - 12,625 12,625
Imparment losses on other intangible assets 205,294 - - 59,980 206,274 - 205,274

Geographical information

All the turnover of the Group for both years are derived from the PRC. None of the customers contributes over
10% of the total revenue of the Group.

As at 31st December, 2021, all the non-current assets of the Group (excluding financial assets) amounting to
HK$18,845,978,000 (2020: HK$16,294,125,000) are located in the PRC.
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OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Net foreign exchange gains 224,472 557,622
Decrease in fair value of investment properties (557) (481)
Net losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment (4,532) (6,415)
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets 1,385 -
Others (243) 4,177)
220,525 546,449
OTHER INCOME

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000

Interest income from financial assets at amortised cost
— Bank interest income 10,138 7,819
— Interest income on amount due from an associate 3,229 3,957
— Interest income from loans to employees 23,319 24,213
36,686 35,989
Government subsidies (Note) 67,963 45,150
Income from investments in life insurance contracts 1,897 2,802
Sundry income 41,615 23,802
148,161 107,743

Note:

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Group recognised government grants of HK$191,000 (2020: HK$318,000) in
respect of Covid-19-related subsidies of which nil (2020: HK$135,000) related to Employment Support Scheme provided by Hong

Kong government.

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Group has received subsidies of HK$67,772,000 (2020: HK$44,832,000) from
the relevant PRC governments for promoting the use of natural gas. There are no conditions attached to the subsidies granted to

the Group.
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9. FINANCE COSTS

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

Interest on borrowings 317,020 342,595

Interest on lease liabilities 1,300 2,629

318,320 345,124

Amortisation on loan faclilities fees relating to bank borrowings 51,494 50,611

Total borrowing costs 369,814 395,735
Less: Amounts capitalised in construction in progress included in property,

plant and equipment (180,187) (139,886)

189,627 255,849

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a
capitalisation rate of 5.33% (2020: 5.25%) per annum to expenditure on qualifying assets.

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000

PRC Enterprise Income Tax:
Current tax 308,771 230,093
Overprovision in prior years (6,662) (11,113)
Withholding tax levied on dividends paid previously not recognised - 7,279
302,109 226,259
Deferred taxation (note 35) 16,750 75,935
318,859 302,194

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,

the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years. No provision for
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements as the Company and its subsidiaries

had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for both years.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on the dividend declared to non-PRC tax residents
in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1st January, 2008 onwards. During the year ended 31st
December, 2020, withholding tax amounting to HK$7,279,000 was charged by the PRC tax authority which levied

on the dividends paid to overseas group entities in previous and current years.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

Profit before tax 1,581,502 1,415,431
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% (2020: 25%) (Note) 395,376 353,858
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 78,128 121,202
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (133,555) (151,051)
Overprovision in respect of prior years (6,662) (11,113)
Tax effect of share of results of associates (12,610) (12,889)
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures 340 367
Tax effect of estimated tax losses not recognised 11,516 11,677
Utilisation of estimated tax losses previously not recognised (13,674) (17,136)
Withholding tax levied on dividends paid previously not recognised - 7,279
Tax charge for the year 318,859 302,194

Note: The domestic tax rate in the jurisdiction where the operation of the Group is substantially based is used.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021 Sy

11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):
Auditor's remuneration 4,560 4,028
Amortisation of other intangible assets (included in cost of sales) 76,422 82,885
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 31,368 38,299
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 425,780 345,803
Employee benefits expenses, other than directors’ emoluments
— Salaries and other benefits 430,626 362,514
— Contributions to retirement benefits schemes 90,991 40,820
521,617 403,334
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses in respect of contract cost for
gas pipeline construction 231,814 260,380
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses in respect of sales of gas,
CNG/LNG, liquefied petroleum gas and stoves 7,898,207 5,306,240
8,130,021 5,666,620
Impairment losses (reversal of impairment losses), net
— Trade receivables — good and services - 25,634
— Other receivables 657 12,625
— Contract assets (1,835) 13,200
(1,178) 51,359
Gross rental income from investment properties with minimal outgoings (1,714) (1,518)
Gross rental income from equipment with minimal outgoings (5,815) (6,551)
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DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to the Directors and the chief executive are as follows:

2021 2020

HK$°000 HK$'000

Fees 959 1,000
Other emoluments:

— Salaries and other benefits 18,520 18,120

— Contributions to retirement benefits schemes 306 186

Total emoluments 19,785 19,306

The emoluments of Directors and the chief executive of the Company are analysed as follows:

2021 2020
Contributions Contributions
Salaries to retirement Salaries 1o retirement
and other benefits and other benefits
Fees benefits schemes Total Fees benefits schemes Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK'000 HK3'000 HK$000 HK$'000

Executive directors
Mr, Wang Wenliang - 7,140 - 7,140 - 7,140 - 7,140
Mr. Yiu Chi Shing (note ) - 400 - 400 - - - -
Mr. Lui Siu Keung (note i) - 5,600 18 5,618 - 5,600 18 5618
Mr. Jia Kun - 1,540 9% 1,636 - 1,540 56 1,69
Mr. Lu Zhaoheng - 2,300 9% 2,396 - 2,300 56 2,306
Mr. Li Yan - 1,540 9% 1,636 - 1,640 56 1,09
Non-executive director
Mr. Xu Yongxuan (note i) 209 - - 209 250 - - 250
Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Li Chunyan 250 - - 250 250 - - 260
Dr. Luo Yongtai 250 - - 250 250 - - 260
Ms. Liu Yu Jie 250 - - 250 250 - - 250
959 18,520 306 19,785 1,000 18,120 186 19,306
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Mr. Yiu Chi Shing was appointed as an executive director of the Company with effect from 29th October, 2021.

(ii) Mr. Lui Siu Keung is also the chief executive officer (“CEO”) of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above include
those for services rendered by him as the CEO.

(iii) Mr. Xu Yongxuan resigned as an non-executive director of the Company with effect from 29th October, 2021.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
a compensation for loss of office for both years.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive director’s emoluments shown above was for his services as director of the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as Directors.

Employees’ emoluments

All the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group were Directors whose emoluments are disclosed
above.
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13. DIVIDENDS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Dividends for ordinary shareholders of the Company recognised as
distribution during the year:
2020 final dividend of HK7 cents (2020: 2019 final dividend of HK5 cents)
per ordinary share 185,159 132,242
2027 interim dividend of HK3 cents (2020: 2020 interim dividend of HK2
cents) per ordinary share 85,015 52,897
270,174 185,139
Final dividend, proposed, of HK8 cents (2020: HK7 cents) per ordinary share 226,707 185,138
Special dividend, proposed, of HK5 cents (2020: nil) per ordinary share 141,691 -

Subsequent to the end of reporting period, a final dividend of HK8 cents per ordinary share and special dividend of
HK5 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31st December, 2021 (2020: final dividend of HK7 cents
per ordinary shares and no special dividend in respect of the year ended 31st December, 2020) in an aggregate
amount of HK$368,398,000 (2020: HK$185,138,000), has been proposed by the Directors and is subject to approval

by the shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners of the Company is based on

the following data:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Earnings
Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share, being
profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 1,188,997 1,056,617
2021 2020
’000 ‘000
Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic
earnings per share 2,690,155 2,644,833
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Share options issued by the Company 3,667 4,381
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of diluted
earnings per share 2,693,822 2,649,214
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

HK$'000
FAIR VALUE
At 1st January, 2020 9,180
Exchange adjustments 537
Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss (Note) (481)
At 31st December, 2020 9,236
Exchange adjustments 263
Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss (Note) (557)
At 31st December, 2021 8,942
Note:

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31st December, 2021 and 2020 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on the respective dates by JF 2 AEFEZBRAF (“AFE 142, an independent qualified professional valuer not
connected to the Group.

The fair value determined by )] /1.5 was based on the income approach, where the market rentals of all lettable units
of the properties are assessed and discounted at the market yield expected by investors for this type of properties.
The market rentals are assessed by reference to the rentals achieved in the lettable units of the properties as well
as other lettings of similar properties in the neighbourhood. The discount rate is determined by reference to the
yields derived from analysing the sales transactions of similar commercial properties in the PRC and adjusted to take
into account the market expectation from property investors to reflect factors specific to the Group’s investment
properties. There has been no change from the valuation technique used in the prior year.

The Group leases out various offices under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases mainly run
for an initial period of one to ten years.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated
in the respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee
and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are measured using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as investment properties.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use. At the
end of each reporting periods, the CEO of the Group works closely with the independent qualified professional
valuers to establish and determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs. Where there is a material change
in the fair value of the assets, the causes of the fluctuations will be reported to the management of the Group.

Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs

The following table gives information about how the fair value of these investment properties are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
is observable.

Significant
Fair value Valuation unobservable
Description Fair value hierarchy techniques inputs Relationship of inputs to fair value
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$000
Commercial property units 8,942 9,236 Level 3 Income approach ~ Discount rate The higher the discount rate, the lower
located in the PRC (2021: 5.77%,; the fair value

2020: 6.14%)

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

Machinery
Construction Leasehold and Furniture Motor
Buildings in progress improvements Pipelines equipment  and fixtures vehicles Total
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000

COST OR VALUATION
At 1st January, 2020 944,677 2,361,623 31,456 6,127,073 783,267 32,846 142,965 10,423,787
Exchange adjustments 64,29 163,612 3,036 523,056 56,628 2,387 8,678 822,393
Additions 7,806 1,769,389 409 48,574 341 4,142 13,862 1,878,343
Disposals (4,689 (1,628) - (7,423) (19,06) (132) (8,129) (41,046)
Transfer 88,447 (1,322,947) 20,293 1,111,825 101,085 308 989 -
Transfer from right-of-Use assets - - - 448,798 - - - 448,798
Revaluation - - - (162,459) - - - (162,459)
At 31t December, 2020 1,100,597 2,969,949 56,194 8,089,944 956,030 39,551 158,651 13,369,816
Exchange adjustments 34,837 9,027 1,623 282,815 30,462 1,374 4,680 450,718
Acquisition of business (note 38) 302 76 - 2,557 237 3 10 3185
Addltions 89,203 1,489,328 2,649 13,130 70998 10,070 14,107 1,689,485
Disposals (18,444) (38,921) (303 (11,908) (17,783) (848) (7,104) (95,311)
Transfer 61,191 (726,137) - 623,613 39,642 865 826 -
Revaluation - - - 327,589 - - - 327,589
At 31st December, 2021 1,267,686 3,789,322 59,163 9,327,740 1,079,586 51,016 170,970 15,745,482
DEPRECIATION
At 1st January, 2020 120,188 - 12,068 - 284,278 18,219 52,036 486,779
Exchange adjustments 9,610 - 906 69,435 22,897 1,420 4,184 108,451
Provided for the year 22,515 - 4117 238,371 64,653 3,179 12,968 345,803
Eliminated on disposals (285) - - (1,444 (6,108) (81) (6,181) (12,094)
Eliminated on revaluation - - - (306,362) - - - (306,362)
At 31st December, 2020 152,028 - 17,080 - 366,725 22,737 64,007 622,577
Exchange adjustments 5,283 - 535 40,312 12,813 800 2,300 61,993
Provided for the year 25,454 - 4,437 302,308 72,720 5,430 15,436 425,780
Eliminated on disposals (6,957) - - (2,368) 6,774) (690) (4,650) (20,433)
Eliminated on revaluation - - - (340,247) - - - (340,247)
At 31st December, 2021 176,764 - 22,052 - 445,484 28,217 77,093 749,670
CARRYING VALUES
At 31st December, 2021 1,090,922 3,789,322 37 9,327,740 634,102 22,738 98,877 14,995,812
At 31st December, 2020 948,569 2,969,949 38,114 8,089,944 589,306 16,814 94,544 12,747,239
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-
line basis after taking into account the residual values at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the remaining terms of leases

Leasehold improvements Over the remaining terms of leases

Pipelines Over the shorter of 30 years or operation period of the relevant company
Machinery and equipment 6% - 30%

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Motor vehicles 10% - 18%

As at 31st December, 2021, the Group is in the process of obtaining title deeds from relevant government authority
for its buildings in the PRC amounting to HK$190,669,000 (2020: HK$154,460,000). In the opinion of the Directors,
the Group is not required to incur additional cost in obtaining the title deeds for its buildings in the PRC.

Fair value measurement of the Group’s pipelines included in property, plant and equipment

At 31st December, 2021 and 2020, the fair value of the Group’s pipelines was valued by the independent qualified
professional valuer, GW Financial Advisory Services Limited, using DRC approach.

In determining the fair value of the pipelines, at the end of each reporting period, the CEO works closely with the
independent qualified professional valuer to establish and determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to be used in determining the fair value of the assets. Discussion of valuation processes and results is held between
CEO and the Directors at least once a year.

The fair value of the pipelines has been determined using the DRC approach that reflects the cost to a market
participant to construct assets of comparable utility and the age of the pipelines, adjusted for obsolescence. The Group

has determined that the highest and best use of the pipelines at the measurement date would be their existing use.

The Group’s pipelines at revalued amount are categorised into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s pipelines included in property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

The following table shows the valuation technique used in the determination of fair value and unobservable inputs
used in the valuation model.

Valuation
Description Fair value techniques Significant unobservable inputs  Significant inputs
2021 2020
HK$000  HK$'000

Pipelines included in 9,327,740 8,089,944  DRC approach  (a) historical labour cost (RMB/year) () RMB69,986 (2020: RMB65,580)
property, plant and
equipment (b) historical raw chemical materials (o) 115.1 (2020: 92.7)
purchasing price indices for
industrial producers

A significant positive adjustment to any of the above significant unobservable inputs would result in a significant
increase in fair value of the pipelines, and vice versa.

Had the pipelines included in property, plant and equipment at 31st December, 2021 been carried at cost

less accumulated depreciation, its carrying value would have been approximately HK$6,946,281,000 (2020:
HK$6,361,335,000).
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
Leasehold Leased
Pipelines lands properties Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
COST OR VALUATION
At 1st January, 2020 456,633 556,492 31,270 1,044,395
Additions - 2,347 18,549 20,896
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (458,686) - - (458,6806)
Eliminated upon leases expired - - (3,118) (3,118)
Exchange adjustments 2,053 34,314 2,676 38,943
At 31st December, 2020 - 593,153 49,277 642,430
Additions - 30,061 8,280 38,341
Acquisition of business (note 38) - 1,316 - 1,316
Disposals - (1,778) - (1,778)
Eliminated upon leases expired - - (6,739) (6,739)
Exchange adjustments — 17,909 1,331 19,240
At 31st December, 2021 — 640,661 52,149 692,810
DEPRECIATION
At 1st January, 2020 - 11,606 10,505 22,111
Charge for the year 9,888 13,902 14,509 38,299
Eliminated on transfer to property, plant and
equipment (9,888) - - (9,888)
Eliminated upon leases expired - - (3,118) (3,118)
Exchange adjustments - 1,601 1,104 2,605
At 31st December, 2020 - 27,009 23,000 50,009
Charge for the year - 15,793 156,575 31,368
Eliminated on disposals - (276) - (276)
Eliminated upon leases expired - - (6,739) (6,739)
Exchange adjustments - 1,042 685 1,727
At 31st December, 2021 — 43,568 32,621 76,089
CARRYING VALUES
At 31st December, 2021 - 597,093 19,628 616,721
At 31st December, 2020 - 566,144 26,277 592,421
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The above items of right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Pipelines Over the shorter of 30 years or operation period of the relevant company
Leasehold lands Over the remaining terms of leases
Leasehold properties Over the remaining terms of leases

Expense relating to short-term leases and low value lease is HK$2,114,000 (2020: HK$4,095,000) during the year
ended 31st December 2021.

The Group regularly entered into short-term lease for offices, staff quarters and gas containers. As at 31st December,
2021 and 2020, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-
term lease expense disclosed above.

Total cash outflow for lease was HK$41,472,000 (2020: HK$81,582,000) for the year ended 31st December, 2021.

For both years, the Group leases various pipelines, offices, staff quarters and gas containers for its operations.
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of one year to twenty-five years with no options. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract
and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable. In addition, the Group owns several properties. The
Group is the registered owner of these properties, including leasehold lands which are for fixed term of eighteen
years to fifty-three years.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all leasehold lands except for leasehold lands with carrying
amount of HK$64,992,000 (2020: HK$67,424,000) in which the Group is in the process of obtaining.
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18. GOODWILL

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

Cost and carrying amount

At 1st January 437,188 411,885
Exchange adjustments 13,125 25,303

Arising on acquisition of business (note 38) 18,266 -

At 31st December 468,579 437,188

For the purposes of impairment testing, the carrying amount of goodwill is attributable to certain cash-generating
units (“CGUSs”) relating to sales of gas (“Unit A”) amounting to HK$276,087,000 in aggregate (2020: HK$255,447,000),
pipeline construction (“Unit B”) amounting to HK$78,270,000 in aggregate (2020: HK$70,776,000), different
subsidiaries of Harmony Gas engaging in sales of gas (“Unit C”) amounting to HK$99,034,000 in aggregate (2020:
HK$96,210,000) and design and consulting of energy projects (“Unit D”) amounting to HK$15,188,000 in aggregate
(2020: HK$14,755,000).

Impairment testing on Unit A

Unit A consists of all CGUs which represent the operations of different subsidiaries engaging in sales of gas, of which
goodwill of HK$276,087,000 (2020: HK$255,447,000) is attributable to certain CGUs within Unit A. For impairment
test purpose, management reviews each CGU’s recoverable amount and compares with the carrying amount of
the respective CGU. The aggregate carrying amounts of the CGUs of Unit A comprise other intangible assets of
HK$980,091,000 (2020: HK$955,316,000), goodwill of HK$276,087,000 (2020: HK$255,447,000), property, plant
and equipment of HK$5,889,059,000 (2020: HK$5,345,850,000) and right-of-use assets of HK$247,305,000 (2020:
HK$248,134,000). The recoverable amount of each CGU has been determined based on the value in use calculation
of each CGU using the following assumptions for 2021 and 2020:

Period of cash flow projections 5 years (2020: 5 years)

Growth rates beyond 5-year period extrapolated in the 2% to 3% (2020: 2% to 3%)
financial budgets approved by the management

Discount rate 14.00% (2020: 14.05%)

This growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecast and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption for the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross
margin, which is determined based on the respective CGU’s past performance and management’s expectations
for the market development. No impairment loss is considered necessary for CGUs with attributed goodwill for the
years ended 31st December, 2021 and 2020. Impairment losses of HK$205,294,000 in respect of other intangible
assets of two CGUs was recognised during the year ended 31st December, 2020 as set out in note 19.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing on Unit B

Unit B consists of several CGUs which represent operations of different subsidiaries engaging in the pipeline
constructions. For impairment test purpose, management reviews each CGU’s recoverable amount and compares
with the carrying amount of respective CGU. The aggregate carrying amounts of the CGUs of Unit B comprise other
intangible assets of HK$76,142,000 (2020: HK$58,717,000) and goodwill of HK$78,270,000 (2020: HK$70,776,000).
The recoverable amount of each CGU has been determined based on value in use calculation of each CGU using
the following assumptions for 2021 and 2020:

Period of cash flow projections 5 years (2020: 5 years)

Growth rates beyond 5-year period extrapolated in the 2% (2020: 2%)
financial budgets approved by the management

Discount rate 14.00% (2020: 14.05%)

This growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption for the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross
margin, which is determined based on the respective CGU’s past performance and management’s expectations for
the market development. Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not cause the individual carrying amount of each CGU within Unit B to exceed the individual recoverable
amount of each CGU within Unit B. At the end of each reporting period, the recoverable amounts of each CGU
of Unit B exceeds its carrying amount, therefore, no impairment loss is considered necessary for the years ended
31st December, 2021 and 2020.
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18. GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing on Unit C

Unit C consists of several CGUs which represent the operations of different subsidiaries of Harmony Gas
engaging in sales of gas. For impairment test purpose, management reviews each CGU’s recoverable amount and
compares with the carrying amount of the respective CGU. The aggregate carrying amounts of the CGUs of Unit
C comprise other intangible assets of HK$333,680,000 (2020: HK$346,880,000), goodwill of HK$99,034,000 (2020:
HK$96,210,000), property, plant and equipment of HK$2,795,727,000 (2020: HK$2,345,590,000) and right-of-use
assets of HK$68,849,000 (2020: HK$63,617,000). The recoverable amount of each CGU has been determined based
on the value in use calculation of each CGU using the following assumptions for 2021 and 2020:

Period of cash flow projections 5 years (2020: 5 years)

Growth rate beyond 5-year period extrapolated in the 2% (2020: 2%)
financial budgets approved by the management

Discount rate 14.00% (2020: 14.05%)

The growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecast and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption for the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross
margin, which is determined based on the respective CGU’s past performance and management’s expectations for
the market development. Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not cause the individual carrying amount of each CGU within Unit C to exceed the individual recoverable
amount of each CGU within Unit C. At the end of each reporting period, the recoverable amount of each CGU
of Unit C exceeds its carrying amount and no impairment loss is considered necessary for the years ended 31st
December, 2021 and 2020.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing on Unit D

Unit D consists of several CGUs which represent the operations of different subsidiaries engaging in design and
consulting of energy projects. For impairment test purpose, management reviews each CGU’s recoverable amount
and compares with the carrying amount of the respective CGU. The aggregate carrying amounts of the CGUs of
Unit D comprise other intangible assets of HK$16,346,000 (2020: HK$18,148,000), goodwill of HK$15,188,000
(2020: HK$14,755,000) and property, plant and equipment of HK$3,752,000 (2020: HK$4,166,000). The recoverable
amount of each CGU has been determined based on the value in use calculation of each CGU using the following
assumptions for 2021 and 2020:

Period of cash flow projections 5 years (2020: 5 years)

Growth rate beyond 5-year period extrapolated in the 2% (2020: 2%)
financial budgets approved by the management

Discount rate 18.10% (2020: 18.11%)

The growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecast and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption for the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross
margin, which is determined based on the respective CGU’s past performance and management’s expectations for
the market development. Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not cause the individual carrying amount of each CGU within Unit D to exceed the individual recoverable
amount of each CGU within Unit D. At the end of each reporting period, the recoverable amount of each CGU
of Unit D exceeds its carrying amount and no impairment loss is considered necessary for the years ended 31st
December, 2021 and 2020.
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Exclusive Other

rights of operating Technology
operation rights know-how Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

COST
At 1st January, 2020 1,831,325 101,014 21,373 1,953,712
Exchange adjustments 105,747 3,480 1,313 110,540
Addition 169 - — 169
At 31st December, 2020 1,937,241 104,494 22,686 2,064,421
Exchange adjustments 45,084 4,020 666 49,770
Acquisition of business (note 38) 64,225 - - 64,225
Addition 167 - - 167
Disposal (361) - - (361)
At 31st December, 2021 2,046,356 108,514 23,352 2,178,222
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1st January, 2020 261,903 42,739 2,138 306,780
Exchange adjustments 30,168 - 253 30,421
Charged for the year 78,963 1,775 2,147 82,885
Impairment losses recognised 205,294 59,980 - 265,274
At 31st December, 2020 576,328 104,494 4,538 685,360
Exchange adjustments 6,091 4,020 168 10,279
Charged for the year 74,122 - 2,300 76,422
Eliminated on disposals (98) - - (98)
At 31st December, 2021 656,443 108,514 7,006 771,963
CARRYING VALUES
At 31st December, 2021 1,389,913 - 16,346 1,406,259
At 31st December, 2020 1,360,913 - 18,148 1,379,061
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The exclusive rights of operation represent sales and distribution of piped gas in certain cities in Henan, Shandong,
Fujian, Jiangsu, Heilongjiang, Hebei, Zhejiang, Jilin, Anhui provinces and Inner Mongolia are amortised on a straight-
line method over the period of a range of 6 to 33 years (2020: 7 to 34 years), which is the remaining finite useful
life period being granted for exclusive operations in the relevant cities.

Due to the redevelopment in Jinggiao Town, Nanjing City in Jiangsu, such town was no longer an industrial zone.
Expected future cash flow generated by industrial customers could not be realised. A subsidiary, F R &8 AR
BIRAF (“FI R S®IE”) located in Jinggiao Town was suffered loss for year ended 31st December, 2020. Management
considers there was an impairment indicator to the exclusive right of operation possessed by F R &%, in which
the Group previously acquired such asset through acquisition of B &15. During the year ended 31st December,
2020, the management performed an assessment of recoverable amount of &5 based on the value in use
calculation. Impairment loss of HK$117,037,000 was recognised during the year ended 31st December, 2020.

Another subsidiary, & R BIRARABR AR (“i8 7 #4”) originally expected to develop the operation of sales of
piped gas in Chengguan Town, Tieli City in Heilongjiang since its acquisition, is not able to commence the supply
of piped gas as initially contemplated due to sever delay of construction of main pipelines by local government and
hence the expected future cash flows could not be realised. Accordingly, impairment loss of HK$88,257,000 to the
exclusive rights of operation possessed by /7 #4, in which the Group previously acquired such asset through
acquisition of & /7444, was recognised during the year ended 31st December, 2020.

Other operating rights represent the licences possessed by the Group’s subsidiaries, &R AWE4ERAER AR, 250
FIRB AR AR AR and =FIERFHEERAMR AR to operate eight CNG vehicle filling stations in Jiyuan City, Luohe
City and Sanmenxia City and are amortised on a straight-line method over a period of 30 years, which is the period
of the licenses being granted for operating CNG vehicle filling stations. During the year ended 31st December, 2020,
losses were suffered by these subsidiaries which management considers there was an impairment indicator to the
other operating rights. Management performed an assessment of recoverable amount of these subsidiaries. Impairment
loss of HK$59,980,000 was recognised during the year ended 31st December, 2020.

Technology know-how represents the technology developed for design and consulting of energy projects which
arose upon acquisition of 1t 5 & ffit 45 7 s B2 R F 4T 5 BR 22 7] and its subsidiaries during the year ended 31st December,

2018. Technology know-how is amortised on a straight-line method over a period of 10 years.

The Group tests intangible assets if there are indications that intangible assets might be impaired.
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19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The carrying amounts of intangible assets related to the respective units are as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

Unit A 980,091 955,316
Unit B 76,142 58,717
Unit C 333,680 346,880
Unit D 16,346 18,148
1,406,259 1,379,061

Impairment assessment of CGUs within Unit A, B, C and D based on value in use calculation are set out in note 18.

20. LONG-TERM DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 483,449 502,155
Deposits paid for leasehold lands 135,018 101,896
Investment components of life insurance contracts - 79,445
Prepayments of insurance premium - 2,637
Loans to employees 613,964 608,769
Other long-term deposits 14,900 15,665
1,247,331 1,310,467
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

LONG-TERM DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment

As at 31st December, 2021, deposit of RMB243,569,000 (equivalent to HK$297,907,000) (2020: RMB193,472,000
(equivalent to HK$229,886,000)) was paid to a supplier for acquisition of construction materials mainly for construction
of the Group’s pipelines.

Investment components of life insurance contracts

The Group had entered into two life insurance contracts with HSBC Life (International) Limited to insure two executive
directors of the Company.

Under the policies, the beneficiary and policy holder is the Company, and the total insured sum is approximately
US$32,000,000 (equivalent to HK$248,205,000). The Company paid US$9,272,000 (equivalent to HK$71,866,000),
including premium charge at inception of the policies amounting to US$556,347 (equivalent to HK$4,315,000). During
the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Company has requested a full surrender of policies and received cash
back based on the cash value of the policies at the date of withdrawal, which is determined based on the gross
premium paid plus accumulated income earned (based on the discretion by HSBC Life (International) Limited) and
minus insurance premium charged at inception.

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, income from investments in life insurance contracts of HK$1,897,000
(2020: HK$2,802,000) was recognised in profit or loss.

Loans to employees

At 31st December, 2021, included in the Group’s other receivables balances are loans to employees with aggregate
carrying amount of HK$613,964,000 (2020: HK$608,769,000) which are for the purpose of enabling the PRC employees
to early exercise their share options granted by the Company. The loans are secured by the shares held by the
employees, interest bearing at 4% per annum and repayable within two years.
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
Cost of unlisted investments in associates 491,587 319,655
Share of post-acquisition results, net of dividends received 196,730 180,024
Exchange adjustments 25,975 7,853
714,292 507,532
Details of the Group’s associates as at 31st December, 2020 and 2021 are as follows:
Proportion of
nominal value of
Place of Form of business registered capital
Name of company establishment  structure held by the Group  Principal activities
2021 2020
Beijing Zhongran Xiangke Oil and Gas PRC Sino-foreign joint venture ~ 40% 40%  Sales of natural gas and
Technology Co., Ltd. ("Zhongran Xiangke”) gas pipeline construction
Yunnan Yuntou Zhongyu Energy Co., Ltd. PRC Limited liability company ~ 39% 39%  Sales of natural gas and
(*Yunnan Yuntou") gas pipeline construction
Chongaing Zhongran New Energy Co., Ltd PRC Limited liability company 20% 20%  Design and consulting of
energy projects
Henan Xinao Zhongyu Gas Co., Ltd. PRC Limited liability company 25% - Sales of natural gas and
("Henan Xinao Zhongyu') (Note) other energies

Note: On 31st July, 2021, the Group acquired 25% of the registered share capital of Henan Xinao Zhongyu for a consideration
of RMB143,000,000 (equivalent to HK$171,932,000) from independent third parties.
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21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

w il
gy For the year ended 31st December, 2021

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Summarised financial information of major associates

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s major associates is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown in the associates’ management accounts which are prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs. All of these associates are accounted for using the equity method in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

Zhongran Xiangke

Zhongran Xiangke and its subsidiaries (collectively “Zhongran Xiangke Group”)

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Current assets 1,039,008 1,005,896
Non-current assets 1,219,569 1,137,548
Current liabilities (865,558) (906,400)
Net assets 1,393,019 1,237,044
Equity attributable to owners of Zhongran Xiangke Group 990,848 952,645
Non-controlling interests 402,171 284,399
1,393,019 1,237,044
Revenue 1,555,693 1,231,103
Profit for the year 121,916 154,629
Dividend received from Zhongran Xiangke Group during the year 33,735 -
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Owners of Zhongran Xiangke Group 38,203 182,645
Non-controlling interests 117,772 43,043
155,975 225,688
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Summarised financial information of major associates (Continued)
Zhongran Xiangke (Continued)

Zhongran Xiangke and its subsidiaries (collectively “Zhongran Xiangke Group”) (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in Zhongran

Xiangke Group recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2021 2020

HK$°000 HK$'000

Equity attributable to owners of Zhongran Xiangke Group 990,848 952,645
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in Zhongran Xiangke Group at

40% 396,339 381,058

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in Zhongran Xiangke Group 396,339 381,068

ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021



21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Summarised financial information of major associates (Continued)
Yunnan Yuntou

Yunnan Yuntou and its subsidiaries (collectively “Yunnan Yuntou Group”)

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Current assets 665,300 322,531
Non-current assets 1,007,411 1,027,549
Current liabilities (1,099,252) (968,314)
Non-current liabilities (204,239) (62,659)
Net assets 369,220 319,107
Equity attributable to owners of Yunnan Yuntou Group 356,595 318,197
Non-controlling interests 12,625 910
369,220 319,107
Revenue 1,051,886 606,957
Profit for the year 18,800 3,042
Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year attributable to:
Owners of Yunnan Yuntou Group 38,398 19,242
Non-controlling interests 11,715 (5632)
50,113 18,710
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Summarised financial information of major associates (Continued)
Yunnan Yuntou (Continued)

Yunnan Yuntou and its subsidiaries (collectively “Yunnan Yuntou Group”) (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in Yunnan Yuntou

Group recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

Equity attributable to owners of Yunnan Yuntou Group 356,595 318,197
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in Yunnan Yuntou Group at 39% 139,072 124,097
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in Yunnan Yuntou Group 139,072 124,097
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Summarised financial information of major associates (Continued)

Henan Xinao Zhongyu

2021

HK$’000

Current assets 26,025
Non-current assets 488,872
Current liabilities (13,417)
Net assets 501,480
Equity attributable to owners of Henan Xinao Zhongyu 501,480
Revenue 83,156
Profit for the year 6,036
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of major associates (Continued)

Henan Xinao Zhongyu (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in Henan Xinao

Zhongyu recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2021

HK$’000

Equity attributable to owners of Henan Xinao Zhongyu 501,480

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in Henan Xinao Zhongyu at 25% 125,370

Goodwill 51,064

176,434

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Henan Xinao Zhongyu 176,434
22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

Cost of unlisted investments in joint ventures 20,244 20,244

Share of post-acquisition results (3,482) (2,121)

Exchange adjustments 1,596 1,063

18,358 19,176
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23.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Details of the Group’s joint ventures as at 31st December, 2020 and 2021 are as follows:

Proportion of nominal
value of registered

Place of Form of business capital held by the
Name of Company establishment  structure Group Principal activities
2021 2020
B EFEERELE PRC Limited liability company 50% 50%  Not yet commenced business
BRAT
AERRMEIERERE PRC Limited liability company 30% 30%  Not yet commenced business
EEERAT

As all the relevant activities of the above entities require unanimous consent from all joint venture parties, it is
accounted for as joint ventures by the Group.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Unlisted equity investments (Note) 83,537 81,155
Other investments 2,720 2,720
86,257 83,875

Note: The above unlisted equity investments represent the Group’s equity interests in certain private entities established in the

PRC. The Directors have elected to designate these investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that

these investments are not held for trading and not expected to be sold in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

24. INVENTORIES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Construction materials 597,794 507,918
Finished goods 92,101 81,680
689,895 589,598
25. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE
HK$'000
COST

At 1st January, 2020 110,871
Additions 45,869
Exchange adjustments 9,410
At 31st December, 2020 166,150
Additions 53,963
Exchange adjustments 5,696
At 31st December, 2021 225,809

Properties under development for sales of which:
— expected to be realised within 12 months 225,809
— expected to be realised over 12 months -
225,809

The leasehold lands are measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The

residual values are determined as the estimated disposal value of the leasehold land component. No depreciation
charge is made on the leasehold lands taking into account the estimated residual values as at 31st December, 2021.

The properties under development for sale of the Group are situated in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 days (2020: 30 days) to its trade customers. The following is an
aged analysis of trade receivables from contracts with customers net of allowance for credit losses presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period, which approximated the respective revenue recognition dates
for sales of gas and the respective construction contracts completion dates, as appropriate:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

0 - 30 days 784,715 744,534
31 - 90 days 161,349 127,517
91 - 180 days 162,539 94,846
181 — 360 days 481,316 523,979
Over 360 days 457,482 280,637
Trade receivables 2,047,401 1,771,513

As at 31st December, 2021, total bills received amounting to HK$132,287,000 (2020: HK$88,120,000) are held by
the Group for future settlement of trade receivables. All bills received by the Group are with a maturity period of
less than one year.

The amounts due from certain PRC local governments for the “Coal-to-gas” projects under the “gas pipeline
construction” segment is included in the carrying amount of trade receivables.

As at 31st December, 2021, included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$1,195,151,000 (2020: HK$971,547,000) which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past
due balances, HK$1,079,493,000 (2020: HK$869,008,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is not considered
as in default as these are represented by the debtors without bad debt history or the PRC local governments with
low credit risks. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

As at 31st December, 2021, deposits, prepayments and other receivables are advances to suppliers of natural
gas and construction materials for customers’ gas pipeline construction amounting to HK$1,151,435,000 (2020:

HK$840,149,000).

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables are set out in note 44.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

27. AMOUNTS DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE AND A RELATED PARTY

(a) As at 31st December, 2020, amount due from an associate of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to HK$59,411,000)
was unsecured, interest bearing at 7.39% per annum and repayable within one year. Amount was fully settled

during the year ended 31st December, 2021.

(b) As at 31st December, 2021, amount due from a related party represented amount due from a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary of the Group of RMB7,500,000 (equivalent to HK$9,173,000) (2020: RMB7,500,000
(equivalent to HK$8,912,000)) which is secured by its equity interest of that subsidiary, interest bearing at
7.8% (2020: 7.8%) per annum and repayable within one year (2020: one year).

28. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Contract assets - current

Construction contracts in gas pipeline construction 515,356 609,259

Contract liabilities - current
Construction contracts in gas pipeline construction 815,464 788,823
Purchase of natural gas 1,023,076 677,488
1,838,540 1,466,311

At as 1st January, 2020, contract assets and contract liabilities amounting to HK$509,321,000 and HK$1,097,362,000,

respectively.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract assets and contract liabilities recognised are as

follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued)
Construction contracts in respect of gas pipeline construction

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to consideration for work completed because the rights are
conditioned on the Group’s future performance in achieving specified milestones at the reporting date on contract
work. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the Group expects to realise them in its normal
operating cycle.

The Group’s revenue from construction contracts is measured by input method. The Group requires certain
customers to provide upfront deposits before the commencement of the construction work as part of its credit risk
management policies.

When the Group receives a deposit before the construction activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

Purchase of natural gas

The Group would require advance payment before the usage of the natural gas for certain customers, any shortage
against the periodically actual charge for the actual usage of natural gas will be billed by the Group accordingly.
These customers are required to top up the advance payment for future usage of natural gas to be supplied by
the Group. The Group requires advance payment before the usage of the natural gas through the prepaid card for
certain household users. The charge of the actual usage of natural gas will be deducted directly to the balance of
the prepaid card. These customers can only consume the natural gas up to the balance of the prepaid card. This
will give rise to contract liabilities until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of
advance payment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

28. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued)
Purchase of natural gas (Continued)

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current
contract liabilities.

year relates to carried-forward

2021 2020
Construction Purchase of Construction Purchase of
contracts natural gas contracts natural gas
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Revenue recognised that was included in the
contract liabilities balance at the beginning
of the year 788,823 677,488 557,352 540,010

Details of the impairment assessment of contract assets are set out in note 44.

29. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The bank balances carry interest at market rates which ranged from 0.01% to 0.35% (2020: 0.01% to 0.35%)
per annum as at 31st December, 2021. At 31st December, 2021, the bank balances and cash consisted of

HK$1,573,192,000 (2020: HK$1,672,452,000) are denominated in RMB.

As at 31st December, 2021, the bank balances and cash consisted of HK$115,504,000 and HK$132,168,000 (2020:
HK$35,365,000 and HK$36,482,000) are denominated in United States Dollars (“US$”) and HK$ respectively, which

are foreign currencies of the respective group entities.

As at 31st December, 2021, pledged bank deposits of RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$48,924,000) (2020:
RMB4,000,000 (equivalent to HK$4,753,000)) were used to secure the short-term general banking facilities granted

to the Group, accordingly, the deposits were classified as current assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES AND
DEFERRED INCOME AND ADVANCE RECEIVED

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period:

2021 2020

HK$°000 HK$'000

0 - 30 days 815,426 654,015
31 - 90 days 290,799 616,971
91 — 180 days 189,433 211,674
Over 180 days 434,558 399,729
Trade payables 1,730,216 1,882,389

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days (2020: 90 days). The Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

As at 31st December, 2021, deferred income and advance received classified as non-current liabilities are government
grants of HK$6,258,000 (2020: HK$6,688,000) received by the Group, and will be released to profit or loss when the
related costs (for which the grants are intended to compensate) are recognised in profit or loss. Due to redevelopment
of Jiaozuo City, Jiaozuo government subsidised the Group for enhancement and relocation of certain pipelines in
Jiaozuo City.

As at 31st December, 2021, included in other payables and accrued charges are (i) refundable security deposits
received from customers in relation to gas supply of HK$55,048,000 (2020: HK$48,161,000); (ii) accrued expenses
of HK$55,007,000 (2020: HK$53,173,000); (iii) unsettled consideration for the acquisition of assets and liabilities
through acquisition of subsidiaries of nil (2020: RMB454,000, equivalent to HK$539,000); (iv) unsettled consideration
for the acquisition of subsidiaries of RMB58,035,000, equivalent to HK$70,982,000 (2020: RMB3,360,000, equivalent
to HK$3,992,000); and (v) unsettled consideration for the acquisition of additional interests in a subsidiary of nil
(2020: RMB22,750,000, equivalent to HK$27,032,000).

AMOUNT DUE TO AN ASSOCIATE

As at 31st December, 2021, the amount due to an associate amounting to RMB894,000 (equivalent to HK$1,094,000)
(2020: RMB894,000 (equivalent to HK$1,063,000)) is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

32. BORROWINGS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Secured bank borrowings 492,228 566,835
Unsecured bank borrowings 10,815,542 11,009,290
Unsecured other borrowings 13,210 14,021
11,320,980 11,690,146

Carrying amounts of the above bank borrowings are repayable™:
Within one year 3,873,584 6,921,265
More than one year, but not exceeding two years 3,510,096 1,397,546
More than two years but not exceeding five years 3,844,881 2,892,063
More than five years 5,357 7,201
11,233,918 11,218,075

Carrying amounts of above bank borrowings that contain a repayment on

demand clause (shown under current liabilities) but repayable:
Within one year 56,661 358,050
More than one year, but not exceeding two years 13,794 -
More than two years but not exceeding five years 3,397 -
73,852 358,050

Carrying amounts of the above other borrowings are repayable™:
Within one year 1,468 -
More than one year, but not exceeding two years 1,468 1,426
More than two years but not exceeding five years 4,403 4,278
More than five years 5,871 8,317
13,210 14,021
Less: Amounts due within one year shown under current liabilities (3,948,904) (7,279,315)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities 7,372,076 4,310,831

*

the amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

BORROWINGS (Continued)

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings
are as follows:

2021 2020

Effective interest rate:
Fixed-rate borrowings 4.00% - 5.09% 4.00% — 5.10%
Variable-rate borrowings 1.56% - 5.39% 1.70% — 5.61%

The Group’s certain variable-rate borrowings bear interest at a range of 100% to 118% (2020: 100% to 146%) of
People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”) Prescribed Interest Rate per annum. LIBOR plus a premium ranging from 1.5%
to 2.0% (2020: 1.5% to 2.0%) per annum and HIBOR plus a premium of 1.5% to 2.0% (2020: 1.75% to 2.0%) per
annum is charged on remaining outstanding variable-rate loan balances.

As at 31st December, 2021, the bank borrowing balances consisted of HK$7,388,807,000 (2020: HK$4,054,941,000)

and HK$493,592,000 (2020: HK$4,639,579,000) are denominated in US$ and HK$ respectively, which are foreign
currencies of the respective group entities.

LEASE LIABILITIES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Lease liabilities payable:
Within one year 4,670 7,265
Within a period of more than one year but not more than two years 3,200 3,887
Within a period of more than two years but not more than five years 4,064 4,908
Within a period of more than five years 9,622 11,317
21,556 27,377
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months shown under
current liabilities (4,670) (7,265)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown under non-current
liabilities 16,886 20,112
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

33. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

Lease obligations that are denominated in currency other than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities
are set out below:

HK$'000
As at 31st December, 2021 500
As at 31st December, 2020 523
34. SHARE CAPITAL
Number of shares Amount
Notes 2021 2020 2021 2020
’000 ‘000 HK$’000 HK$'000
Authorised:
Ordinary shares at HK$0.01 each 10,000,000 10,000,000 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid:
At the beginning of the year 2,644,833 2,644,833 26,448 26,448
Placement of shares (i) 188,000 - 1,880 -
Exercise of share options (if) 1,000 - 10 -
At the end of the year 2,833,833 2,644,833 28,338 26,448
Notes:
(i) Pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 6th October, 2021, Fundway International Investment Limited, an investment
holding company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Yiu
Chi Shing, subscribed for 188,000,000 new ordinary shares in the Company at a price of HK$5.8 per ordinary share. The
proceeds were used to reduce borrowings and to provide additional working capital for the Group. These new shares were
issued under the general mandate granted to the directors of the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 3rd June, 2021 and rank pari passu with other shares in issue in all respects.
(ii) During the year ended 31st December, 2021, 1,000,000 new shares were issued as a result of exercise of share options in

respect of the share options granted on 5th January, 2018. Details are disclosed in note 36.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

35. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior years.

Revaluation

of investment Other Undistributed Accelerated

properties intangible profits of tax
and pipelines assets  subsidiaries depreciation Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 1st January, 2020 387,039 300,471 1,334 240,377 929,221
Exchange adjustments 25,028 13,625 81 21,442 60,171
(Credit) charge to profit or loss (note 10) (18,972) (28,208) - 118,115 75,935
Charge to property revaluation reserve 35,976 - - - 35,976
At 31st December, 2020 434,066 285,888 1,415 379,934 1,101,303
Exchange adjustments 15,028 4,130 42 11,899 31,099
(Credit) charge to profit or loss (note 10) (16,187) (16,582) - 49,519 16,750
Charge to property revaluation reserve 166,959 - - - 166,959
Acquisition of business (note 38) - 16,056 - - 16,056
At 31st December, 2021 599,866 289,492 1,457 441,352 1,332,167

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1st January, 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to undistributed profits amounting to HK$3,250,663,000
(2020: HK$2,778,614,000) of certain PRC subsidiaries in relation to owners of the Company. The Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

At 31st December, 2021, the Group had unused estimated tax losses of HK$176,369,000 (2020: HK$261,953,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the unrecognised
estimated tax losses due to unpredictability of future profit stream. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses
of PRC subsidiaries of HK$172,591,000 (2020: HK$181,283,000) that will expire in various dates up to 2026 (2020:
2025), other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
Share option schemes

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 24th October, 2003, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(“Old Share Option Scheme”) pursuant to which the Directors were authorised to grant share option to its employees
(including executive directors and employees of any of its subsidiaries) or any person who has contributed or
will contribute to the Group. The Old Share Option Scheme was terminated and replaced by a new share option
scheme (“New Share Option Scheme”) on 3rd May, 2013 by an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of
the Company at the annual general meeting held on 3rd May, 2013.

Outstanding options under the Old Share Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance
with the Old Share Option after its termination.

Under the New Share Option Scheme, the Directors may offer share options to any directors and employees of the
Group and any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners, joint
venture business partners, promoters, service providers of any member of the Group who the board of directors
of the Company considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the Group, to subscribe for
shares in the Company in accordance with the terms of the New Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the
New Share Option Scheme shall not, in the absence of shareholders’ approval, in aggregate exceed 10% in nominal
amount of the aggregate of shares in issue on the adoption date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). Options lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the New Share Option Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating
the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The Company may renew the Scheme Mandate Limit at any time subject to prior shareholders’ approval but in
any event, the total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under
the New Share Option Scheme under the limit as refreshed must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of the Shareholders’ approval of the renewed limit. Options previously granted under the New Share Option
Scheme (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with the terms or exercised options) will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the limit as renewed.

Further, no options will be granted which would result in the maximum aggregate number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted but yet to be exercised under the New Share Option
Scheme, the existing options granted under the Old Share Option Scheme, in aggregate, 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Share option schemes (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share options granted under the Old Share Option

Scheme and New Share Option Scheme and movements in such holdings:

Number of share options
Exercise At 31st  Exercised  Forfeited Lapsed At 31st
price per December, during the during the during the December,
Category of grantee share  Date of grant Exercisable period 2020 year year year 2021
HKS
Directors 04872 11th Apri, 2011 11t April, 2011 to 1,005,800 - - (1,005,800) -
10th April, 2021
54680  5th January, 2018 5th January, 2018 to 12,572,500 - - - 12,672,500
4th January, 2028
13,578,300 - - (1,005,800) 12,672,500
Employees 54680  5th January, 2018 5th January, 2018 to 3,017,400 (1,000,000) (5,800) - 2,011,600
4th January, 2028
54680  5th January, 2018 17th December, 2019 to 1,508,700 - - - 1,508,700
4th January, 2028 (Note)
4,526,100 (1,000,000) (5,800) - 8,620,300
18,104,400  (1,000,000) (5,800)  (1,005,800) 16,092,800
Exercisable at the end of the 18,104,400 16,092,800
year
\Weighted average exercise price HK$6.191  HK$5.468  HK$5.468 HK$0.4872  HK$5.468

Note:

On 17th December, 2019, the shareholders approved the amendment of the vesting period of 108,123,500 options granted

by the Company on 5th January, 2018 to certain employees of the Group. As a result, these options have become vested
and exercisable from 17th December, 2019 until 4th January, 2028.

In respect of the share options exercised during the year ended 31st December, 2021, the weighted average share
price at the dates of exercise was HK$6.82.
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37.

38.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31st December, 2020, the Group entered into certain sale and purchase agreements with
the respective holders of the remaining equity interest of certain subsidiaries in the PRC for a total consideration
of RMB51,200,000 (equivalent to HK$60,837,000). The difference between the consideration paid and the carrying
amount of the additional interest acquired by the Group of HK$7,811,000 was debit to equity as other reserve during
the year ended 31st December, 2020.

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS
Year ended 31st December, 2021
Acquisition of a subsidiary - T {11 % iF

Pursuant to the purchase agreement dated 28th October, 2020 and the acquisition was completed on 31st August,
2021, the Group acquired 100% of the registered share capital of }T TSI ZBRAREEER AR (NTHILZRE)
for a consideration of RMB55,000,000 (equivalent to HK$66,209,000) from independent third parties. On the date
of completion, control in #TT{511% 3 was passed to the Group. This acquisition has been accounted for using
the purchase method. /T 1Y L% 3 is principally engaged in the sales of gas. #TYIL% @ was acquired so as to
continue the expansion of the Group’s operations.

Consideration transferred:

HK$'000

Cash 66,209
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2021 (Continued)
Acquisition of a subsidiary - #1151l Z# (Continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities of #T{YIL%# recognised at the date of acquisition are as follows:

HK$'000

Property, plant and equipment 3,185
Other intangible assets — exclusive right of operation in sales of piped gas 64,225
Trade receivables 555
Right-of-use assets 1,316
Inventories 205
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 1,300
Bank balances and cash 3,025
Trade payables (870)
Other payables and accrued charges (7,232)
Borrowings (2,408)
Tax recoverables 198
Deferred taxation (16,056)
47,943

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts of the trade and other receivables acquired amounted to
HK$1,855,000 at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill arising on acquisition:

HK$'000

Consideration transferred 66,209
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (47,943)
18,266

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of 41T {5111 %3 because the consideration paid for the acquisition included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce arising from the acquisition of /T 1¥|Li% 8. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

b
38. ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2021 (Continued)
Acquisition of a subsidiary - #1151l Z# (Continued)
Net cash inflow on acquisition of #TT {511 %@ during the year ended 31st December, 2021:
HK$'000
Total cash consideration 66,209
Less: bank balances and cash acquired (3,025)
Less: unsettled consideration (included in other payables and accrued charges as at
31st December, 2021) (RMB54,950,000) (67,209)
(4,025)

Included in the profit for the year ended 31st December, 2021 is loss of HK$214,000 attributable to /Ty 1L & i8.
Revenue for the year ended 31st December, 2021 includes HK$1,846,000 generated from Ty 1L % .

Had the acquisition of #T{YIL% @ been completed on 1st January, 2021, total group revenue for the year would
have been HK$11,350,037,000 and profit for the year would have been HK$1,262,002,000. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1st January, 2021, nor is it intended
to be a projection of future results.
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40.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessor

Undiscounted lease payments receivables on leases over non-cancellable period in respect of rented premises and
equipment are as follows:

2021 2020

HK$°000 HK$'000

Within one year 674 1,207
In the second year 690 472
In the third year 707 475
In the fourth year 495 487
In the fifth year 370 312
After five years 346 346
3,282 3,299

The Group’s investment properties with a carrying amount of HK$8,942,000 (2020: HK$9,236,000) are held for rental
purposes. All of the properties held have committed tenants for the next one to eight years (2020: one to nine years).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group had joined the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under the rules and regulations of the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority. The Group’s employees in Hong Kong are required to join the
scheme. The Group and each employee employed in Hong Kong are required to make a contribution of 5% on the
employees’ monthly relevant income with a maximum monthly contribution of HK$1,500 per person.

The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC, in compliance with the applicable regulations of the PRC, participated in
various central pension schemes operated by the relevant municipal and provincial governments. These subsidiaries
are required to make defined contributions to these schemes at rates ranging from 15% to 30% of their covered
payroll. The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of its staff’s retirement and other post-retirement
benefits other than the contributions described above.
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Details of the interest income on amount due from an associate and the outstanding balances due from/to
an associate are set out in notes 8, 27 and 31 respectively.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

The Directors considered that they are the only key management personnel of the Group. Their emoluments
are set out in note 12.

42. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

As at 31st December, 2021, the capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial statements is HK$149,021,000 (2020: HK$281,354,000).

43. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Group entered into new lease agreements for the use of leased
properties for one year to two years. On the lease commencement, the Group recognised HK$8,280,000 of right-
of-use assets and HK$8,280,000 of lease liabilities (2020: HK$18,549,000 of right-of-use assets and HK$18,549,000
of lease liabilities).

Part of the declared dividends amounting to HK$18,124,000 had mutually agreed by employees and the Company
to off-set with the loans to employees for the year ended 31st December, 2021.

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the dividends of HK$13,465,000 declared by subsidiary to non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiary was contributed back to the subsidiary as capital injection from non-controlling
shareholders.

During the year ended 31st December, 2020, short-term borrowings drawn on discounted bills with recourse
amounted to HK$118,457,000 have been settled upon the maturity of the related bills.

44. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall
strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in
notes 32 and 33, net of cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, accumulated profits and other reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on a continuous basis taking into account the cost of

capital and the risks associated with the capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure through new share
issues, payment of dividends, repurchase of shares and the issue of new debt or the redemption of the existing debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Categories of financial instruments

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Financial assets

Financial assets at FVTOCI 86,257 83,875
Financial assets at FVTPL - 79,445
Financial assets at amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents) 4,979,265 4,774,647

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 13,776,975 14,184,944

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables, refundable deposits, other receivables, amounts
due from an associate and a related party, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash, trade payables,
other payables, amount due to an associate, borrowings and lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to fixed-rate amounts due from an associate and a related
company, fixed-rate loans to employees, fixed-rate bank borrowings and fixed-rate lease liabilities. Currently, the
Group has not used any derivative contracts to hedge this exposure to interest rate risk. However, management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant fixed rate borrowings should the need arise.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates to variable-rate bank balances and variable-rate bank
borrowings. The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to mitigate its exposure to cash flow interest rate
risk. However, the management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider other necessary actions when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated. The interest rates of variable bank borrowings are based on (1) a
range of multiples of PBOC Prescribed Interest Rate; or (2) interest rate at LIBOR plus a premium; or (3) interest
rate at HIBOR plus a premium.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including the replacement of
some interbank offered rates (“IBORs”) with alternative nearly risk-free rates. Details of the impacts on the Group’s
risk management strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark reform and the progress towards implementation
of alternative benchmark interest rates are set out under “interest rate benchmark reform” in this note.
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44. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to the variable-rate bank borrowings at the end
of the reporting period and management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change interest rates. The analysis
is prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for
the whole year. If interest rates on bank borrowings had been 50 basis points (2020: 50 basis points) higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year would decrease/increase by
HK$35,615,000 (2020: HK$39,052,000).

The directors considered the Group’s exposure of the variable-rate bank balances to interest rate risk is not significant
and therefore no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Foreign currency risk

The Group collects most of its revenue in RMB and incurs most of the expenditures as well as capital expenditures
in RMB. The Directors consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange risk is insignificant, except
for certain bank balances and bank borrowings which are denominated in US$ or HK$, as the majority of the Group’s
transactions are denominated in the functional currency of the respective group entities. The equivalent amount of
HK$ are set out below:

Assets Liabilities
2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
US$ 115,504 35,365 7,388,807 4,054,941
HK$ 132,167 36,482 493,592 4,639,579
247,671 71,847 7,882,399 8,694,520

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arises.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign currency risk in HK$ and US$.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2020: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB against US$ or
HK$. 5% (2020: 5%) represents management’s assessment of the reasonable possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes respective US$ and HK$ bank balances and bank borrowings, and adjusts their
translation at the year end for a 5% (2020: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates
increase in post-tax profit where RMB strengthen 5% (2020: 5%) against the relevant currencies. For a 5% (2020:
5%) weakening of RMB against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit.

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

Us$ 272,744 160,734
HK$ 13,553 172,616

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on their contractual obligations resulting in
financial losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade receivables,
contract assets, refundable deposits, other receivables, amount due from an associate and a related party, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover
its credit risks associated with its financial assets and contract assets, except that the credit risks associated with
loans to employees included in long term other receivables is mitigated because they are secured by the shares
held by the employees.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial assets and contract assets under ECL model. Information

about the Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit risk exposures and the related impairment assessment,
if applicable, are summarised as below:
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44. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model according to HKFRS 9 on
trade receivables and contract assets based on collective assessment except for the debtors with credit-impaired
balances which are assessed individually.

Deposits and other receivables and amount due from a related party

The Group has taken into account the economic outlook of the industries in which the debtors operate, and concluded
that there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The ECL on deposits and other
receivables and amount due from a related party are considered to be insignificant except for other receivables of
HK$18,798,000 (2020: HK$18,141,000) which are considered as credit-impaired and fully provided.

The credit risk on loans to employees included in long term other receivables is insignificant as the loans are secured
by the shares held as collateral by the Group.

Amount due from an associate

The Group has assessed the financial position of an associate as well as the economic outlook of the industry in
which the associate operates, and concluded that there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The ECL on amount due from an associate is considered to be insignificant.

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are reputable banks in the PRC or banks with
high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies and the Group has limited exposure to any single
financial institution.

As at 31st December, 2021, the Group performed impairment assessment on bank balances by reference to the

average loss rates for respective credit rating grades published by international credit-rating agencies and concluded
that the ECL is insignificant.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020, other than the concentration of credit risk on the amounts due from an
associate and a related party and loans to employees, the Group has no significant concentration of credit risk,
with exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers. In this regard, the Directors consider that
the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal Trade receivables/ Other financial assets/
credit rating  Description Contract assets other items
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
usually settle after due date not credit-impaired
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
risk since initial recognition through information not credit-impaired not credit-impaired

developed internally or external resources

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off  Amount is written off

severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
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44. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets and contract assets, which are
subject to ECL assessment:

External Internal Gross carrying amount
credit credit
Notes  rating rating 12-month or lifetime ECL 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

Financial assets at
amortised cost

Other long-term deposits and 20 N/A Low risk  12m ECL (not credit-impaired 628,864 624,434
other receivables and assessed individually)
Trade receivables — contracts with 26 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired 2,047,401 1,771,513
customers and collective assessment)
Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 41,127 41,127

2,088,528 1,812,640

Deposits and other receivables 26 N/A Low risk  12m ECL (not credit-impaired 424,039 561,325
and assessed individually)
Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 18,798 18,141

442,837 579,466

Amount due from an associate 27 N/A Low risk  12m ECL (not credit-impaired - 59,411
and assessed individually)

Amount due from a related party 27 N/A Low risk  12m ECL (not credit-impaired 9,173 8,912
and assessed individually)

Pledged bank deposits 29 Al Low risk  12m ECL (not credit-impaired 48,924 4,753
and assessed individually)

Bank balances 29 Aa2 to Baa3  Lowrisk  12m ECL (not credit-impaired 1,820,357 1,743,200
and assessed individually)
Other item
Contract assets 28 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired 515,356 609,259
and collective assessment)
Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 58,711 60,546

574,067 669,805
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44. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Note:

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with credit-impaired balances which are assessed individually, the Group
determines the ECL on these items grouped by past due status for trade receivables and the status of the relevant projects
of the contract assets. When there are indicators that the relevant trade receivables and contract assets may be credit-
impaired, the relevant amounts will be assessed for ECL individually.

The Group uses aging to assess the impairment for its customers in relation to its operation because these customers
consist of a large number of customers with common risk characteristics that are representative of the customers’ abilities
to pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms. Based on the Group’s assessment of historical credit loss
experience of the existing debtors and all available forward looking information, including but not limited to the expected
economic conditions in the PRC and expected subsequent settlements, the Group does not consider that default occurs
for those contractual payments that are more than 90 days past due.

The Group used estimated loss rates based on aging for classes with different credit risk characteristics and exposures,
and the estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Group made an allowance of nil (2020: allowance of HK$25,534,000)
and recognise reversal of HK$1,835,000 (2020: allowance of HK$13,200,000) on trade receivables and contract assets
respectively and recognise HK$657,000 (2020: HK$12,625,000) of impairment loss allowance on other receivables, based
on the individual assessment.
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44. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for both trade receivables and

contract assets under the simplified approach and other receivables.

Trade receivables Contract assets Other receivables

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) (credit-impaired)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

As at 1st January, 2020 15,593 47,346 5,616
Net remeasurement of impairment losses allowance 25,5634 183,200 12,625
As at 31st December, 2020 41,127 60,546 18,141
Net remeasurement of impairment losses allowance - (1,835) 657
As at 31st December, 2021 41,127 58,711 18,798

Liquidity risk

As at 31st December, 2021, the Group has net current liabilities of HK$1,318,166,000. As explained in note 3.1,
the Directors have therefore given careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group when preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The Directors believe that the Group will be able to meet in full its financial
obligations as and when they fall due for the foreseeable future, taking into accounts the cash flows from the
profitable operations and new bank borrowings obtained by the Group amounting to appropriately HK$1,576,386,000
subsequent to 31st December, 2021 in which the borrowings are due after one year from the dates of drawdown.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. The Group relies on bank borrowings as significant sources of liquidity. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with the relevant covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity based on the agreed repayment terms for
its financial liabilities and lease liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities and lease liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table
includes both interest (estimated based on interest rate at the end of the reporting period) and principal cash flows.
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44. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity tables

Weighted
average  On demand Total Carrying
effective  or less than 3 months 1-5 More than undiscounted amount at
interest rate 3 months to 1 year years 5 years cash flow 31.12.2021
% HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000
2021
Trade payables - 1,730,216 - - - 1,730,216 1,730,216
Other payables and accrued
charges - 724,685 - - - 724,685 724,685
Amount due to an associate - 1,094 - - - 1,094 1,094
Borrowings
- fixed rate 447 593,740 903,032 436,425 6,584 1,939,781 1,857,932
- variable rate 243 795,097 1,790,788 7,276,683 4,079 9,866,647 9,463,048
Lease liabilities 4.53 2,012 3,525 9,635 11,115 26,287 21,556

3,846,844 2,697,345 7,722,743 21,778 14,288,710 13,798,531
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44. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity tables (Continued)

Weighted
average On demand Total Carrying
effective or less than 3 months 1-5 More than  undiscounted amount at
interest rate 3 months to 1 year years 5 years cash flow 31.12.2020
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
2020
Trade payables - 1,882,389 - - - 1,882,389 1,882,389
Other payables and accrued
charges - 711,346 - - - 711,346 711,346
Amount due to an associate - 1,063 - - - 1,063 1,063
Borrowings
- fixed rate 4.41 366,318 686,703 157,005 9,247 1,218,273 1,176,198
- variable rate 3.38 820,912 5,857,871 4,348,184 7,614 11,034,581 10,413,948
Lease liabilities 4,61 2,999 5,338 11,288 13,386 33,011 21,377

3,784,027 6,549,912 4,516,477 30,247 14,880,663 14,212,321

Note: The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change
if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on demand or less than 3 months” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31st December, 2021 the aggregate carrying amounts of these bank
loans amounted to HK$73,852,000 (2020: HK$358,050,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the
Directors do not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The Directors believe that such bank borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, details of which are set out in the table below:

Maturity Analysis — Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause based on scheduled repayments

3 months Total
Less than to 1-5 undiscounted Carrying
3 months 1 year years cash flow amount
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31st December, 2021 441 57,879 18,018 76,338 73,8562
31st December, 2020 2,976 361,026 - 364,002 358,050

Interest rate benchmark reform

As listed in note 32, several of the Group’s LIBOR/HIBOR bank loans may be subject to the interest rate benchmark
reform. The Group is closely monitoring the market and managing the transition to new benchmark interest rates,
including announcements made by the relevant IBOR regulators.

LIBOR

The Financial Conduct Authority has confirmed all LIBOR settings will either cease to be provided by any administrator
or no longer be representative:

° immediately after 31st December, 2021, in the case of all sterling, euro, Swiss franc and Japanese yen
settings, and the 1-week and 2-month US dollar settings; and

o immediately after 30th June, 2023, in the case of the remaining US dollar settings.
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44. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Interest rate benchmark reform (Continued)

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average (“HONIA”) has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR,
there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR
and HONIA will co-exist.

(i) Risks arising from the interest rate benchmark reform

The following are the key risks for the Group arising from the transition:

Interest rate related risks

For contracts which have not been transitioned to the relevant alternative benchmark rates and without
detailed fallback clauses, if the bilateral negotiations with the Group’s counterparties are not successfully
concluded before the cessation of LIBORs, there are significant uncertainties with regard to the interest rate
that would apply. This gives rise to additional interest rate risk that was not anticipated when the contracts
were entered into.

There are fundamental differences between IBORs and the various alternative benchmark rates. IBORs are
forward looking term rates published for a period (e.g. 3 months) at the beginning of that period and include
an inter-bank credit spread, whereas alternative benchmark rates are typically risk-free overnight rates
published at the end of the overnight period with no embedded credit spread. These differences will result
in additional uncertainty regarding floating rate interest payments.

Liquidity risk

The additional uncertainty on various alternative rates which are typically published on overnight basis will
require additional liquidity management. The Group’s liquidity risk management policy has been updated to
ensure sufficient liquid resources to accommodate unexpected increases in overnight rates.

Litigation risk

If no agreement is reached to implement the interest rate benchmark reform on contracts which have not been
transitioned to the relevant alternative benchmark rates (e.g. arising from differing interpretation of existing
fallback terms), there is a risk of prolonged disputes with counterparties which could give rise to additional
legal and other costs. The Group is working closely with all counterparties to avoid this from occurring.

Interest rate basis risk

Interest rate basis risk may arise if a non-derivative instrument and the derivative instrument held to manage
the interest risk on the non-derivative instrument transition to alternative benchmark rates at different times.
This risk may also arise where back-to-back derivatives transition at different times. The Group will monitor
this risk against its risk management policy which has been updated to allow for temporary mismatches of
up to 12 months and transact additional basis interest rate swaps if required.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform (Continued)

(i)  Progress towards implementation of alternative benchmark interest rates

As part of the Group’s risk management for transition, new contracts entered into by the Group are linked
to the relevant alternative benchmark rates or interest rates which are not subject to reform to the extent
feasible. Otherwise, the Group ensured the relevant contracts include detailed fallback clauses clearly
referencing the alternative benchmark rate and the specific triggering event on which the clause is activated.

During the year, no contracts which are linked to 1 week and 2 months LIBOR US dollar settings have been
transitioned. In addition, for a floating rate loan that is linked to HIBOR, the Group had confirmed with the
relevant counterparty HIBOR will continue to maturity.

The Group is planning to transition LIBOR-linked contract through introduction of, or amendments to, fallback
clauses into the contracts which will change the basis for determining the interest cash flows from LIBOR
to Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) at an agreed point in time.

The following table shows the total amounts of outstanding contracts and the progress in completing the
transition to alternative benchmark rates as at 31st December, 2021. The amount of financial liabilities are
shown at their carrying amounts.

Financial instruments Carrying Hedge Transition progress for
prior to transition Maturing in amounts accounting financial instruments
HK$'000

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Bank loan linked to USD LIBOR 2024 3,781,288 N/A  Transitioned to SOFR
Bank loan linked to HIBOR 2023 493,592 N/A  HIBOR will continue till maturity
Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at amortised cost are determined by in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurement recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements
are categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.
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44. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value (Continued)

Fair value measurement recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

o Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for
identical assets or liabilities;

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices); and

o Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset
or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Financial assets/financial liabilities Valuation

in the consolidated statement of Fair value as at Fair value as at Fair value techniques and

financial position 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 hierarchy key inputs

1) Investments in unlisted equity investments Assets - Assets — Level 3 Asset-Based approach
classified as financial assets at FVTOCI HK$83,537,000 HK$81,155,000 - reference to fair values

of the underlying
assets and liabilities
held by the investee.

2) Investment components of life insurance Assets - Assets — Level 3 Discounted cash flows
contracts classified as financial assets at nil HK$79,445,000 — reference to expected
FVTPL (Note) cash flows and applied

appropriate discount
rate

Note: The returns of these investments are at the discretion of the insurer and the surrender charge is for termination of both
the insurance and investment components. Accordingly, the Directors considered the account value as at 31st December,
2020 was an appropriate estimate of fair value.

The Directors consider such exposure for fair value changes in financial assets are not significant. Accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis is presented.
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RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash

flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Dividend
payables to
Amount non-controlling
due to Lease Dividend interests of Interest
an associate liabilities payables subsidiaries payables Borrowings Total
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$:000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Note 33) (Note 32)
At 1st January, 2020 1,001 81,422 364 - 9,845 11,021,210 11,113,842
Financing cash flows - (76,949) (177,393 (24,423) (349,742) 360,824 (267,683)
Non-cash movement of discounted
bills with recourse - - - - - (118,457 (118,457
Dividend declared - - 185,139 24,423 - - 209,562
Recognition of lease liabiliies - 18,549 - - - - 18,549
Exchange adjustments - profit or loss - - - - 397 (121,721) (121,324)
Exchange adjustments
- other comprehensive income 62 1,826 - - - 397,679 399,567
Finance costs - 2,529 - - 342,595 50,611 395,735
At 31st December, 2020 1,063 21,317 8,110 - 3,09 11,690,146 11,629,791
Financing cash flows - (16,092) (259,992) (4,342) (310,453 (563,994) (1,154,873)
Non-cash movements (note 43) - - (18,124) (13,465) - - (31,589
Dividend declared - - 270,174 17,807 - - 287,981
Recognition of lease liabiliies - 8,280 - - - - 8,280
Exchange adjustments - profit or loss - - - - 190 (123,345) (123,155)
Exchange adjustments
- other comprehensive income 31 691 - - - 366,679 367,401
Finance costs - 1,300 - - 317,020 51,494 369,814
At 31st December, 2021 1,094 21,556 168 - 9,852 11,320,980 11,363,650
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46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020
Place/country of Proportion of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2021 2020
% %
Zhongyu Gas Investment Limited Hong Kong Limited liability 1 ordlinary share of 100¢ 100 Investment holding
company HK$1 each
Zhongyu Gas Investment Limited™** Briish Virgin Islands ~ Incorporated 1 ordinary share of 100¢ 100° Investment holding
US$1 each
Zhongyu Gas Investment (Beiing) Limited™*  British Virgin Isilands ~ Incorporated 1 ordinary share of 100¢ 100 Investment holding
US$1 each
China City Gas Construction Holdings British Virgin Islands~ Incorporated 100 ordinary shares of 100% 100% Investment holding
Co., Ltd* US$1 each
China City Gas Construction Explore Co.,  British Virgin Islands ~ Incorporated 100 ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Investment holding
Ltd US$1 each
China Gas Construction Expansion Co., British Virgin Islands ~ Incorporated 1,380,000 ordinary 100 100%  Investment holding
Lid. shares of US$1
each
China City Gas Construction Development  British Virgin Islands -~ Incorporated 100 ordlinary shares of 100% 100% Investment holding
Co, Ld.* US$1 each
China Cily Gas Construction Investment British Virgin Islands~ Incorporated 100 ordinary shares of 100% 100% Investment holding
Co,, Lid* US$1 each
Zhongyu Gas Energy Investment Limited™* British Virgin Islands ~ Incorporated 50,000 ordinary 100¢ 100 Investment holding
shares of US$1
each
Zhongyu (Hong Kong) Property Senvices Hong Kong Incorporated 1 ordinary share of 100¢ 100 Investment holding
Investment Limited HK$1 each
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PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020 (Continued)

Place/country of Proportion of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2021 2020
% %
HIPBARERAE PRC Wholl-foreign owned  Regstered capitl 100% 100% Trading of natural as, gas ppeline
enterprise 1US$20,000,000 construction and operation of CNG/
(NG vehicle filing stations
PRI RRERRFIERAA PRC Wholly-foreign owned  Registered capital 100% 100 Investment holding
enterprise US$100,000,000
=ARFRERERAT PRO Sino-foreign joint Registered capitl 90 90* Traclng of natural gas and liquefied
venture HK$50,000,000 petroleum gas and gas pipeline
construction
FERRRRER LA PRC Sino-foreign joint Registered capitl o7+ 97 Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture HK$15,000,000 construction
HEPREERARAA PRC Limited liabilty Registered capia 99.8# 99.8% Operation of CNG/LNG veficte fling
company RMB63,000,000 stations
EEP IR ARAA PRC Sino-foreign joint Registered capitl 95 95+ Trading of natural ges and liquefied
venture HK$25,000,000 petroleum gas and gas pipeling
construction
AP RIRERAT PRC Sio-foreign joint ~ Registered capita 100% 100 Trading of natural ges and gas pipeine
venture HK$110,000,000 construction
KRRREGERAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100 Dangerous goods transportation
company RMB600,000
Bt RER AR PRC Wholly-foreign owned  Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
enterprise HK$448,000,000 construction
BT REENEERLA PRC Limited liabilty Registered capitl 100% 100%  Operation of ONG/LNG vehicle filing
company RMB10,000,000 Stations
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46.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020 (Continued)

Place/country of Proportion of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2021 2020
% %
SRR ERAE PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB15,160,000 construction
REGRRRRERA PRC Limited liabity Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RIVB50,000,000 construction
ERTRIRARLA PRC Sino-foreign joint Registered capitl 92.9% 92.9% Trading of natural gas and gas pineline
venture R\MB120,000,000 construction
BARRREAERAE (Luohe Znongy')  PRC Sino-foreign joint Registered capital 7.3% 77.3% Trading of natural gas and gas pineline
venture R\IB185,468,511 construction
BIPBRRTRREERAF PRC Sino-foreign joint Registered capital 73.4% 73.4% Gas pipeline construction
venture R\B5,000,000
PR ERAR PRC Sino-foreign joint Registered capital 93.2% 93.2%  Traclng of natural gas, coal gas and
venture RIB249,800,000 llouefied pefroleum gas and gas
pipeline construction
TERARERIRERAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capia 93.2¢ 93.2% Qs pipeline construction
company RMB100,000,000
ERAURRERARLA PRC Limited liabity Registered capita 99.0% 99.2%  Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB40,000,000 construction
RTRRREARAE (Lnyi Zhongw')  PRO Shno-foreign joint Registered capital 51 51% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RIIB50,000,000 construction
PRAEERERERAE PRC Wholly-foreign owned  Registered capital 100¢ 100° Investrment holding
enterprise HK$1,225,000,000
PRARERRREBRAT PRO Limited liabilty Registered capitl 100% 100%  Operation of ONG/LNG venicle flling
company RMB6,000,000 Stations
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As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020 (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

Place/country of Proportion of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2021 2020
% %
ERTREERARAA PRC Limited liabilty Registered capia 100% 100*  Operafion of CNG/LNG vehicle fling
company RMB10,000,000 Stations
=FARFHEREERAR PRC Limited fiabilty Registered capital 100% 100%  Operation of ONG/LNG vehicle fling
company RIVB50,000,000 stations
BRaEthRRERAA PRC Limited liabilty Registered capitl 100% 1007 Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB20,000,000 construction
ETRRRRERAA PRC Limited libilty Registered capia 100% 100 Resarch and development of natural gas
company RMBS,000,000 fechnology
Bt RER LA PRO Limited liabity Registered caplta 100% 100%  Not yet commenced business
company RMB30,000,000
EERHMIMRARLA PRC Limited liabity Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RIVB35,000,000 construction
ENHRRERA PRC Limited liabilty Registered capitl 100% 1007 Trading of natural gas, gas pipeline
company R\B25,000,000 construction and operation of GNG/
NG venicle filing stations
BETUERERERAT PRO Limited liabity Registered capital 100% 100%  Tracing of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMBS,000,000 construction
Mg EEEHERAT PRC Limited fiabilty Registered capital 100% 100%  Not yet commenced business
company RMB100,000
EPRRRERAR PRC Limited liabiity Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RIVB10,000,000 construction
RELTRARERAF PRO Limited liabity Registered capital 99.8% 99.8"  Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB16,300,000 construction
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46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020 (Continued)

Place/country of Proportion of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2021 2020
% %
RERARRARAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural as, gas ppeline
company RMB26,000,000 construction and operation of CNG/
(NG vehicle filing stations
BN ihnRERAR PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company R\B20,000,000 construction
EEPUBERERAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capitl 100% 100%  Operation of ONG/LNG venicle flling
company RMB15,000,000 Stations
EREERERERRERAA PRC Limited fiabilty Registered capital 100% 100 Trading of stoves and equipment
company RMBS,500,000
BIHEERERAA PRC Sino-foreign joint Registered capital 100% 100 Operation of CNG/LNG vehicle filing
venture RIVB10,000,000 stations
PR RARRA PRC Limited liabiity Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company R\B20,000,000 construction
IR L PRO Limited liabity Registered capita 80" 80" Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB50,000,000 construction
MR EHRERLA PRC Limited liabiity Registered capial 100% 100%  Trading of natural gas and gas pipeine
company RMB10,000,000 construction
B RER LA PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 88.9% 88.9%  Not yet commenced business
company RMB100,000,000
SRPINRARRA PRC Limited liabiity Registered capital 85+ 85% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RIVB50,000,000 construction
HHRERR AR DA PRO Limited liabity Registered capital 100% 100%  Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB47,600,000 construction

ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2021



46.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020 (Continued)

Place/country of Proportion of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2021 2020
% %
SRR RARL PRC Limited fiabilty Registered capital 100% 100%  Not yet commenced business
company RMB20,000,000
MR TR ARAA PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100%  Design of gas pipeline construction
company RMB2,000,000 project
PRAEERE SR PRO Limited liabity Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas
company R\IB50,000,000
[EfmeRERAA PRO Limited liabilty Registered capia 100% 100 Treding of stoves and equipment
company RMB20,000,000
REGHRREERAR PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB55,000,000 construction
BT RERAT PRC Limited liabity Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB5,000,000 construction
EETRIRERLA PRO Limited liabity Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company HK$188,758,363 construction
HRBA(RYREERRAA PRC Limited libilty Registered capia 100% 100 Provision of menagement senices to
company RMB100,000 group companies
PRFEEERERAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100 Investment holding
company RMB90,000,000
HREERB(RYERAR PRC Limited liabity Registered capital 100% 100%  Provision of management senices to
company RMB50,000,000 group companies
BRBLEADAEERAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capia 80+ 80 Not yet commenced business
company RMB20,000,000
e e BRAREEERAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capia 100% 100 Trading of natural ges and gs pipeine
company RMB30,000,000 construction
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46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020 (Continued)
Place/country of Proportion of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2021 2020
% %
FREREADEERTERLA PRC Limited fiabilty Registered capital 70% 70 Design and consuling of energy projects
company RMB20,000,000
IRBREIDRERLERNERAE PR Limited liabilty Registered capital 70% 70%  Design and consulting of energy projects
company RVB4,467,500
IRERFEARERIRBERRA  PRO Limited liabity Registered capital 0% 70" Design and consuting of energy projects
company R\MB8,382,546
Bt EN ) RERLA PRC Limited liabity Registered capita 0% 70 Design and consuting of energy projects
company RMB119,000
BRBERNERARAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 63" 63* Design and consuling of energy projects
company RMB44,631
BT REBEERRNRERAA PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 5@ 58+ Design and consuling of energy projects
company RVB14,296,650
ORI FERERAT PRO Limited liabilty Registered capitl 100% 100 Design and consuliing of energy projects
company RMB20,000,000
WRHHREBLRERRA PRO Limited liabilty Registered capia 100% 100 Not yet commenced business
company RMB100,000
Bt REERRARAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100 Design and consuling of energy projects
company RMB8,100,000
BrERlSeRENERERAT PRC Limited liabity Registered capital 51# 51%  Dangerous goods transpartation
company RVB500,000
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As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020 (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

Place/country of Proportion of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2021 2020
% %
RETIARERAE PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB48,000,000 construction
AP BRRERAR PRC Limited liabity Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RIB56,000,000 construction
IREEARRERAA PRC Limited liabilty Registered capitl 100% 1007 Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB30,000,000 construction
FAGERRARARRA PRC Limited libilty Registered capia 100% 100 Trading of natural ges and gas pipeine
company RMBS,000,000 construction
BiE R aRERAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 89.5% 89.5%  Investment holding
company RMB20,000,000
EEr R ERAR PRC Limited liabity Registered capital 03 93 Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RVB30,000,000 construction
ERRRERERAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capitl 100% 1007 Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB20,000,000 construction
HINREENEERLT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100 Digital and information technology
company RIB20,000,000 development and provision of related
consultancy services
EEPRERARLA PRC Limited liabiity Registered capital 0% 70% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB100,000,000 construction
ERRHEINAARAT PRC Limited Liabilty Registered capital 0% 70% Trading of natural gas and gas pineline
company HK$66,670,000 construction
EEEMREERAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capitl 65 65%  Traclng of natural gas, gas pipeline
company 1S$30,000,000 construction
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46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020 (Continued)
Place/country of Proportion of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2021 2020
% %
BETHERERAT PRC Limited liailty Registered caplta 65+ 85" Trading of naiural gas, gas pipeline
company RMB50,000,000 construction
KTPREEERERAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100% Design and development for new energy
company RIVB20,000,000 technology
ERGER R RER AT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capitl 100% 1007 Trading of natural gas
company RMB3,300,000
BTPHEZERLA PRO Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100%  Sales of gas equipment and materials
company -
BN RERNEREERLA PRC Limited liabity Registered caplta 100% - Not yet commenced business
company RMB1,000,000
BBEE EEREERAR PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% - Property menagement
company RVB1,000,000
AAREEEERAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capia 100¢ - Not yet commenced business
company RMBS,000,000
RlAHEREFERAA PRC Limited liabity Registered capital 100% - Trading of natural gas
company 1JSD20,000,000
FROTEEARHESRARETIAR  PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% ~ Not yet commenced business
company RMB1,000,000
BUBAEEERAR PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 95 ~ Not yet commenced business
company RVB10,000,000
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As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020 (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

Place/country of Proportion of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2021 2020
% %
ERATENERAA PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 60% ~ Not yet commenced business
company RMB100,000,000
WEFABE R RAR AT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% ~ Not yet commenced business
company USD20,000,000
EEHESERERAR PRC Limited liabilty Registered capia 100¢ - Not yet commenced business
company 1JSD40,000,000
FLELRBRRREERRAA PRC Limited liabilty Registered capia 100% ~ Sales of ges
company RMBS,000,000
RBETHESERAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% ~ Sales of gas equipment and materials
company RMB2,000,000
IR REERRARLA PRC Limited liabity Registered capitl 100% ~ Not yet commenced business
company USD50,000,000
Harmony Gas Holdings Limited™ Cayman Islands Limited liability 78,267,805 ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
company shares of
1S$0.0001 each
Prospertty Gas Holdings Ltd.** Cayman Islands Limited liability 201 ordinary shares of 100 100%  Investment holding
company US$1 each
Prosperity Gas 2 Co., Lid. Hong Kong Limited liability 1 ordinary shares of 100% 1007 Investment holding
company HK$1 each
Sino Gas Intemational Holdings, Inc™ United States of Incorporated 1,000 common stock 100% 1007 Investment holding
America without par value
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

<
46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020 (Continued)
Place/country of Proportion of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2021 2020
% %
Gas Investment China Co, Ltd.** British Virgin Islands ~ Incorporated 21,500,001 ordlinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
shares of US$1
each
Tong Yuan International Holding Limited Hong Kong Limited fiability 10,000 ordlinary 51# 51 Investment holding
company shares of HK$1
each
Sno Gas Construction Limited* British Virgin Islands ~ Incorporated 1,909,730 ordinary 97.3# 97.3%  Investment holding
shares of US$1
each
IR ERAE PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas
company RMB426,000,000
IR ER AR PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RIB40,000,000 construction
BRI RER A PRC Limited liabiity Registered capial 100% 100 Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB10,000,000 construction
MERRRRERAT PRO Limited libilty Registered capia 100% 100 Trading of natural ges and gas pipeine
company RMB10,000,000 construction
IRERARERAE PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB35,239,600 construction
ERRHREERAR PRC Limited liabity Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RIVB20,000,000 construction
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020 (Continued)

Place/country of Proportion of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2021 2020
% %
ERETHARARAA PRC Limited febilty Registered captl 100% 100 Tracing of natural gas and ges pipeline
company RIVB30,000,000 construction
HERMIRARRA PRC Limited liabilty Registered caplta 100 100%  Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RIVB10,000,000 construction
FROTEEPBRERELLA PRC Limited liabilty Registered capitl 100% 1007 Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMBS,000,000 construction
RFEBFERANAARAT PRC Limited libilty Registered capia 100% 100 Trading of natural ges and gas pipeine
company RMB6,000,000 construction
REHRIRAERAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered caplta 100 100%  Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB10,000,000 construction
BURBETREERAT PRC Limited liabiity Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and liquefied
company RMB80,000,000 petroleum gas and gas pipeline
construction
BlhRERARRERAR PRO Limited liabity Registered capital 100% 100 Operation of ONG/LNG vehicle fling
company RMB10,000,000 Stations
R ERRARAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered caplta 1007 100 Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB10,000,000 construction
TtEREZREEEARAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered caplta 100 100%  Trading of natural gas
company RMB14,621,063
RETRRRERLA PRO Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RIVB10,000,000 construction
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020 (Continued)

Place/country of Proportion of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2021 2020
% %
EERTHRSARAR PRC Limited liailty Registered caplta 100 100%  Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB30,000,000 construction
fEmiiRARLA PRC Limited liabilty Registered caplta 100 100%  Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RIVB10,000,000 construction
EKPRIRARLA PRO Limited liabity Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB10,000,000 construction
B RIRERAT PRC Limited libilty Registered capia 100% 100 Trading of natural ges and gas pipeine
company RMB10,000,000 construction
ERRIRRERAF PRC Limited liabilty Registered caplta 100 100%  Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB9,981,775 construction
PR RER A PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RIVIB45,000,000 construction
BEPRItRER LA PRO Limited liabity Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB10,000,000 construction
BRORRERAT PRC Limited libilty Registered capia 100% 100 Trading of natural ges and gas pipeine
company RMB10,000,000 construction
HAERRARARAR PRC Limited liabilty Registered caplta 100 100%  Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB10,000,000 construction
BIFRERELREMESARLA  PRC Limited liabiity Registered capital 100% 100%  Dangerous goods transpartation
company RVB1,000,000
BHBRRERRA PRO Limited liabilty Registered capitl 100% 1007 Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB30,000,000 construction
TEmtitRaRAT PRO Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB10,000,000 construction
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

W For the year ended 31st December, 2021

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020 (Continued)

Place/country of Proportion of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
2021 2020
% %
BERERAREEERAT PRC Limited fiabilty Registered capital 100% 100%  Transportation of piped natural gas
company RMB50,000,000
FLEPRRRERAR PRC Limited liabity Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB5,000,000 construction
M RARR fomery kiownas PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 1007 Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
HLEBEEXNRARAR) company RMBA0,000,000 construction
BETERAARARAA PRC Limited libilty Registered capia 100% 100 Trading of natural ges and gas pipeine
company RMB25,090,000 construction
RETHEERRARAR PRC Limited liabilty Registered caplta 95 95" Trading of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB10,000,000 construction
BURBEEREERAT PRC Limited Liabilty Registered capital 100% 100%  Not yet commenced business
company RIVB20,000,000
# The nominal value of issued share capital/registered capital directly held by the Company.
## The nominal value of issued share capital/registered capital indirectly held by the Company.

#it# The place of operation of the company is Hong Kong.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

47. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling

interests:
Proportion of ownership
Place of incorporation and interests and voting rights held  Profit for the year attributable Accumulated
Name of subsidiary principal place of business by non-controlling interests ~ to non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK§ 000
Linyi Zhongyu PRC - Shandong province 49% 49% 26,586 20,950 323,242 274,841
Luohe Zhongyu PRC - Henan province 22.1% 22.11% 12,683 14,905 139,551 126,310
Indlvidually immaterial subsidliaries with non-controling interests, including Harmony Gas'
subsidiaries 34,371 20,715 395,208 314,160
73,646 56,620 858,001 715311

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts before intragroup

eliminations.

(i) Linyi Zhongyu

2021 2020

HK$°000 HK$'000

Current assets 208,801 167,753
Non-current assets 756,177 686,013
Current liabllities (242,921) (245,707)
Non-current liabilities (62,380) (47,159)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 336,435 286,059
Non-controlling interests 323,242 274,841
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

47. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

0] Linyi Zhongyu (Continued)

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Revenue 568,202 454,465
Expenses (513,944) (411,710)
Profit for the year 54,258 42,755
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 27,672 21,805
Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests 26,586 20,950
Profit for the year 54,258 42,755
Other comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company 22,704 20,5626
Other comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling
interests 21,815 19,721
Other comprehensive income for the year 44,519 40,247
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company 50,376 42,331
Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling
interests 48,401 40,671
Total comprehensive income for the year 98,777 83,002
Net cash generated from (used in) operating activities 102,312 (5,458)
Net cash used in investing activities (36,976) (39,098)
Net cash generated from financing activities 12,111 23,951
Net cash inflow (outflow) 77,447 (20,605)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

47. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)
(i) Luohe Zhongyu

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

Current assets 379,058 382,738
Non-current assets 1,478,499 1,246,305
Current liabilities (1,062,657) (913,785)
Non-current liabilities (165,423) (204,852)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 489,926 384,096
Non-controlling interests 139,551 126,310
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

47. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

(i) Luohe Zhongyu (Continued)

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
Revenue 612,242 542,897
Expenses (556,393) (477,044)
Profit for the year 55,849 65,853
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 43,166 50,898
Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests 12,683 14,955
Profit for the year 55,849 65,853
Other comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company 48,861 36,787
Other comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling
interests 14,357 10,723
Other comprehensive income for the year 63,218 47,5610
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company 92,027 87,685
Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling
interests 27,040 25,678
Total comprehensive income for the year 119,067 113,363
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests - 14,122
Net cash generated from operating activities 189,504 369,603
Net cash used in investing activities (161,191) (169,686)
Net cash used in financing activities (3,867) (114,137)
Net cash inflow 24,446 95,780
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2021 4 Sy

48. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period includes:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
Non-current assets
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries 1,433,518 1,410,512
Investments in life insurance contracts - 81,982
Financial asset at FVTOCI 2,720 2,720
Amounts due from group companies 8,083,639 8,026,558
Long term other receivables 613,964 608,769
Right-of-use assets 492 514
10,134,333 10,131,055
Current assets
Other receivables 7,221 9,560
Bank balances and cash 285,470 66,683
292,691 76,243
Current liabilities
Other payables and accrued charges 11,068 12,644
Amounts due to group companies 18,807 18,834
Borrowings 1,312,264 4,789,703
Lease liabilities 500 523
1,342,639 4,821,604
Net current liabilities (1,049,948) (4,745,361)
Total assets less current liabilities 9,084,385 5,385,694

194  zHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

\@ For the year ended 31st December, 2021

M

INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
Capital and reserves
Share capital (note 34) 28,338 26,448
Reserves (Note) 2,658,262 1,604,229
Total equity 2,686,600 1,680,677
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 6,397,785 3,755,017
9,084,385 5,385,694
Note:
Reserves of the Company
Share
Share option Translation Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
At 1st January, 2020 1,644,649 13,981 220,143 (883,274) 995,499
Profit for the year - - - 577,290 577,290
Other comprehensive income for the year - - 216,579 - 216,579
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 216,579 577,290 793,869
Dividends paid in cash (note 13) - - - (185,139) (185,139)
At 31st December, 2020 1,644,649 13,981 436,722 (491,123) 1,604,229
Profit for the year - - - 123,754 123,754
Other comprehensive income for the year - - 116,096 - 116,096
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 116,096 123,754 239,850
Dividends paid in cash (note 13) - - - (270,174) (270,174)
Placement of shares (note 34) 1,088,520 - - - 1,088,520
Transaction costs attributable to placement of shares (9,621) - - - (9,621)
Exercise of share options (note 36) 6,248 (790) - - 5,458
Forfeit of Share options (note 36) - () - 5 -
Lapse of Share options (note 36) - (159) - 159 -
At 31st December, 2021 2,729,796 13,027 552,818 (637,379) 2,658,262
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

=i
For the year ended 31st December,
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
HK$’°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(note) (note) (note)
Turnover 11,344,500 8,543,710 8,143,771 7,627,088 5,048,100
Profit for the year attributable to
Owners of the Company 1,188,997 1,056,617 430,121 620,684 557,959
Non-controlling interests 73,646 56,620 53,5628 93,671 33,637
1,262,643 1,113,237 483,649 714,355 591,596
As at 31st December,
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(note) (note) (note)
Assets and liabilities
Total assets 26,672,864 23,634,423 20,289,099 16,281,354 11,800,731
Total liabilities (17,155,866) (16,903,073) (14,853,026) (11,761,185) (8,077,514)
9,516,998 6,731,350 5,436,073 4,520,169 3,723,217
Equity attributable to
Owners of the Company 8,658,997 6,016,039 4,775,369 3,938,519 3,173,952
Non-controlling interests 858,001 715,311 660,704 581,650 549,265
9,516,998 6,731,350 5,436,073 4,520,169 3,723,217

note:  For the year ended 31st December, 2018, the Group had applied HKFRS 15, HKFRS 9 and other amendments to HKFRSs and for
the year ended 31st December, 2019, the Group had applied HKFRS 16 and other amendments to HKFRSs. Accordingly, certain
comparative information for the years ended 31st December, 2017 may not be comparable to the years ended 31st December,
2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021 as such comparative information was prepared under HKAS 18, HKAS 11, HKAS 39 and HKAS 17.
Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 15, HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16 are disclosed in the “Significant Accounting
Policies” section.

190  ZHONGYU ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2021



TEATE STHET
BUILT TO LAST

HEF7N=1H
iﬁﬁtl i
ZHONGYU ENERGY

RRASHEEMMIIZERAR
INCORPORATED IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS WITH LIMITED LIABILITY

www.zhongyuenergy.com



	COVER
	CONTENTS
	FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
	CEO MESSAGE
	OPERATIONAL STATISTICS
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
	BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	DIRECTORS’ REPORT
	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	FINANCIAL SUMMARY
	BACK COVER



